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INTRODUCTION FROM THE CHAIR AND ACCOUNT ABLE OFFICER
Welcome to the Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 for NHS Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), which demonstrates our continued progress in realising our
vision of ‘supporting people in Dorset to lead healthier lives'.
On 20 September 2017 the Governing Body agreed changes to local healthcare to help
ensure high quality and sustainable services are available for future generations. The
options considered were subject to a public consultation between December 2016 and
February 2017 which saw over 18,500 people give their views. More information on how we
involve patients and the public in shaping services can be found on page 43.
The Dorset system partners of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (Borough of
Poole, Bournemouth Borough Council, Dorset County Council, Dorset County Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust, Dorset HealthCare University Hospitals Foundation Trust, Poole Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust, South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, The
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Dorset CCG)
applied to be an Integrated Care System (formerly called Accountable Care System (ACS))
in June 2017 and were selected as one of the eight successful applicants for wave 1 status
on 19 June 2017. More information can be found on page 4.
On a personal note, and recognising that it has again been another busy year for all
providers of services, we would like to take this opportunity to thank all those people working
both for us, and with us, for their continued dedication and support over the last twelve
months.
We would also like to thank our 86 GP practices who constitute the membership of our
organisation for their continued support.
As with everything we do, your voice is vital and we actively encourage you to get involved.
By joining our Health Involvement Network, you can keep up to date, get more involved with
our work and have your say on future developments in the health community. More
information on this can be found on our website www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk or at the end of this
report.
Thank you for reading our report - we hope you find it informative and interesting.

Dr Forbes Watson
Chair

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
Over the last twelve months we have seen many achievements but also faced some
challenges. This section of the report provides you with an overview of our Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG), its main objectives, strategy, performance and principal risks
in-year.
OVERVIEW
ABOUT US
We are a clinically led organisation made up of 86 GP practices who took over the
responsibility for commissioning health services on 1 April 2013.
This means that we are responsible for discharging a range of duties on behalf of patients in
line with the NHS Act 2006. We confirmed we have discharged our duties and complied with
the statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), as
required by the CCG’s Assurance Framework, including:
•
•
•

reducing health inequalities;
improving the quality of services we commission;
involving patients and the public in shaping health services.

In doing this we ensure we act effectively, efficiently and economically by delegating
responsibility for making decisions to our Governing Body. Our Audit and Quality Committee
monitors the controls in place to ensure we provide value for money.
OUR CONSTITUTION
A formal document, called a Constitution, sets out the arrangements the CCG has made to
ensure it meets its responsibilities for commissioning high quality services for the people of
Dorset.
It describes the governing principles, rules and procedures which will ensure integrity,
honesty and accountability. Also, it commits the CCG to taking decisions in an open and
transparent way and places the interests of patients and public at its heart.
We last refreshed our Constitution during 2015/16 to reflect the commissioning
responsibilities for the delegated commissioning of primary care.
Our Constitution can be downloaded from our website.
THE POPULATION WE SERVE
By 2023, the population of Dorset will have increased from around 750,000 to over 800,000,
with much of the growth happening among older people. Increased longevity brings new
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challenges to health and care systems, because as we grow older more of us develop longterm conditions such as diabetes and dementia.
People in Dorset generally live healthier and longer lives compared to the average for
England, but this is not evenly spread across our population – the data reveals unacceptable
inequalities between different groups. We must reduce the gap between the health of the
poorest and richest. There is a particularly wide health gap for men living in Bournemouth,
where those living in more prosperous areas can expect to live for 11 years longer than
those living in the most deprived areas. Whilst there has been no change in the numbers of
people who die early from heart disease in Poole and rural Dorset in the last five years, there
has been a rise in Bournemouth and this is at a time when numbers are falling nationally.
We think this variation is unacceptable. We are addressing this variation through our key
work programmes of prevention at scale and RightCare, further detail can also be found in
our Operating Plan.
Many factors play a part in creating this gap. The prosperity of an area is one factor. Lifestyle
factors are another big reason why people may have more ill health. Based on current
trends, obesity will become an even more widespread problem by 2020, by which time we
think one in ten local people could have diabetes and one in eight could have heart disease.
There is a difference of up to 20 years in the life expectancy of people with mental health
problems. We want everyone in Dorset to receive the same high quality of care, regardless
of where they live, what health condition they have, or any other personal characteristic. We
also know that people who act as carers are at high risk of experiencing worse health
outcomes, having their employment or education disrupted and becoming socially isolated,
which in turn impacts on their role as a carer.
Further information on health profile indicators for 2017 can be found on Public Health
England website.
OUR PROVIDERS
We commission (buy) services from a range of providers including:











Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust;
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust;
Yeovil District Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust;
General Practices;
Third sector – which are non-governmental and non-profit-making organisations or
associations, including charities and voluntary agencies;
 Independent sector care homes and hospitals.
OUR HEADQUARTERS
Our headquarters are based at Vespasian House, Dorchester with additional office
accommodation at Canford House, Poole.
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HOW WE WORK
Our member practices are at the heart of our communities and in a good position to
understand the needs of their populations. Each of our 13 localities is represented by a GP
Locality Lead who is a member of the Governing Body.
Our member practices can influence and inform decisions and provide feedback, so that we
do not lose the local focus amongst the national and wider Dorset priorities. It also enables
us to ensure the voice of patients and public can inform and influence decisions by feeding
into their practice, the local Health Involvement Networks and the Patient Participation
Groups operating at each GP practice.
We are one of a number of CCGs who have internal commissioning support services with
five directorates each of which is led by an Executive Director who is accountable to the
Accountable Officer, Tim Goodson.
The Directorates are led by:






Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer;
Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality (retired 31 March 2017);
Dr Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer;
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development;
Sally Sandcraft, Acting Director of Primary and Community Care (from 15 January 2018).

‘OUR DORSET’ – SUSTAINABILITY AND TRANSFORMATION PLAN
As described in last year’s Annual Report and Accounts we have continued to develop our
Dorset Sustainability and Transformation Plan.
The three programmes of work identified are being accelerated to enable us to realise our
vision for health and care in Dorset over the next five years. Each programme contributes
individually and collectively to close the gaps we have identified as health and wellbeing,
care and quality, and finance and efficiency, to produce a truly integrated system that
meets the needs of all our population. Our programmes are:
 Prevention at Scale programme will help people to stay healthy and avoid getting
unwell, see page 18;
 Integrated Community and Primary Care Services programme will support individuals
who are unwell, by providing high quality care at home and in community settings, see
page 20;
 One Acute Network programme will help those who need the most specialist health and
care support, through a single acute care system across the whole county, see page 20.
To realise these ambitions, we have two fundamental enabling programmes:
 Our Leading and Working Differently programme focuses on giving the health and care
workforce the skills and expertise needed to deliver new models of care in an integrated
health and care system, see page 30;
 Our Digitally-Enabled Dorset programme will harness the power of technology and
support digital innovation across the health and care system, to support new approaches
to service delivery, see page 30.
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INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM
‘Next Steps of the Five Year Forward View’ (NHS England, March 2017) sets out plans for
the transition of the NHS towards population-based integrated health systems. It also
confirms that this will be achieved by the evolution of Sustainability and Transformation
Partnerships (STPs) into ‘accountable care models’. We applied to be an accountable care
system and were given first wave status on 19 June 2017. This is now called an Integrated
Care System which consists of different organisations whose decision making processes
have been voluntarily aligned.
The Dorset Integrated Care System (ICS) comprises of all the NHS organisations and upper
tier local authorities in Dorset:










Borough of Poole;
Bournemouth Borough Council;
Dorset County Council;
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust;
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group;
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust;
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust;
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.

An ICS brings partners closer together, taking further responsibility for finances in return for
greater flexibility in delivering NHS services. ICSs are in shadow form and due to go into
operation during 2018/19 financial year.
We will continue to develop and evolve our ICS through understanding where we are now,
and the steps we need to take to ensure we are a high performing system with a focus on:
 evolving governance structures;
 organisational development and cultural change;
 new ways of working including development of procurement and contractual models and
back office functions.
In becoming an ICS, we have committed to making rapid progress in the following areas:







urgent and emergency care (see page 31);
primary care (see page 28);
cancer (see page 22);
mental health (see page 25);
maternity (see page 27);
diabetes (see page 24).

We will also be working to implement the outcomes of Dorset CCG’s Clinical Services
Review, including integrated community hubs (page 20), and acute reconfiguration (page 20)
which are set out in the later sections of this report.
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
REVIEW OF 2017/18: STATEMENT FROM THE ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER ON
PERFORMANCE
The following section provides the view of our Accountable Officer, Tim Goodson and a
summary of our performance during 2017/18.
We have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative working, acting
as one integrated health and care system. This has enabled us to work together to develop
‘Our Dorset’ Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) (page 3) and puts us in a good
position to deliver it.
The main positives that have arisen for the CCG in 2017/18 are:
 decision made by the Governing Body on 20 September 2017 to approve the proposals
and amendments following public consultation on the clinical services review and mental
health acute care pathway;
 NHS England confirmed that Dorset system partners of the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan would be an Integrated Care System (ICS) for wave 1 ICS status on
19 June 2017, and we are working in shadow form.
There have also been a number of challenges including:
 a financially challenging year;
 determining a decision around the Clinical Services Review;
 delivering transformation of services whilst ensuring impact on current services is
minimised.
Its been a demanding year for our providers in Dorset who have faced both financial and
workforce challenges. We recognise that with these challenges facing the health and care
system we will need to proactively engage and communicate with all our stakeholders and
members as they endeavour to work with the difficult decisions the CCG has to make over
the coming years.
We have faced demands on services, in particular A&E, cancer waits and referral to
treatment targets and have worked closely with our providers and local authorities to
manage the system-wide challenges.
We were assessed against the Improvement and Assessment Framework in 2017/18 and
were given the overall rating of ‘green’ for the following domains:
 better health;
 better care;
 sustainability;
 leadership.
We have published more information against these indicators on our website. Comparison
against other clinical commissioning groups can be found on MyNHS website.
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WORKING WITH PARTNERS AND INTEGRATION
We already have a successful track record and strong commitment to collaborative working
across our health and care organisations, so that we act as one integrated health and care
system. The last few years have seen increasingly effective partnership working between
our GPs and primary care teams, the three local district general hospitals, our community
and mental health provider, the ambulance service, Dorset’s three local authorities, patient
representatives and many others. This has been further enhanced this year by our joint
collaborative work programmes (see page 21) and working with our partners towards
becoming an integrated care system (see page 4).
PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
We have developed a Governing Body Assurance Framework to ensure that there is a
streamlined approach to assurance enabling the Governing Body and delegated committees
to focus only on the strategic risks of the organisation. For assurance see the full
governance statement on pages 61 to 74.
This is supported by the Corporate Risk Register (see page 62) which documents all
strategic and operational risks of the organisation. The Corporate Risk Register and
Governing Body Assurance Framework are reported regularly to the Governing Body, Audit
and Quality Committee, Quality Group and the Directors’ performance meeting.
We will face an increasingly challenging year in 2018/19 as the NHS continues to operate
within a tight financial framework during a period of change and movement towards greater
integration with social care.
We are committed to minimising risks to which we are exposed, strategically and
corporately. The overriding aim is to reduce the potential for loss of services due to adverse
events, financial management or performance and quality management of commissioned
services that could ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG serves.
Our risks and uncertainties should be viewed against a back drop of a rising number of older
people in the local population, health inequalities and a significant number of people living
with long term conditions. Key risks identified are:
 ineffective partnership working resulting in ineffective integration of services;
 failure to deliver financial control totals linked to NHS providers’ sustainability – impacting
on service delivery and implementation of service changes;
 diminished cash reserves impacts on ability to pay core functions on time;
 impact on NHS providers, particularly secondary care in transferring money to the Better
Care Fund, and diverting from front line NHS services;
 increase in secondary care referrals;
 public, patient, stakeholder challenge and judicial review;
 urgent care/A&E pressures impacting on system sustainability, discharge and patient
care.
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FUTURE PLANS
During 2018/19 we will be focusing on the national Five Year Forward View standards and
also our local corporate objectives 2017/18 to 2018/19 which are:
 Clinical Services Review acute reconfiguration - decision and implementation.
Governing Body decision made in September 2017 (based on current plan) through the
production of Governing Body approved Clinical Services Review implementation plan;
 Clinical Services Review integrated community and primary care services - decision
and implementation. Governing Body decision made in September 2017 (based on
current plan) through the production of Governing Body approved Clinical Services
Review implementation plan;
 Mental Health Acute Care Pathway - decision and implementation. Governing Body
decision made in September 2017 (based on current plan) through the production of
Governing Body approved Clinical Services Review implementation plan;
 Primary Care Commissioning Strategy – progress years 1 and 2 of the GP Five Year
Forward View with a focus on co-production of local plans (blueprints) to improve health
in partnership with local communities, health, social and voluntary organisations,
implementation of local transformation programme so that populations are receiving GP
services from practices who are part of a collaboration, working at scale and Phase 1
implementation of the estates and technologies transformation plan. Commence
planning to provide additional consultations capacity per 1,000 population including online
consultations;
 system structures: delivery of the CCG/commissioning strategic remit including
developing CCG strategy which includes a refresh and update of Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP), operational, delivery and transformation plans and timeline,
ensuring portfolio/programme systems are in place and operational with supporting
system structures;
 financial sustainability: to ensure continued system financial sustainability through
regularly reporting financial position of Dorset CCG and provider Foundation Trusts,
monitoring the achievement of cost improvement and quality improvement plans and the
cash flows of CCG and Dorset providers;
 Digital Dorset: ensure the delivery of the Digital Care Record in line with the STP,
encompassing an approved digital strategy, GP estate transformation, collaboration
platforms, virtual reality deployments for dementia diagnosis and anxiety management,
and engagement online systems for primary care;
 leading and working differently: following endorsement of the "leading and working
differently" strategy, work collaboratively with all system partners to deliver the agreed
implementation plan addressing; development of our leaders, recruitment and retention of
our staff, developing our staff, and supporting staff through change. Seek system level
deployment;
 prevention at system wide level: accelerating the delivery of the prevention at scale
tier using digital innovation with a focus on activity, school engagement and behaviour
change for a healthier lifestyle;
 continuing healthcare (CHC): Maintain good performance of the CHC team and
processes by ensuring; high quality assessments of people who may be eligible for CHC
funding and high quality care provided for patients in receipt of CHC. Patients are offered
personal health budgets and these are applied appropriately. Ensure effective
management of budget and quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP). Work
collaboratively with the local authorities to maximise benefits of integration. Ensure all
previously unassessed periods of care (PUPOC) cases are dealt with appropriately within
required timescale. Reduce complaints and increase patient satisfaction.
 patient and public engagement: Enhance patient and public engagement. Supporting
the post-CSR consultation phase with a continuing programme of system and locality
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based engagement; providing design and implementation expertise that initiate an STP
level public and patient engagement approach based on principles endorsed by System
Leadership Team; working with primary care locality teams to deploy practice based
Patient and Public Group coordination; continue to create innovative communications and
social media approaches to enhance public engagement.
Details of our priorities for 2018/19 can be seen in the Integrated Care System Operational
Plan 2018/19 which can be found on our website.
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY
The following section of the Performance Overview provides information on our key
achievements during 2017/18 and how we have met our statutory duties.
NHS CONSTITUTION STANDARDS
Our performance against the NHS Constitution standards and Quality Premiums are set out
in the following section. The red/amber/green rating assessment indicated in the below
shows our performance in relation to NHS Constitution standards for the year ending
2017/18.
Table 1: NHS Constitution Standards

NHS Constitution
CCG based indicators

Operational
standard
Referral to Treatment waiting times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment
Patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment)
92%
waiting no more than 18 weeks from referral
Number of patients waiting more than 52 weeks on incomplete pathways
0

2017/18
performance

89.7%
15

Percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key
tests)

1%

3%

A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours
or less in A&E from arrival to transfer, admission or discharge

95%

93.9%

Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred
urgently for suspected cancer by a GP
Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred
urgently with breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected)

93%

96.3%

93%

95.9%

Maximum 31-day wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatments for all
cancers
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is
surgery
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is an
anti-cancer drug regimen
Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a
course of radiotherapy

96%

98.1%

94%

97.7%

98%

100.0%

94%

98.0%

Maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for
cancer
Maximum 62-day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first
definitive treatment for all cancers

85%

85.2%

90%

95.8%

50% of people experiencing a first episode of psychosis will commence
treatment with a NICE approved care package within two weeks of referral
75% of people with common mental health conditions referred to the Improved
Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) programme will be treated within six

50%

78.0%

75%

80.7%
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weeks of referral
66.7% of dementia diagnosis of the estimated number of people with
dementia.
Provider based indicators

66.7%

61.8%

Operational
2017/18
standard
performance
A&E waits – Percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from arrival to transfer,
admission or discharge
The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
95%
92.7%
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
95%
91.0%
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
95%
97.6%
NHS 111 service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Calls answered in 60 seconds
95%
85.2%

Although some standards were not achieved in 2017/18 we continued to make progress
against them through regular meetings with providers. Some further details are provided
below:
 patients on incomplete non-emergency pathways (yet to start treatment) waiting no
more than 18 weeks from referral: In 2017/18 the CCG achieved 89.7% against a target
of 92%. Whilst this is under target we have seen a significant improvement in
performance in the final few months of the year. Throughout the year, pathway changes
to the Musculoskeletal Service have had a detrimental impact to the CCG performance.
An increased focus on the number of patients on the total waiting list is in place for
2018/19 where the number of patients on the waiting list must reduce over the year. Our
local providers reported two patients waiting in excess of 52 weeks for treatment
throughout the year. Fifteen breaches of this standard have been allocated to Dorset
CCG in 2017/18 at various specialist and independent sector providers nationally. Dorset
CCG continues to work will all providers to manage waiting times as best as possible in a
very challenging environment;
 percentage of patients waiting 6 weeks or more for a diagnostic test (15 key tests):
during 2017/18 we noted an increase in the number of diagnostic waits waiting in excess
of 6 weeks. Significantly one Trust reported a number of tests with breaches of the 6
week standard across a number of modalities. The position throughout 2017/18 showed
that on average 3% of patients waited more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test. We
continue to work in collaboration with our providers to improve on this position further;
 percentage of A&E attendances where the patient spent 4 hours or less in A&E from
arrival to transfer, admission or discharge: demand for services in the context of people
presenting at the Emergency Department (ED) remained high throughout the financial
year, this was compounded by the increasing levels of complexity, adverse weather
events, and high levels of influenza and norovirus especially during the final quarter of the
year. This created additional pressures on front line services. Dorset County Hospital
managed to achieve the 95% standard consistently across the year however assessed as
a Dorset System the Emergency Departments did not achieve the ED 4 hour standard in
2017/18. Compliance for the year stood at 93.9%, well within the top quartile
performance nationally. A number of new initiatives were introduced during the course of
the year with aim of alleviating system pressure including This was aided by the
introduction of initiatives including the GP streaming of patients presenting to ED, and
developing improved access to GP services so that 50% of the local population had
access to extended GP hours by March 2018. Work also commenced on the introduction
of Urgent Treatment Centres (UTC) to replace and improve the existing offer for
management of urgent care needs. Two local sites were confirmed as wave 1 Urgent
Treatment Centres within the national rollout with plans in progress to develop further
sites across the county of Dorset. This is also alleviating the pressure on ED by providing
clear and effective alternative pathways to ED. All schemes continue to be developed and
refined to ensure maximum benefit realisation;
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 maximum 62-day wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for
cancer: This standard was achieved throughout 2017/18. We continue to work
exceptionally hard alongside NHS England and NHS Elect to deliver performance on this
standard. We are addressing challenges on complex patient pathways through working
as one cancer service for Dorset in a bid to resolve issues collaboratively. This approach
is supported by the Wessex Cancer Alliance and facilitated by the Dorset Cancer
Partnership (DCP) who hold the remit of delivering the STP for Dorset cancer
transformation. Dorset has successfully been awarded NHS England funding for delivery
of the 62 day standard which has been used to increase diagnostic services, capacity in
clinics and staff training thus increasing our overall system resilience to deliver the
standard.
 mental health – improved rates of dementia diagnosis (66.7% by March 2018) The
Dementia Services Review commenced in the summer 2016 and a view seeking report
and needs and data analysis report published, work on the design phase has
commenced. Plan to recommend model options for future Dementia Services to the
Dorset CCG in April 2018. Dementia diagnosis rates have remained consistent
throughout 2017/18 although lower than the national performance standard;
 improving access to psychological therapies – access and recovery targets are
currently being met;
 999 emergency ambulance service: South Western Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust (SWASFT): Dorset CCG assumed responsibility for the regional
coordinating commissioner for the SWASFT 999 contract on the 1st April 2017. As part of
this role, work was completed to refresh the governance arrangements with greater
emphasis placed on the role of the Ambulance Strategic Partnership Board (SPB) which
consists of membership from the 12 CCGs and 7 STPs across the south west region. The
prime purpose of the board is now to lead on the future direction of travel for transforming
the Ambulance service for each of the CCGs/STPs respective populations. Dorset has
also been linked into the National Ambulance Commissioning Network (NACN) and
involved in the new Commissioning Development work stream, which forms part of the
National Ambulance Improvement Programme. Central to this has been the
implementation of the Ambulance Response Programme (ARP) standards. Work has
been progressing across the region to produce an action plan to enable SWASFT to
achieve the ARP standards. Within Dorset CCG, a Dorset Ambulance transformation
project was initiated with primary objectives to reduce ambulance handover delays and
develop innovative solutions to current challenges. A key element of this has been to
develop a Mobile Urgent Treatment Response pathway that improves connectivity to the
wider health and social care system, offering alternative pathways and securing direct
referral protocols. Phase one of this project has now commenced.
 NHS 111 service: The service specification for Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) was
published by NHS England in August 2017 with a mandate for the revised specification to
be fully implemented by April 2019. Throughout the year the CCG has continued to
progress the procurement of this service with the programme on track to achieve the
mandated timeframes for implementation.
 South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust: Alongside the
procurement programme, a gap analysis of current provision versus the new specification
standards was undertaken by Dorset CCG and SWASFT and this enabled the production
of an overarching IUC development plan in respect of NHS 111, Out of Hours Service
and Single Point of Access with a view to facilitating improved integration of existing
provision in the period leading up to the commencement of the new IUC service in April
2019. This specifically entailed the development of a clinical hub which successfully
resulted in achievement of a key standard whereby 50% of all calls to NHS111 receive
clinical input.
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QUALITY PREMIUMS
The quality premium is intended to recognise the CCG for improvements in the quality of the
services that we commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and
reducing inequalities. The table below provides an assessment against the NHS Constitution
performance standards for period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 as outlined in the Quality
Premium National guidance.
Table 2: NHS Constitution requirement for patient rights and pledges

NHS Constitution requirement for the following patient rights and
pledges
92% of Patients should wait no more than 18 weeks from referral to consultantled treatment
95% of Patients should be admitted, transferred or discharged within four
hours of their arrival at an A&E department
85% of Patients should have a maximum wait of 62 days from urgent GP
referral for suspected cancer to first treatment
75% 8 minute response for Cat A (RED 1) ambulance calls

Proportion
of QP

Expected
Rating

33.3%

89.7%

33.3%

93.9%

33.3%

85.2%

0.0%

Expected Adjustment (based on Forecast Rating)

Not
Assessed
66.6%

Table 3: Quality premium

Measure

Measure Definition

Cancer: New cases
of Cancers
diagnosed at an
early stage.

This is a two-part Quality Premium. CCGs will need to either:
1. Demonstrate a 4 percentage point improvement in the proportion of
cancers (specific cancer sites, morphologies and behaviour*)
diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 in the 2016 calendar year compared to
the 2017 calendar year.
Or
2. Achieve greater than 60% of all cancers (specific cancer sites,
morphologies and behaviour*) diagnosed at stages 1 and 2 in the
2017 calendar year.
To earn this portion of the quality premium, CCGs will need to
demonstrate in the July 2018 publication, either:
- Achieve a level of 85% of respondents who said they had a good
experience of making an appointment, or;
- A 3 percentage point increase from July 2017 publication on the
percentage of respondents who said they had a good experience of
making an appointment.
This is a two part indicator:
Part a) worth 50%: To achieve the Quality Premium for this part,
CCGs must ensure that in more than 80% of cases with a positive
NHS CHC Checklist, the NHS CHC eligibility decision is made by the
CCG within 28 days from
receipt of the Checklist (or other notification of potential eligibility)
Part b) worth 50%: To achieve the Quality Premium for this part,
CCGs must ensure that less than 15% of all full NHS CHC
assessments take place in an acute hospital setting.
This Quality Premium measure consists of three discrete indicators,
the CCG chose Out of area placements (OAPs) as the indicator most
pertinent to the CCG
Out of area placements (OAPs), reduce the number of Out of Area
Placements based on the March 2017 baseline
Reducing Gram Negative Bloodstream Infections (GNBSIs) and
inappropriate antibiotic prescribing in at risk groups.
This Quality Premium measure consists of three parts:
Part a) reducing gram negative blood stream infections (BSI) across
the whole health economy
Part b) reduction of inappropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary tract
infections (UTI) in primary care.

GP Patient Survey:
Overall experience
of making a GP
appointment.

Continuing
Healthcare

Mental Health

Bloodstream
Infections

Expected
Rating
Latest
nationally
published data
Q1 2016
57.2%
Not achieved

Latest July 17
Publication
Collected
Jan – Mar 17
81.7%

Expected to
achieve Part
B. Part A is
not expected
to be
achieved.

Potential to
achieve this
standard.

Expected to
achieve most
parts in this
area.
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Part c) sustained reduction of inappropriate prescribing in primary
care.

Local priority
quality premium
AEC – Ambulatory
Care

Increase the proportion of patients seen on the Ambulatory
Emergency Care Pathway over the 2016/17 baseline.

Expected to
achieve this
indicator

Although the payment of the Quality Premium for 2017/18 has not been agreed the CCG is
expecting to underachieve in a number of areas across NHS Constitution and National
Quality Premium Measures. Some further details are provided below:






New cases of Cancers diagnosed at an early stage: The most recent data available
nationally is from quarter one in 20176 when the CCG reported performance significant
higher than the National average. This indicated that 57.2% of patients were diagnosed
early at stages 1 and 2. It is therefore possible for the CCG to achieve the quality
premium in 2016 however in the absence of national data this remains difficult to
assess. In 2018 local data is now being reported across Dorset helping us to
understand the most recent performance;
GP Patient Survey: Overall experience of making a GP appointment: We are aware
that primary care is not achieving the 85% target. The next set of results will be
published July 2018. The Primary Care Team is currently working on Improving Access
to GP Services (IAGPS) as part of the GP Forward View delivery plan. It is the Dorset
CCG ambition to achieve full population coverage for IAGPS, as part of an integrated
access model that includes both IUCATS and IAGPS, by 1 April 2019. An 18-month
proof of concept IAGPS phase is underway with local Foundation Trusts and Dorset
Community Healthcare working in close collaboration and integration with GP practices
and localities. Planning trajectories are currently under development to reflect population
need, activity and costing. Coverage reached the target 50% of the population by 31
March 2018, and will now progress to 100% of the population by October 2018;
Continuing Health Care: The Quality Premium relating to NHS Funded Continuing
Healthcare has 2 elements, undertaking no more than 15% of assessments in the acute
hospital, and making a decision on eligibility within 28 days of receipt of application in
80% of applications. Although the first measure is within target, work is being
undertaken on how to best place the CCG to achieve the 28 day target for 2018-19.
CHC is reporting a backlog of cases that is negatively impacting on this target, and a
paper has been presented to directors with an action plan and trajectory of how to bring
the CCG back into a position to achieve this target for next financial year. Work is being
undertaken with colleagues from the local authorities to ensure only appropriate
checklists are submitted (currently 92% of positive checklists end in a patient found not
eligible for CHC) and so ensuring that resources are focussed on assessing those
patients likely to meet the criteria, thus ensuring compliance with the 28 day target.

The total amount of award available to Dorset was £4m, however this is subject to a number
of adjustments. The first adjustment reflects the performance against NHS Constitution
Standards and the second adjustment takes into account performance against national and
local quality standards.
The adjustment for non-delivery of the NHS Constitution Standards totals 66.6%. This
adjustment reduces the maximum award available to £1.3m. The adjustment for nondelivery of the national and local quality premium standards is expected to be in the range of
55% and 65% and this further reduces the award available. The anticipated award ranges
therefore between £466,000 and £599,000.
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FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
The CCG achieved its financial duties for 2017/18 including break-even on income and
expenditure in year after:
 delivering a mandated set-aside of £5.138m as contribution to a central ‘risk reserve’.
This supports the national NHS position and is retained by NHS England on the CCG’s
behalf;
 having £1.236m expected rebate on category M (generic) drugs held back by NHS
England in year (in line with national policy and all other CCGs) and rebated at the end of
March 2018;
 underspending on its running cost allowance of £17.0m by £1.0m;
 rolling forward a surplus of £28.8m from the previous financial year, of which £1.6m was
drawn down and spent in year.
This was delivered against the revenue resource limit of £1,192.1 million which includes the
running cost allowance of £16.8 million.
There have been a number of challenges for the CCG in the 2017/18 financial year,
including:
 an overspend on prescribing of £3.7m, primarily due to high prices leading from central
classification of specific drugs as ‘no cheaper stock obtainable’. The CCG has no option
other than to pay the prices set;
 activity over-performance leading to overspends with contracted non-Dorset NHS
providers of £1.3m;
 an overspend on Continuing Health Care of £1.5m;
 continued upward trend on expenditure on after-care under section 117 of the Mental
Health Act 1983 leading to an overspend of £0.6m.
Table 4: Summary of 2017/18 revenue performance (£m)

Programme
£’000
Revenue Resource Limit
Underspend against Revenue Resource Limit
0.5% mandated System Risk Reserve (additional
underspend)
Category M prescribing rebate as directed by
Total percentage under spend

2017/18
Running
costs
£’000

Total
£’000

1,175,071
26,228
5,138

16,989
983
-

1,192,060
27,211
5,138

1,236
2.8%

5.8%

1,236
2.8%

The financial position leaves the CCG with £33.6m cumulative surplus available for nonrecurrent use in future years. This can only be released by agreement with NHS England as
part of an agreed plan.
2017/18 was the first year of the two-year Dorset Health System Collaborative Agreement
between the CCG and its Sustainability and Transformation Partnership providers. Through
this agreement, commissioner and providers agreed to work together within an aggregate of
organisational target surpluses and deficits, working together to support each other as
issues arose.
The contract values for provision of services for 2017/18 were based on the forecast out-turn
for 2016/17 with no uplift and therefore assumed that the providers would be able to make
gains in economy and efficiency to meet rising costs and any growth in activity, although it
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should be noted that a fundamental part of the agreement was to work together on
managing demand to reduce or reverse the trend in increasing activity.
In recognising the joint responsibility for managing demand, the Dorset health system has
seen a 5% reduction in GP Referrals and reductions in elective care in both inpatients and
outpatients. Dorset has not been quite as successful in reducing demand for unplanned
care with increases in inpatient activity of 1% and emergency department of 2%, so these
areas continue to be a point of focus for the system.
However, despite increases in unplanned activity, the current expectation is that
Collaborative partners will meet and exceed the aggregate financial position targeted in year.
On aggregate the providers will out-perform their targeted position with a forecast deficit of
£6.7m against a plan of £10.4m.
Figure 1: Analysis of net operating costs 2017/18

FUTURE FINANCIAL OUTLOOK
FINANCE AND ACTIVITY
In 2016 Dorset set its Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP), which set out the
challenges that Dorset faces over the next 5 years, including managing the projected
financial gap of £229m if we continued to operate the way we always had.
The ICS comes with increased focus on achievement of an aggregate financial position
across health partners and freedom to flex organisational targets to attain the system agreed
plan overall.
As part of the original two-year Collaborative agreement, Dorset providers had agreed to a
1% uplift to their contracts equalling £6.5m. Following joint consideration of likely financial
performance of all partners in year, the CCG has agreed to increase its in-year financial
performance by £2.8m with this being used to support a more realistic achievement of
provider CIP targets at 4%, which would otherwise have been in excess of this. The CCG
revised target is therefore a surplus of £1.2m from an opening agreed deficit of £1.6m.
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CCG FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 2017/18 TO 2018/19
The CCG’s initial funding allocations for 2018/19 compared with initial allocations for
2017/18 are set out in Table 5.
Table 5: CCG initial funding allocations 2018/19 compared with 2017/18

Description
CCG programme recurrent baseline allocations
Primary care delegated recurrent baseline allocations
Total programme recurrent baseline
Other non-recurrent allocations
Total programme baseline
Running cost allowance
Resource allocations (excluding draw-down)

2017/18
£'000

Movement
£’000

Movement
%

1,027,407

1,053,422

26,015

2.5

103,327

105,357

2,030

2.0

1,132,314

1,158,779

28,045

2.5

12,100

6,691

(5,409)

(4.5)

1,142,834

1,165,470

22,636

2.0

16,838

16,772

(66)

0.4

1,159,672

1,182,242

22,570

1.9

1,594

0

(1,594)

(100)

1,161,266

1,182,242

20,976

1.8

Agreed draw-down of surplus
TOTAL ALLOCATIONS

2018/19
£'000

PLANNED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2018/19
The CCG has a detailed plan in place to meets is targeted surplus in-year of £1.2m. This
includes a 0.5% local contingency set aside to deal with pressures arising in year.
In addition, we are planning to fully meet other policy requirements including supporting
additional investment on the Mental Health Investment Standard, Better Care Fund and
Ambulance Services, however it is not our intention to invest in increasing acute activity and
we will be working with partners to continue to progress reducing demand, through targeting
variation.
Delivery of a further surplus will add to the existing Dorset CCG financial surplus held by
NHS England and only available for draw down by prior agreement. Table 6 summarises our
brought forward surplus position and our planned end of year position with a forecast
amount held on our behalf at 31 March 2019 of £34.8m
Table 6: Planned surplus position at 31 March 2019

Cumulative Surplus and Headroom (no draw-down agreed)
Return of 2017/18 cumulative surplus
2016/17 1% Headroom delivered
2017/18 0.5% Headroom delivered
2017/18 category M drugs
Total funding held and use to be agreed with NHS England (brought forward at
1 April 2018)
2018/19 surplus required
Total funding lodged with NHS England anticipated at 31 March 2019 (unless
draw-down agreed)

£’000
16,104
11,107
5,138
1,236
33,585
1,234
34,819

Figure 2 shows how the CCG plans to spend its £1.18 billion in the year by expenditure
sector.
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Figure 2: Plan for expenditure 2018/19

DORSET HEALTH SYSTEM COLLABORATIVE
As mentioned above, in 2017/18 the Dorset health organisations put in place a collaborative
agreement designed to provide an environment of mutual support, collaboration and trust to
underpin the system delivery plans identified as part of our Sustainability and Transformation
Plans and equally in relation to our Clinical Services Review.
This agreement also has an underpinning principle of collective management of risk which is
now further enhanced by the Dorset move towards an Integrated Care System (ICS), which
is supported nationally by NHS Improvement and NHS England, including moving the
individual organisations to a system control total approach, which for 2018/19 is set at an inyear £3.9m deficit.
In recognising this change the Operations and Finance Reference Group, representing all
STP partners, who were set up to oversee delivery of the collaborative agreement will now
also become the focal point of holding each other to account for delivery, which is equally
supported by a system Finance Investment Group for decision-making related to ICS
business cases in delivery of our collective ambitions, which also involves our local authority
partners and has an independent lay chair.
2018/19 will continue to be a challenging year with an ambitious programme of delivery in
holding activity flat against a historical backdrop of activity growth, whilst still ensuring
delivery of good quality clinical services and achievement of performance as outlined in the
recent NHS refresh planning guidance, as well as improving the financial performance of the
system as a whole by delivering on its agreed targets.
In addition to the programme of work next year, delivery of transformational solutions is also
required over the next 1-5 years linked not only to the clinical services review but the
national ambitions set out in the five year forward view, which requires all partners to
continue to work together to be able to achieve these ambitions as individual organisations
alone will not deliver them.
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BETTER CARE FUND
The 2017/18 Better Care Fund (BCF) was agreed by the Dorset and the Bournemouth &
Poole Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) in September 2017 in line with the national
timetable.
The Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) joined together funding streams announced by the
government in the 2015 Spending Review and the 2017 Spring Budget and was required to
be included within the BCF for one or all of the following purposes:
 meeting adult social care needs;
 reducing pressures on the NHS, including supporting more people to be discharged from
hospital when they are ready;
 ensuring that the local social care provider market is supported.
In Dorset and Bournemouth & Poole this amounted to £13.7m applied in accordance with
the specified purposes.
A significant new scheme was included for Dorset HWB – Strong and Sustainable Care
Markets. This scheme was implemented in recognition of increasing costs in care
placements and underpinning the aspiration to work more closely across the NHS and local
authorities on paying for care from a pooled budget to avoid shifting of costs from one sector
to another. The scheme is represented currently by an aligned budget whereby financial
information is shared and reported together for all partners to improve transparency and
understanding. There is an aspiration to move towards a pooled budget with a risk sharing
arrangement and this is under development.
COST IMPROVEMENT PLANS ACROSS ALL FOUR DORSET NHS FOUNDATION
TRUSTS
In agreeing to a 1% uplift for 2018/19, providers will continue to work on holding costs,
activity and workforce levels maintained to enable them to deliver a challenging average 4%
cost improvement plan.
Work will continue within the system to deliver savings to enable the system to achieve its
targeted control total agreed with regulators.
CCG EFFICIENCY PLANS (QUALITY, INNOVATION, PRODUCTIVITY AND
PREVENTION - QIPP)
Efficiency savings for the main CCG programmes encompass:





Continuing Healthcare (2% cost avoidance and management of 2017/18 overspend);
prescribing (2% cost avoidance);
contracts with NHS providers outside of Dorset;
contracts with independent providers and review of discretionary budgets, social care
support and primary care;
 other budgets.
The CCG started 2017/18 with an unidentified QIPP target of £14.8m. This has been
reduced to £Nil for 2018/19 through careful financial management and allocation of all QIPP
to schemes for detailed planning and management.
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A financial risk remains, however, as the delivery of the targeted QIPP schemes will be
challenging. Furthermore, alongside the delivery of QIPP, there are risks of over-spends and
mitigating actions will be required for any unplanned variation.
The CCG will also continue to strive to deliver QIPP above and beyond target to provide
further headroom in support of the demanding NHS transformation agenda.
OUR WORK PROGRAMMES
PREVENTION AT SCALE
The Prevention at Scale (PAS) Programme is firmly embedded as the foundation of all our
plans, underpinning all the work we do with the Sustainability and Transformation Plan
(STP).
NHS Dorset CCG is a member of both Dorset and Bournemouth and Poole Health and
Wellbeing Boards. The two Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies, refreshed in 2016, are
closely aligned with the Prevention at Scale work in our STP. We are committed to improving
the health and wellbeing of our current and future population and reducing unacceptable
differences in health and life expectancy of different groups of people in Dorset. We will also
look to reduce demand on services, in particular for those with long term conditions, which
will help to ensure sustainable health and care services in the future.
Key themes and projects include:
 Starting Well:
-

better births – early adopter project – developing personalised maternity care;
including healthy lifestyle advice;
whole school approach;
a universal 0-5 offer that is integrated across early years settings;
a focus on emotional health and wellbeing.

 Living Well:
-

scaling up individual behaviour change – connecting more people with the LiveWell
Dorset service, which provides personalised support, so they can change their
lifestyle and take more control of their own health and wellbeing;
health and wellbeing at work – development of a common framework across all
partner organisations;
physical activity programme – bringing together public, voluntary and commercial
sector to build a more co-ordinated approach and explore potential large-scale
interventions.

 Ageing Well:
-

-

reducing variation in secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease and diabetes –
understanding barriers to implementing the National Audit Office high impact
interventions, and supporting the development of new models of care that will
support delivery;
build community development – actively promoting and supporting volunteers in the
community.
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 Healthy Places:
-

supporting local authorities and the Health and Wellbeing Board in shaping both built
and natural environments to promote health and wellbeing, including healthy homes,
active travel and the use of green spaces and coastlines.

Progress to date includes:
 Starting Well:
-

better births – early adopter project - stakeholder workshops have begun to shape
and design future options;
Public Health engaging with schools through the Head Teachers Alliance who will
lead on delivery of the whole school approach to health;
Health visitor and school nursing services aligned with children’s centre populations;
mental health first aid training for schools piloted in Poole, with roll out planned in
Bournemouth and Dorset with the aim of training one MHF Aider in each school.

 Living Well:
-

Phase 1 testing of a new digital platform to help more people connect with the
LiveWell Dorset service is now complete and the platform went live this year;
closer working with localities and GP practices to support the use of LiveWell within
practices;
champion for prevention at scale at Dorset Workforce Action Board;
£650k secured to support physical activity through the Sport England Active Ageing
fund.

 Ageing Well:
-

agreed a change in how we commission across the system to support improved
outcomes for people with diabetes from 2018/19;
procurement from the national framework for diabetes prevention (funded nationally)
in progress, with the service planned to start in 2018/19;
escape pain programme that integrates self-management and coping strategies with
an exercise regimen; for people with chronic joint pain being piloted in local leisure
centres;
Public Health Dorset have funded Altogether Better to support localities build
collaborative practice with their local communities.

 Healthy Places:
-

consultation through Dorset Local Access Forum has identified opportunities for
improvements in public rights of way that will increase access to greenspace which
will support more physical activity;
good links made with planning and transport teams in the local authorities and
scoping how we best develop this work to promote a healthy environment;
Dorset Healthy Homes programme working with localities to identify people at
particular risk of ill health due to their current housing and support improvements.
Additional funding secured to support this.
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INTEGRATED COMMUNITY AND PRIMARY CARE SERVICES
This programme will transform general practice, primary and community health and care
services in Dorset, so that they are truly integrated and based on the needs of our local
populations.
Our priorities are to:
 support people to better manage their own health, with access to appropriate information
and support – we expect a 10% reduction in new outpatient attendances and a 25%
reduction in follow-ups;
 provide care that is based on the needs of our local population, with services delivered at
the times and places people need them;
 enable more people to receive care at home and in the community, and to self-manage
long-term conditions, to avoid having to visit hospital or being admitted as an inpatient we expect to reduce unplanned medical admissions by 25% and unplanned surgical
admissions by 20%;
 make sure our community services are able to support frail older people with long term
conditions so that more care can be delivered closer to home;
 children and young people aged 0-25 stay as healthy as possible, get better quickly when
they are ill and live well with any long term condition they may have;
 make sure our children’s community health services are able to manage children and
young people’s health needs in the community so that more care can be delivered closer
to home;
 improve personalised care for people with complex needs, including individuals with
learning disabilities;
 adopt new technologies that will support a high quality, consistent patient experience
throughout the health system, with standardised working practices and seamless
communication between health and care professionals;
 create integrated teams of professionals with the right skill mix (including students) in
improved working environments, to support the delivery of the model of care as well as
enhance skills acquisition and personal development opportunities;
 make sure that our NHS buildings, resources and finances are used in a cost-efficient
way, including by planning care on a larger scale to achieve cost savings.
Progress to date includes:
 in September 2017, the CCG Governing Body approved recommendations for Integrated
Community Services;
 a robust consultation process supported by the CSR Decision Making Business Cases;
 co-produced the survey and design with local children and young people for the
integrated children’s community health services view seeking;
 integrated community teams and locality community hubs are developing across the
County in line with the Governing Body decisions.
ONE ACUTE NETWORK OF SERVICES
Our vision is to provide a local NHS service that is centred on the needs of local people and
to support people in Dorset to lead healthier lives, for longer. To deliver this, Dorset
hospitals will need to work together in an efficient and effective way. Currently, Dorset has
three district general hospitals (DGHs) providing a range of services across the county with
variable standards and outcomes for patients. In a very challenging climate which is seeing
increasing shortages of specialist staff, rising inequalities in our population and severe
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financial constraints with a forecasted financial gap of £229m, it is clear that the current
configuration of our hospitals is unable to meet the full range of quality standards and is not
financially viable.
The One Acute Network (OAN) has been established by the three acute Trusts in Dorset to
oversee the planning, preparation and implementation of the Clinical Services Review
(CSR). This new hospital model of care will reconfigure acute services across Dorset,
creating one network to enable the sharing of experience and expertise across sites to
continue to drive quality improvements for patients and to meet the future challenges of
delivering increasingly complex healthcare. The proposed model in Dorset will create
distinctive specialist roles (major emergency services on one site and planned care services
on the other) for the two acute hospitals within the East, with the West retaining both
planned and emergency services. National clinical evidence shows that more lives are saved
when people are treated in specialist centres with senior specialist staff available on site 24
hours a day, seven days a week. At the moment, none of Dorset’s hospitals offer 24/7
consultant care on site.
In line with our STP, the OAN programme will:
 review, plan and deliver the acute reconfiguration of acute services across the hospital
sites in East and West Dorset;
 develop the clinical networking model for key services to ensure safe and sustainable
services across the county;
 develop a financially sustainable model of care that directly responds to current and
projected workforce constraints through the reconfiguration of services and the
development of networks to ensure improved outcomes and reduced mortality.
Progress to date includes:
 the CCG Governing Body approved recommendations in September 2017 for the site
specific options for acute hospital services for implementation;
 over £100m capital has been earmarked to deliver the acute re-configuration. The trusts
are developing a robust Outline Business Case and Full Business Case which will include
detailed implementation plans;
 clinical design workshops have been established to undertake detailed operational
planning in support of the re-configuration;
 the trusts are progressing through NHS Improvement merger approval process and are
developing the patient benefit case for review by the Competition and Markets Authority;
 NHS Improvement have been engaged to begin a merger process between the acute
trusts within the east of the county.
COLLABORATIVE ELECTIVE CARE PATHWAY REDESIGN
In Dorset we are committed to working with partners to better understand the variation in
current services to help us ensure we get the best outcomes for patients and the best value
for money for the system, through implementing the national RightCare programme and
responding to locally identified demand pressures.
In doing this, we have been working with the RightCare national delivery partner for the
Wessex area and clinicians from across primary, community and secondary care to identify
opportunities to reduce unwarranted variation, de-commission procedures with limited
clinical value and reduce intervention rates where appropriate.
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We have identified the following areas which provide the greatest opportunities in relation to
both spend and outcomes:







musculoskeletal and trauma and injuries;
ophthalmology;
dermatology;
cardiovascular disease (cardiology and diabetes);
cancer;
mental health.

Building on the engagement we have undertaken to date, and the design by task and finish
groups, we are now taking forward new pathways of care.
Progress to date includes:
 implementation of musculoskeletal triage across Dorset;
 participated in the National Elective Care Collaborative for Diabetes, ophthalmology and
Dermatology;
 project teams supporting employment and health reviews underway across agencies in
mental health;
 spinal pain pathway has been reviewed and approved;
 hip and knee surgery review and design of new pathways in progress led by acute trusts
 designed and implemented a decision support aid for patients who may need knee
surgery as lead for National programme;
 improving the uptake of Advice and Guidance and the new electronic referral systems as
part of the national paper switch of programme;
 developed mechanisms to support and promote the use of technology to improve patient
care and timely access such as tele-dermatology;
 cancer framework has been agreed and redesign of pathways is underway in Urology
and Dermatology in the first instance;
 development of a self-management platform for people with diabetes, to commence in
March 2018;
 criteria based access protocols have been reviewed, developed and implemented for a
number of procedures in line with National guidance.
CANCER
The national strategy ‘Achieving World-Class Cancer Outcomes; A Strategy for the NHS
2015-2020’ sets out the five-year national strategy for cancer services and details 96
recommendations. It is estimated this national strategy could deliver around 30,000
additional patients surviving cancer every year, which equates to 300 lives saved in Dorset
per annum. The strategy also assumes a step change in patient experience and quality of
life.
Over the past two years we have developed the ’Dorset Cancer Strategy 2017 – 2020 for
adults and children’ using the national strategy values as its foundation. We have
collaborated with a wide range of partners including patients and public, health and social
care professionals, the voluntary sector, NHS providers and Commissioners and the Wessex
Cancer Alliance to build a strategy that takes account of the needs of our population, the
regional vision and the national objectives. Patient and carer engagement has been at the
heart of this work.
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The ‘Dorset Cancer Strategy’ vision statement for cancer services is:
“A single Dorset Cancer Service working to prevent cancer within our population, diagnose
cancer early, achieve great outcomes, and treat our patients as individuals – with person
centred, equitable care for all.”
This vision statement has been adopted by the Dorset Cancer Partnership and the key
elements of the strategy are:






a radical upgrade in prevention and public health;
achieving earlier diagnosis;
improving patient experience;
transforming the approach to people living with and beyond cancer;
ensuring end of life care planning and choices are available to all who have a terminal
diagnosis;
 ensuring that the necessary investment is made in treatment and diagnostic equipment,
that the workforce is developed, with workforce deficits addressed, and that a more
sustainable system is developed for novel cancer drugs;
 ensuring that the processes for commissioning are overhauled to include commissioning
at CCG, sub regional alliance or networks level, creation of standard metrics and pilots of
new models of care.
Through the National Cancer Patient Experience survey patients have rated our cancer
services, overall, as 8.9 out of a possible 10. The national average rating was 8.7 and Dorset
was a positive outlier for many responses or was at or above the England average. This
reflects a high level of value placed on the cancer services by patients.
In addition to this positive view from patients, Dorset was assessed as outstanding for its
cancer services in July 2017 as part of the NHS England Sustainability and Transformation
Plan assurance process.
In the realisation of our vision, we have partnered with the Dorset Cancer Partnership to
deliver the Dorset Cancer Strategy and our progress this year includes:
 it has been agreed as part of the development of Dorset as an Integrated Care System
(ICS) for cancer to become a main priority within it;
 improving early diagnosis rates, in particular, the proportion of cancers diagnosed at
stages 1 and 2. This has increased from 56.6% in 2015 to above the national target at
63% in 2016. Alongside this, we are one of the five national test sites for the 28 days to
diagnosis pilot which will reduce the maximum length of time patients wait for a diagnosis
from referral;
 changes are being made to the lung cancer pathway, in conjunction with NHS England, to
implement the optimal lung pathway whereby patients will be referred sooner via a
pathway that is quicker;
 working with providers to support achievement of all the NHS Constitution cancer waiting
time standards, utilising contractual levers should performance fall;
 supporting the introduction of new screening programmes and technologies which is key
to preventing cancer. In April 2018, the new faecal immunochemical test (FIT) test for
bowel screening will be rolled out as a more accurate predictor of bowel cancer and we
are making the test available as direct access to GPs for symptomatic patients;
 we have successfully been awarded transformational funding from NHS England to
improve cancer services in multiple areas including, 62 day waiting time standard
delivery, implementation of the Recovery package, and the Risk Stratification Project;

23

24

 Macmillan have awarded the Dorset system substantial funding to develop the Dorset
Cancer Information Project which will ensure cancer patients, their families and carers,
across Dorset can access information, user support and sign posting in a manner which
is user friendly to their circumstances and levels of need;
 a Dorset cancer website is in development;
 Engagement with people affected by cancer and the Dorset cancer patient group has
been transformed and patient representatives are truly at the heart of all planning and
implementation work;
 the Dorset Cancer plan has been approved which sets out the delivery of the national
cancer strategy;
 we have agreed to move our CCG clinical lead and the Dorset Cancer Partnership clinical
lead to a more aligned position to better promote co-production and collaboration.
All of this work will continue to deliver improvements in cancer outcomes for patients and
support sustained improvements against the NHS England Assurance Framework
indicators for cancer.
DIABETES
In common with the rest of the UK, diabetes is a big issue in Dorset leading to significant
morbidity and mortality. Additionally, we estimate that there are over 70,000 people in Dorset
with raised blood glucose, which can lead to Type 2 diabetes if not addressed.
We are starting with prevention and from spring 2018, our Diabetes Prevention Programme
will target people with raised blood glucose – sometimes referred to as pre-diabetes – with a
programme of dietary support, exercise and activity, as well as peer support and motivation.
We are implementing a major transformation programme to improve diabetes care across
the whole system of service provision, including primary and community services. We have
started working with GP locality teams to develop multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) which will
involve a range of professionals pooling their expertise to manage patients better particularly
around the control of:
 HbA1c;
 blood pressure;
 cholesterol.
This work will also focus on the needs of frail and vulnerable patients with diabetes by linking
with initiatives around frailty and supporting care homes.
We are reviewing patient education in order to ensure it is consistent across Dorset and that
it reaches more patients. As part of that we have brought in an online self-management app
called My Diabetes.
Foot care continues to be a priority and we are developing systems whereby clinicians can
send photos to specialists for advice and guidance. This began in dermatology but has
applicability in podiatry and particularly for diabetic foot problems.
Additionally, we are agreeing the competencies staff will need to demonstrate as part of a
redesigned service and ensuring they have access to the appropriate training and education
to enable them to deliver excellent services to people with diabetes.
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LEARNING DISABILITY
The Transforming Care programme, for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and
behaviour that challenges, including those with mental health needs, was developed by NHS
England. This was as a result of the inquiry into the abuse of vulnerable people at
Winterbourne View. The three-year programme began in February 2016 and completes in
March 2019. Transforming Care is a partnership between Dorset Clinical Commissioning
Group, Dorset County Council, Bournemouth Borough Council, Borough of Poole and NHS
England and is governed locally by the Dorset Transforming Care Partnership Board.
Our key priorities include:




reducing the number of people with learning disability/autism in specialist hospitals to
between 10-15 inpatients per million population (CCG commissioned placements) and
20-25 inpatients per million population (NHS England commissioned placements) by
March 2019;
increasing the percentage of people on the GP learning disability health check register
receiving an annual health check to 75% by March 2019.

Progress to date includes:












a thriving Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) and a multi-agency reference group
with providers;
in 2016/17, six speaking up groups were carried out with people with learning disabilities
to understand their views on living in specialist hospitals and the process of leaving and
settling in the community. Views gathered contributed to the shaping of the work-stream
delivery in 2017/18;
joint working across health and local authorities provides effective community services,
and solutions for housing and crisis care;
the TCP Partnership has effectively reduced the number of CCG commissioned
inpatients and it is expected that the target of nine inpatients for March 2019 will be
achieved;
workshops have taken place with care and support providers to identify gaps in skills
and knowledge which informs the TCP workforce plan;
large-scale engagement regarding person-centred planning has taken place to inform
future delivery;
a risk register has been implemented which identifies people with learning disability
and/or autism at risk of placement breakdown or hospital admission;
a programme of quality checking of care settings and training has been delivered by
self-advocates;
targeted work has been undertaken to aid delivery of annual health-checks, including
provision of resource packs and information to general practices;
the Yellow Health Book (a tool to help people get the most from healthcare provision)
has been revised and distributed.

The Dorset Transforming Care Plan is available on the CCG website.
MENTAL HEALTH
We are committed to tackling mental health with the same energy and priority as we have
tackled physical illness in order to deliver parity of esteem in line with the Five Year Forward
View (FYFV) for mental health as illustrated in the STP. Through our programme we aim to:
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 implement early intervention programmes to prevent the development of mental health
problems;
 support as many people as possible to stay independent through our integrated
community services;
 improve support for people at times of crisis.
Progress to date includes:
 the ‘steps to wellbeing’ service has started to implement the service for long term
conditions, starting with supporting people living with diabetes. The service is on track to
exceed the mandated expansion target of 16.8% of the prevalent population;
 the review on dementia services, run jointly with our local authority partners, is using a
co-production approach has had over 100 people actively contributing to the design of
models for dementia care in Dorset. The review is planned to have proposed new
models ready for consultation by September 2018. This review is looking at how to
improve services with a whole system approach across health and social care and will
include identifying changes required to meet the forthcoming national diagnosis waiting
time target and improve post diagnostic support and care;
 significant work has been undertaken in the area of children and adolescent emotional
health and wellbeing across the system, with continuing improvement in waiting times for
CAMHS and a recent national benchmarking report outlining that the service is
consistently in the top quartile of Trusts in England. The local transformation plan, which
was jointly developed with the local authorities, was refreshed and uploaded on to our
website on 31 October 2017. This outlines the achievements to date and the areas of
focus for the NHS and Social Care, based on feedback from engagement with people
who use the services and their families;
 in 2017, we and our partners concluded the review of support and treatment services for
people with a serious mental illness who were nearing or in crisis - this is called the
Mental Health Acute Care Pathway. During 2017 an outline business case was
developed, taking the feedback from the consultation into account. The final model of
care and investment was approved at the Governing Body on 20 September 2017. The
model is:
-

-

-

to add an additional 16 acute beds and redistribute current beds according to
demand profile. This will entail closing the Linden Unit in Weymouth;
to add three community front rooms to help people nearing or in crisis in rural areas.
There will be one in Purbeck, one in north Dorset and one in west Dorset. They will
be open 3pm-11pm Thursday-Sunday – the times when people said they felt most
isolated;
to add two retreats: one in Bournemouth and one in Dorchester. These will be open
seven days a week from 4pm-midnight Monday-Thursday and 6pm-2am Friday to
Sunday;
to enhance the crisis line and increase the number of people available to support
people and professionals, with increased staffing at peak times. There will also be
multiple options on how to communicate with the Connection Service, including
skype and phone;
key to all of this is the development of peer support workers so that people with
lived experience can support and assist people in their recovery;
implementation is beginning in 2018/19, starting with testing the retreat concept in
Bournemouth and adding an additional four beds at Forston clinic near Dorchester.

PERFORMANCE

CHILDREN’S SERVICES
Our ambition is to see every child and young person in Dorset stay healthy for longer and
feel more confident and supported in managing their own health. We want everyone to have
an equal standard of care regardless of who they are and where they live, delivered by
health and care professionals with the appropriate skills. More of our services will be
provided closer to home, with improved access seven days a week. We will have the
highest level of hospital-based services for when people need them. This is how we can
improve health outcomes and local people’s experience of health and care services.
Through our programme we aim to:





implement good early interventions, including those for children and young people with
long term conditions, will be of equal importance to caring for those who become acutely
unwell;
design services that will be integrated and care coordinated around the individual, with
an optimal experience of transition to adult services for those young people who require
ongoing health and care into adult life, based on their recovery goals and assessed
need;
ensure that no child should be in hospital when care can be provided to an equivalent or
better standard outside hospital in their locality and closer to their home if appropriate
(right care, right time and right place).

Progress to date includes:







co-produced the design and look of the integrated children’s community health service
(ICCHS) view seeking with children and young people in Dorset, which has received
very positive feedback
testing out paediatrics in primary care clinics, where paediatric specialists and general
practice clinicians assess and treat children and young people in primary care. The
clinic will be followed by an education session for community and hospital staff;
work with the acute paediatric vanguard to improve collaborative working across the
health system. An example of the successes is that there has been an improvement
from 60-75% of electronic discharge summaries received by GPs within 24 hours to
95% across the system. (In addition the paediatric vanguard work has increased from
74% to almost 100% of patients assessed within four hours by a middle grade (ST3) or
above and increased from 45% to 95% patients being seen by a consultant in 14 hours).
improvements in information on the ‘local offer’ for parents of children and young people
with special educational needs who may be disabled;
development and behaviour pathway developed for children and young people with
autism spectrum disorder/attention deficit hyperactivity disorder by a system wide
stakeholder group including parents and carers. Agreement for a One Dorset
Development and Behaviour Service.

MATERNITY AND PAEDIATRICS
We are committed to ensuring safe, high quality and sustainable care for all women and
children, with access to the right care at the right time across the county that embraces new
models of care and technologies, whilst maintaining cost effectiveness. This will see more of
our services being integrated and accessible for families with improved access seven days a
week. We will have the highest quality of hospital-based services for when people need
them.
Following the CCG decisions on 20 September 2017, the CCG have outlined the intention to
seek to maintain a consultant led maternity and overnight children’s service in Dorchester,
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as well as at the major emergency hospital, but with both services forming part of a single
maternity and paediatrics service for Dorset due to NHS Somerset Clinical Commissioning
Group undertaking their own Clinical Services Review.
We have in place a Dorset perinatal mental health pathway and pan Dorset specialist
community perinatal mental health service. We will continue to ensure that all midwives have
training in screening for mental health conditions during pregnancy, ensuring this is a feature
of the delivery of maternity care as it is a key feature in reducing indirect maternal deaths.
During 2018/19 we will work to develop a business case to support the increase in specialist
perinatal mental health beds recently approved by NHS England. A bid has also been
submitted to NHS England in March 2018 to support the mandated expansion to increase
the number of women who have access to evidence based specialist perinatal care in
partnership across the community and inpatient pathways.
Dorset STP was one of seven sites nationally to have been awarded an Early Adopter site
and we have been working in partnership with NHS England to co-produce models of care to
Improve postnatal care, personalised care and care to vulnerable women (project ends Dec
2018) Dorset LMS are considering learning from other early adopter sites focusing on
continuity of carer, including feedback from local women, to develop an implementation plan
to clearly define where there would be best outcomes by implementing Continuity of Carer
for women.
Our key priorities include:



implementing programmes to improve the health and welling of children and mothers
including the roll out of immunisations, breastfeeding initiatives, childhood obesity
prevention and treatment programmes;
continuing to work with our Local Authority partners to plan, commission and deliver the
improvements needed in services for Children with Special Educational Needs and
Disabilities (SEND). This will include the further development of a One Dorset Behaviour
and Support Service which will result in closer partnership working between CAMHs and
paediatric services.

Progress to date includes:


implementing national maternity service review: Better Births.

PRIMARY CARE
Our Member practices are now working in locality groups to deliver the General Practice
Forward View ambitions which seek to sustain and transform the way primary care is
delivered. We have received assurance from an internal audit review of our progress with
primary care commissioning which demonstrates the significant progress we have made
since taking on full delegation for primary care from NHS England. The focus in 2017/18 has
been to develop more sustainable general practice and we have seen a number of practice
mergers as part of our local resilience planning. We are now well placed to deliver our
Primary Care Commissioning Strategy and demonstrate significant progress across a
number of key areas of our plan. In 2018 we will look to strengthen the role of Primary Care
in the Dorset Integrated Care System, developing local Clinical Networks to deliver new care
models which better respond to local need.
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Our progress to date includes:












local delivery plans for GP Forward View;
primary care working as part of a system response to address winter pressures;
further investment in primary care to reflect cost pressures, improve access and
maintain stability of services;
With the support of the Primary Care Workforce Centre, developed primary care
workforce profiles and plans to support local resilience; recruited to a range of new roles
in primary care; developed skill mixed teams to deliver new care models; introduced a
range of schemes and incentives to improve recruitment and retention.
infrastructure planning across a number of our localities to improve the primary care
estate and introduce a range of new technologies which support the delivery of care;
improving access to general practice through a new proof of concept phase which will
inform an Integrated Access model for Dorset;
a RightCare programme to improve primary care quality and reduce variation in
outcomes of care;
implemented integrated teams and developed primary care hubs;
improved antibiotic prescribing rates in primary care and achieved national improvement
targets;
increased partnership working to support delivery of better health outcomes for our
Dorset population including work to enable delivery of a Prevention at Scale
programme.

ESTATES AND TECHNOLOGY TRANSFORMATION FUND
NHS England’s Estates and Technology Transformation Fund (ETTF) is a multi-million
pound investment (revenue and capital funding) in general practice facilities and technology
across England.
It is part of the General Practice Forward View commitment for more modernised buildings
and better use of technology to help improve general practice services for patients.
The ETTF funding comes out of the £1bn Primary Care Infrastructure Fund which as well as
providing a funding boost for estates and technology has invested in other areas of general
practice such as workforce.
In October 2016 the CCG was informed that four property related Estates and Technology
Transformation Fund (ETTF) bids had successfully passed through the first assessment
gateway. The total value of these four bids amounted to circa £7.5m. Following initial
feasibility work one project was cancelled – the remaining three projects remain in
development:




project 1 – replacement for Wareham Health Centre;
project 2 – relocation of the Carlisle House Surgery into new leased premises;
project 3 – refurbishment of the Parkstone Health Centre;

Initially the three projects were allocated pre-project funds to support the development of
project initiation documents and business cases. It is anticipated that full business cases will
be finalised in Summer 2018 and, subject to required approvals, construction could
commence shortly after.
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ENABLING PROGRAMMES
LEADING AND WORKING DIFFERENTLY
To enable us to transform services set out in our Sustainability and Transformation Plan we
know we need to work more closely across different organisational boundaries for the benefit
of patients and to help address our workforce challenges; recognising we need to work
collectively as a system to deliver an integrated seamless service, and to maintain and
develop skills and capabilities.
We have worked across the system to develop the Leading and Working Differently
Strategy, which has identified the following five work streams:






development of our leaders;
recruitment and retention of our staff;
developing our staff;
supporting staff through change;
workforce planning and supply.

These priorities include designing and embedding a leadership and culture change
framework, retaining and attracting our workforce through a one Dorset recruitment
approach and the design and delivery of system wide/multi organisation and multi
professional development opportunities.
This programme is steered under the Dorset Workforce Action Board. This has been led
part-year by a Senior Responsible Officer - Chief Executive from Dorset County Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust, while we transition to new arrangements. The board is supported by
a Portfolio Director – Director of Engagement and Development from Dorset CCG.
Progress to date includes:







four fully accredited trainers in internal collaborative working methods;
Aston organisational development team coach training with participants from all four
Trusts, three Local Authorities and the CCG. We are seeking to collaborate with other
partner organisations who are using Aston internally to ensure effective use of the
resource and shared learning;
Quality Service Improvement (QSIR) training undertaken;
our application to the Leadership Academy ‘In Place Leadership Innovation Fund’ was
successful and we have secured £50,000 to support talent management in Dorset.
Governing Body development undertaken in preparation for decision making for the
Clinical Services Review.

DIGITALLY-ENABLED DORSET
Our vision is to support the transforming health and social care system in Dorset with the
adoption and exploitation of the best technology available to support frontline staff. Local
people and sustainable delivery of better outcomes are at the core of everything we do. We
will ensure appropriate digital services safely empower people in their homes, communities
and care settings.
Our portfolio of digital programmes and projects underpins the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP). Technology plays a key role in assisting in the transformation
efforts and delivering new service landscapes of all elements of the STP.
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Progress to date includes:










development of a system wide group comprising of clinical and technical leads and
public representatives to direct and ratify the direction of our work;
breaking down organisational boundaries to create a broad range of subject matter
expert groups from all organisations to focus on finding the best answers for everyone;
forged strong relationships with Bournemouth University and major global technology
firms to leverage leading technology for the public;
implemented technology to support the CCG adopting more remote working capability
and to enable flexible working practices to make the best use of CCG office space;
delivered public access Wi-Fi in GP practices ahead of the national deadline;
Dorset Care Record is now live, and during the snowy weather this winter was used to
ensure frail and vulnerable patients were cared for in the best possible way;
selection of provider under a county-wide framework for clinically designed and built
template solution to provide a common frontend to SystmOne for general practice;
procurement of a solution to support security information and event management to
provide real-time analysis of security alerts and risks to our systems;
work with Sony and Bournemouth University to further develop virtual reality detection
for dementia.

SYSTEMS RESILIENCE AND EMERGENCY PLANNING
The Dorset Local Accident and Emergency (A&E) Delivery and Urgent Care Board was
refreshed to align with changes to the governance of the national Urgent and Emergency
Care workstream. This brought both the mandated initiatives and transformational work
together under one governance structure. The revised Dorset Urgent and Emergency Care
Delivery Board continues to be an executive level whole system group of health and social
care partners.
The key responsibility of the board is to provide oversight and hold responsibility for delivery
of the local urgent and emergency care delivery plan. The plan incorporates NHS England’s
‘seven pillars’ of urgent and emergency care (NHS England, 2017). The seven pillars are
defined as:








111;
111 online;
GP access;
Ambulance;
urgent treatment centres;
hospitals;
hospitals to home.

A system wide approach has been adopted to progress the work and address the
requirements of delivery.
We have continued to work with our 111 provider to develop and improve the level of clinical
input to calls and thus aim to consult and complete episodes of care where appropriate. By
March 2018 the local service achieved the required 50% threshold.
With the forthcoming expiration of the existing contract, we also embarked on a procurement
programme for a provider(s) to deliver an integrated urgent care service consisting of 111, a
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clinical assessment service and primary care out of hours (comprising of the current GP out
of hours service and the night nursing service).
A separate interdependent programme to procure NHS111 online services also commenced
in the autumn of 2017. In line with a directive from the national team, this aims to have the
NHS Pathways online NHS111 platform operational by July 2018.
The Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery Board supported the implementation of extended
access to GP services with 50% of the population now having access to extended hours.
This was complimented by the introduction of primary care (GP) streaming at the front door
of both Royal Bournemouth and Poole hospitals in October 2017. The aim of this initiative is
to manage appropriate clinical presentations at A&E departments in an alternative setting led
by GPs.
With our system partners we were successful in applying for transformation monies to
support work to transform ambulance services. A key part of this involved the piloting of
‘Mobile Urgent Treatment Response’. Work commenced on this in November 2017 as part
of a wider ambulance transformation project. We also took on the role of lead ambulance
commissioner in April 2017 for a two-year period on behalf of the 12 CCGs and 7 STPs in
the South West. We have reshaped the governance to create an Ambulance Strategic
Partnership Board at South West level to bring the 7 STPs together to allow for a strategic
conversation about the ambulance agenda and its links to the urgent and emergency care
system as a whole. This links to the Dorset level ambulance transformation work referenced
above and the Ambulance Improvement Programme at national level.
NHS England published new standards for the development of urgent treatment centres to
support the national vision to simplify terminology associated with provision of urgent care
and replace existing minor injury units and walk in centres with a consistent set of standards.
Work commenced on developing the optimal configuration of urgent treatment centres for
Dorset in October 2017. Two facilities – Weymouth Urgent Care Centre and Royal
Bournemouth Hospital – were included in wave 1 of the national roll out of newly designated
urgent treatment centres in December 2017. Work is progressing to define the wider future
configuration across Dorset.
A number of initiatives were also rolled out across the system during the summer of 2017
that reduced delays within local hospitals including Discharge to Assess and Trusted
Assessor (Trusted Practitioner).
Robust winter and Easter plans were produced as a means of ensuring resilience and
effective system wide surge and escalation processes exist to manage demand and capacity
during the winter and busy holiday periods.
EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS RESILIENCE AND RESPONSE
We have had a busy year in Emergency Preparedness Resilience and Response. A series
of national major incidents affecting the NHS and its partners, have thoroughly tested local
command and control systems in Dorset. These incidents include the Wannacry cyberattacks of 12 May 2017 and terror attacks in London and Manchester, which prompted a rise
in the UK threat level from critical to severe.
We were also required to work with other NHS providers, local authorities and emergency
services in response to both gas and electricity utilities outages. In both instances the CCG
has coordinated the sharing of NHS vulnerable people data, provided by Primary Care and
Dorset HealthCare University Foundation Trust records.
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The CCG emergency planning team played a key role in responding to the major incident
event associated with Storm Emma. A debrief exercise was held following the major
incident with learning from this exercise and winter planning debriefs being factored into
supporting organisational and system level business continuity plans. A key component of
this incorporates work to co-ordinate any future response to a requirement for 4x4 vehicles
within Dorset.
We continue to either develop or support the running of emergency response exercises,
which help sustain the skills and experience of our on-call managers and responding staff.
In the last six months a range of scenarios including a large scale traffic collision, air craft
accident, mass casualties, winter pressures, seasonal influenza and counter terrorism have
all been run to rehearse the roles and responsibilities of the NHS.
EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS RESILIENCE AND RESPONSE ASSURANCE
Dorset’s three acute trusts and community healthcare provider are required to rate
themselves against a core standards matrix as part of annual emergency preparedness
resilience and response (EPRR) assurance process. The provider’s assurance scores were
submitted with supporting evidence in August 2017. In its role as the lead commissioner for
South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust, we also undertook EPRR
assurance with the ambulance provider on behalf of all other commissioning bodies in the
south west.
The agreed assurance position of each provider was ratified in a meeting between us and
NHS England South West on 9 October 2017. The Dorset Local Health Resilience
Partnership (LHRP) was then notified of the outcomes of the full assurance process. The
LHRP is routinely updated as to the progress of quarterly EPRR improvement planning
meetings. The CCG was assessed as being ‘substantially compliant’ with the EPRR core
standards.
PROMOTING EQUALITY AND ADDRESSING HEALTH INEQUALITIES
We are committed to ensuring that we reduce health inequalities and that we have the needs
of our communities at the heart of our commissioning functions. We recognise that people
access services and need support in a range of different ways. Our challenge is to
understand these communities, engage effectively with them and then commission services
to meet their local needs. Health inequalities also form part of our Prevention at Scale
Programme (see page 18 for further detail).
We acknowledge the right of every person to live a life free from harm and abuse. We
acknowledge our statutory responsibility to promote the welfare of children and young
people and to protect adults from abuse and risk of harm. We will ensure that there is a
culture of listening to and engaging in dialogue with vulnerable groups, taking account of
wishes and feelings both in individual decisions and the establishment or development and
improvement of services.
We are keen to build on the work already undertaken in previous years, developing a strong
and effective approach to our Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and will continue to
ensure that, as commissioners, our providers of services have also considered all elements
of the community and can evidence how they have taken into consideration the needs of
diverse communities throughout Dorset in their provision of health services. Promoting
equality and addressing health inequalities is a priority for us as commissioners, employers
and system leaders.
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During 2017 there have been many developments in terms of championing equality and
diversity, raising awareness and building support systems for commissioners to make more
equitable decisions.
Progress to date includes:










reviewed and updated our approach to undertaking Equality Impact Assessments
(EIAs), including the development of a standard template and training programme;
extensive review and update of the clinical services review EIA’s including independent
reviews by Public and Patient Engagement Group and the CCG legal advisor. These
were approved by the Quality and Assurance Group in July 2017 and published on the
CCG and Dorset Vision websites;
extensive engagement and communications with diverse groups and communities
across Dorset including the clinical services review, mental health acute care pathway
and dementia pathway;
partnership working with providers to embed equality, diversity and inclusion across the
system, including supporting implementation of the accessible information standard;
continuing to implement the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard and delivery of the
action plan including implementing unconscious bias training, opportunities for BME
staff to meet senior leaders, and raising awareness of job opportunities through partners
such as Dorset Race Equality Council;
continuing to support staff through training and development opportunities and
supporting their health and wellbeing through a range of programmes including stress
management and physical activity schemes;
established the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian position with Governing Body level
leadership.

The full annual report for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 2017 can be found on our website.
JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT
We are members of the Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Intelligence group with local
authorities, public health and the voluntary sector, which leads the development of the Joint
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA). During 2015/16 we engaged with and supported the
development of the refreshed JSNA thematic summaries. These can be viewed via
http://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/JSNA.htm or direct at
http://www.publichealthdorset.org.uk/understanding/jsna/
In the production of our Annual Report and Accounts we have engaged with our Health and
Wellbeing Boards to seek their views on how we have worked with them in delivering the
priorities set out in the Health and Wellbeing Boards and the production of the JSNA.
IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF SERVICES
This section describes our commitment to quality improvement and shows how we discharge
our duty to improve quality under Section 14R of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.
SAFEGUARDING ADULTS
As a statutory partner of the two Safeguarding Adults Boards (SAB) across Dorset
(Bournemouth and Poole, and Dorset) we actively contribute to the work of the boards to
assure that the Care Act and the statutory framework for adult safeguarding has been
embedded into practice. The duty of the statutory framework is for partner agencies to work
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together to keep adults at risk of harm, safe from abuse whilst also adopting the principles of
wellbeing, early intervention, prevention and safeguarding in practice.
The SAB also has a duty to commission safeguarding adult reviews (SARs) when an adult at
risk has died or been seriously harmed as a result of abuse or neglect. There have been no
SAR’s undertaken this year, although many case audits have been undertaken and learning
has been derived from them which has allowed practices to be reviewed.
The Multi Agency Risk Management guidance has been launched, which supports risk
management of safeguarding where the concern does not meet the criteria for a Section 42
Adult Safeguarding enquiry. The criteria for a Section 42 adult safeguarding enquiry is:




where the individual has care and support needs (whether or not the Local Authority is
meeting any of these needs), and
is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect, and
as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either
the risk of, or the experience of abuse or neglect.

The CCG has been working with the policy and procedures sub group to develop the early
intervention/prevention guidance, which will align larger prevention scale agenda. Work
continues to assure the CCG that the application of the Mental Capacity Act is embedded
into practice and to ensure systems are in place to apply for deprivation of liberty safeguards
(DoLs) as required.
We continue to be an active partner of the Pan Dorset Criminal Justice Board, where we
actively contribute to a number of work streams around domestic abuse, PREVENT, modern
day slavery which has included a review of the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference.
We have contributed to a number of domestic homicide reviews and are committed to
learning from these events. Considerable work has been undertaken across primary care to
secure a lead in each GP practice for safeguarding, both adults and children and domestic
abuse. Training has been offered to all the identified GP leads, around domestic abuse,
coercion and control, stalking and harassment, as well as learning from the reviews
undertaken throughout the year
We contributed to the annual joint children and adult safeguarding conference in quarter 4,
where the focus was on a whole family approach, to address this in practice. We have
continued to develop the understanding of a whole family approach across all crosscutting
safeguarding such as PREVENT, domestic abuse, and modern-day slavery. We have two
named GPs for adult safeguarding who support the ongoing delivery of a monthly GP
safeguarding bulletin and bi-monthly peer supervision meetings for the local GPs.
Relationships continue to be strengthened between the safeguarding team and
commissioning managers to ensure adult safeguarding is embedded into the sustainable
and transformation partnership and the developing Integrated Care System working to
assure ourselves the workforce is confident in the changing landscape of adult safeguarding.
We have also reviewed the triangulation of information from safeguarding, risk management,
complaints, quality assurance and medicines management teams to ensure significant
incidents that may have a safeguarding component are reported appropriately. Integrated
work continues in collaboration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to identify any poor
practice identified through safeguarding within care homes and domiciliary care providers so
that targeted support can be offered to make improvements or undertake whole scale
safeguarding reviews.
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PATIENT SAFETY AND RISK
The role of our patient safety and risk team is to ensure a good safety and risk culture is
embedded within the CCG and across our health community.
We are committed to maintaining a risk management framework that facilitates the
identification, analysis, management, monitoring, prioritisation and control of risks that
threaten the delivery of our strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can impact upon every
aspect of activity in which we are engaged and this can affect people, assets, our
organisation and reputation. We are not aiming to create a risk-free environment, but rather
one in which risk is considered as a matter of course and appropriately identified, controlled
and managed.
The patient safety and risk team are responsible for maintaining the Corporate Risk Register
and Governing Body Assurance Framework through engagement with the Directors and
directorate risk leads, and providing the Governing Body and delegated sub-committees with
regular and detailed updates.
We work closely with all healthcare providers to continually develop and promote systems of
learning from serious incidents (including never events) and adverse incidents, whilst
seeking assurance that appropriate and timely action is taken to mitigate against future
events. This includes scoping national learning from the NHS Improvement National
Reporting and Learning Service, clinical audits and best practice guidelines. Where
appropriate, we also work with providers to ensure that learning is shared within the health
community.
We are also responsible for ensuring that our procedural documents are also maintained,
reviewed as per an agreed schedule and made available via our intranet and public-facing
website where appropriate.
INFECTION PREVENTION AND CONTROL
We work in partnership with local providers to ensure effective practice in the prevention of
healthcare associated infections. During the year there have been ten cases of methicillin
resistant staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) bacteraemia reported from Dorset residents. A
single case was assigned to an acute Dorset trust. Although the root cause was not fully
established, some opportunities for transmission were identified and actions taken to
educate staff involved to remove risk. The remaining cases were community cases and
found unrelated to healthcare. The numbers of cases reported for Dorset Providers remains
low and all are fully investigated.
The following table demonstrates the end of year position for clostridium difficile cases
reported for Dorset providers.
Table 7: Infection control – clostridium difficile

Cases/Target
No of cases reported by Trust (unattributed)
No of cases attributed to acute/community providers
Total no of cases NOT attributed to acute/community providers

31 March
2018
207
53
144
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We review all community attributed clostridium difficile cases to ascertain any learning for
primary care practitioners as part of ongoing work to improve anti-microbial prescribing
compliance.
Following the challenge to reduce gram-negative bacilli by 50% by 2021, we have been
working to establish risk factors locally and to reduce risk. In order to identify risks we have
been examining cases reported earlier in the year by our acute providers.
Table 8: Infection control – e.coli bacteraemia

Cases reported to 31 March 2018
No of cases reported by Trust (unattributed)
No of cases attributed to acute providers
Total no of cases NOT attributed to acute / community providers

Cases
652
116
536

GPs have been asked to provide information from community cases to allow exploration of
risk factors contributing to the infection. Reflecting on the number of cases, 130 cases were
identified occurring in primary care within a snap shot three-month period and these are
currently being reviewed.
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN
We are a statutory member of both Local Safeguarding Children’s Boards (LSCB) – Dorset,
and Bournemouth and Poole, and continue to be an active member of the Boards’ subgroups throughout the year. This year we received positive feedback following the
Organisational Accountability Review which is conducted by the LSCB. We were praised for
the continuous hard work and involvement with several areas of improvement particularly the
quality group, leadership and through chairing of several serious case reviews (SCRs).
The Designated Doctor and Named Safeguarding GPs lead on many areas; chairing the
health sub group and steering the improvement of the Pan Dorset Bruising Protocol, with the
additional focus on disabled children and the use of skeletal x-rays in line with new national
guidance. The Named GPs also provide expert advice and are fully embedded within the
local and national agenda for safeguarding children. Themes from the section 11 audit of
safeguarding have been integrated into primary care to improve the quality of safeguarding
for adults and children in a constructive way, with appropriate and proportionate intervention.
Two front line Dorset GPs have been praised for the quality of the reports and changes
made post SCR’s. The supervision sessions and training provided to the front line staff
supports change and development.
This year has seen a number of SCRs. The key learning points identified relate to
adolescents’ risk taking behaviour, need for additional training to raise awareness of sexual
abuse, interfamilial abuse and the link between domestic abuse and adult mental health. To
ensure this learning improves practice, partnership learning is led by us and this model has
been recognised nationally with the Designated Nurse requested to present at a national
safeguarding training event in April 2018.
Safeguarding service specifications for our commissioned providers have been developed
by CCG commissioners, with guidance from the Designated Nurses, outlining clear service
standards consistent with the requirements of the Children Act 1989/2004. The recent peer
section 11 audit evidenced the leadership, improvement and enthusiasm from each health
provider. A key work stream during this year has been to ensure that we have effective skills
across the health system in recognising signs of sexual exploitation, missing children and
neglect with a particular focus on mental health services.
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The establishing of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) continues to develop to
ensure we have an effective model of service delivery for the Dorset health economy, with
health services working alongside Police and all three Local Authorities in a single
safeguarding hub. We have supported leadership and development to key safeguarding
leads from all health providers to ensure a pan Dorset approach to safeguarding children
and families.
Our Governing Body has received training and receives regular reports which allow the
opportunity to consider the actions required from local SCR reports, changes to the national
and local programmes in order to safeguard children in line with CQC and core standards for
safeguarding and children in care.
LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN
Looked after children (LAC) and young people share many of the same health risks and
problems as their peers, but often to a greater degree. They often enter care with a worse
level of health than their peers, due to experience of and the impact of poverty, abuse and
neglect. Longer term outcomes for looked after children remain worse than their peers.
As per the revised guidance Promoting the Health and Wellbeing of Looked After Children
(2015), we are statutorily responsible for commissioning specialist LAC health services to
meet the health needs of these vulnerable children. This includes specific responsibilities for
Dorset LAC wherever they are placed. We, along with our Local Authority colleagues and
NHS England, monitor and review arrangements and services against agreed quality
standards to ensure a robust service is in place.
Following our significant financial investment into the looked after children (LAC) health
service, 2017/18 has seen a busy year working with our commissioned providers in
implementing a new service model. Robust reporting mechanisms are now in place which
provide assurance that the CCG is meeting its statutory responsibilities. The Designated
Nurse for LAC attends the Local Authority Corporate Parenting Boards and progress is also
reported to the Health and Wellbeing Boards.
The new service model has been positively recognised by NHS England and the Designated
LAC Nurse has been approached by several regions across the South of England to provide
peer support by sharing good practice.
The views of looked after children and young people, their parents and/or carer’s in relation
to the service is routinely gathered. Feedback is analysed at source to identify themes in
order to inform and develop practice. Below is an example of the word cloud the LAC service
feedback has generated to date. Currently 98.1% of service users would recommend the
Dorset LAC Health service.
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For 2018/19, focus will be on fully implementing the new service model with a key focus on
meeting the emotional wellbeing and mental health needs of these children and young
people.
CARE HOMES
Throughout this year our quality assurance team have continued to work collaboratively with
the three local authorities. The services visited include independent care providers,
domiciliary agencies, learning disability residential homes and supported living providers.
We have also successfully worked in a multi-disciplinary agency approach which has
ensured that service users have had a satisfactory outcome.
In November the fifth annual care home conference was held, the key note speaker was
William Roberts who is a national lead for Enhanced Health in Care Homes and the new
care models programme. William is currently supporting Dorset with an enhanced care home
work stream led by the integrated community services, frailty and end of life team within the
CCG.
The conference was also an opportunity for two of the leaders from the independent care
sector who recently attended a leadership programme within Dorset, to share their learning
and demonstrate how they used knowledge gained to inform their practice.
The quality assurance team continue to work closely with both internal and external
stakeholders. This ensures best practice and quality improvements are promoted in areas
such as management and prevention of pressure ulcers, safe swallowing assessments,
management and prevention of contractures, understanding of the Mental Capacity Act, care
planning and safe staffing levels.
CONTINUING HEALTHCARE
The increasing demands of delivering NHS funded continuing healthcare and funded nursing
care to a sustained level of quality care provision, coupled with cost effectiveness remains
challenging.
The children’s continuing healthcare team has been working as part of the main continuing
healthcare team for the past year and is now fully integrated with those of the adult team.
The panel process has been streamlined, ensuring that timely decisions are reached for all
applications, and is now much better positioned to meet an increasing demand in services.
During 2017 the National Framework was revised by the Department of Health, with
implementation due to be complete by 1 October 2018.
Work continues with the three local authorities in order to ensure more integrated and joint
working arrangements are in place to help meet the rising demand on all health and social
care services. In conjunction with this, the continuing healthcare team are working closely
with the acute hospitals to ensure timely interventions and assessments are in place to meet
the delayed transfer of care challenges faced by all agencies.
Despite both the hard work within the continuing healthcare team, and the partnership
working with the three local authorities, there continues to be high levels of pressure to
remain within the set budget for 2017/18. Although all measures to ensure robust financial
management are in place, the increasing referrals for both continuing healthcare and funded
nursing care present challenges to achieve financial balance. The expenditure for adult
continuing healthcare remains broadly within budget, however due to an increase in
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complexity within the children’s continuing healthcare there is an increased cost pressure on
the overall budget position.
MEDICINES MANAGEMENT AND PRESCRIBING
In 2017/18 the medicines team continued to review and update the formulary with new and
updated sections. This includes a formulary for ancillary products associated with Stoma
management and an updated wound formulary, both developed with a multidisciplinary
approach with specialist nurses in their fields.
Considerable work has been undertaken to identify areas where there are savings to be
made in prescribing and this includes working with the NHS England requirements for
reducing prescribing of low value products.
The medicines team ensures we meet statutory responsibilities for making medicines with a
positive National Institute for Health and Care Excellence technical appraisal (NICE TA)
available to services that we commission within 90 days of publishing. During 2017/18,
15 medicines received positive appraisals and two received negative appraisals which are
both our commissioning responsibility.
We achieved national priority measures for the safer use of antibiotics through reductions in
prescribing of all antibiotics, as well as specific antibiotics known to cause problems with
resistance. Work continues to meet the quality premium measures for antibiotics and
promote reduced prescribing of antibiotics in line with antimicrobial resistance prevention.
The medicines team undertook 96 visits to member practices in the CCG to advise on safe
and cost effective prescribing, benchmarking, as well as supporting the medicines and
prescribing agenda at locality level. Specific safety promotion items for 2017/18 include
audits of dual antiplatelet therapy and use of quinine, following safety concerns.
In ensuring that medicines that are prescribed are adequately monitored and used safely,
practices have been encouraged to undertake medication reviews, to ensure that where
there is polypharmacy that it is appropriate, safe and monitored. Work is underway to get
good polypharmacy principles embedded across the system.
Increasingly practices are employing pharmacists to support their work in managing repeat
prescribing systems and running clinics to improve medicines optimisation and formulary
adherence. The medicines team are increasingly engaging with this group of practice
pharmacists to share information and develop and network. Further waves of NHS England
funding should lead to greater numbers of these pharmacists in practices.
In partnership with NHS England – South (Wessex) a service for improving adherence to
medication in complex mental health patients is being piloted in community pharmacies in
two areas of the county.
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
The Freedom of Information Act 2000 provides members of the public with a general right of
access to recorded information held by us, subject to certain conditions and exemptions.
This includes, but is not limited to, how we commission services, how much they cost and
our targets and results. Anyone can request information recorded and held by us, and by
law we must respond to the requests. We are committed to the disclosure of information
requested under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act. This is in line with our open and
honest approach to dealing with requests for information, and also our responsibility as a
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public organisation. Examples of requests cover areas such as, continuing health care,
personal health budgets, mental health, CCG funding and contracts, sustainability and
transformation plan and CCG policies such as IVF.
The information assurance framework monitors performance in relation to responding to FOI
requests in order to maintain and improve compliance with national legal requirements and
CCG guidelines. The compliance rate with the statutory timeframe for FOI responses (within
20 working days) was 97% in 2017/18 which was an improvement on 2016/17.
Table 9: Freedom of information

Year
2017/18
2016/17

Freedom of Information request responses
No. of requests received
No. responded to by timescale
315
305
336
316

%
97%
94%

We are required to proactively publish and maintain a Publication Scheme. This sets out key
documents we have published under the classifications outlined by the Information
Commissioner’s Office. This is available via our website.
We have also received 10 requests under the Data Protection Act 1998 and Access to
Health Records Act 1990, 10 of which were responded to within the statutory timescales.
NHS CONSTITUTION
The NHS Constitution sets out rights for patients, public and staff. It outlines NHS
commitments as well as the responsibilities that the public, patients and staff owe to one
another to ensure that the NHS operates fairly and effectively. The rights are underpinned by
a series of pledges, one of which is that patients have the right to access NHS services, and
will not be refused access on unreasonable grounds.
We aim to commission services in a way that sets out clearly what patients, the public and
staff can expect from the NHS and in return, what the NHS expects from them. A working
group within the CCG has identified lots of good practice within the organisation which
demonstrates consideration to the Constitution’s principles, values, rights and pledges.
We monitor performance against the Constitution access targets throughout the year, and
this performance is reported to the Quality Group and the Governing Body. Further
information on our performance in respect of the NHS Constitution can be seen on page 8.
INFORMATION GOVERNANCE
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. This is supported by an Information Governance Toolkit, the annual
submission of which provides assurances to Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, other
organisations and individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely,
efficiently and effectively.
For 2017/18 we achieved 75 % compliance against these standards (NHS Digital IG Toolkit).
The importance placed on information governance can be seen throughout our organisation,
and is supported by the Accountable Officer, Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) who is
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the Secretary and General Counsel and the Caldicott Guardian who is the Director of
Nursing and Quality.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems and
processes in place to help protect person, employee and corporate information. We have
established an Information Governance Management Framework and developed processes
and procedures in line with the Information Governance Toolkit. As part of this process for
2017/18 we have focused on the mapping of data flows and the legal basis for holding any
personal information.
In 2017/18, we did not have any confidentiality incidents which required reporting to the
Information Commissioners Office but did have 28 internal/minor data incidents which were
reported to, and investigated by, the Information Governance Group.
We have ensured all staff undertake annual Information Governance Training which covers
induction and refresher training, achieving 100% compliance in its staff training requirement.
Further information can be found in our Governance Statement on page 69.
FRIENDS AND FAMILY TEST
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) continues to be collected across acute, community and
GP services. The FFT is a tool that supports obtaining feedback from people using NHS
services.
The feedback across Dorset remains consistently good with high levels of satisfaction
reported in emergency departments, inpatient services, maternity services and outpatient
units.
Table 10: Friends and family test

Provider name
A&E responses

Inpatients

Outpatients

Ambulance ‘See and
Treat’
Community providers
Maternity
Mental health

Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital
Royal Bournemouth Hospital
South Western Ambulance

Percentage likely to
recommend
88%
90%
95%
99%
98%
99%
93%
99%
98%
96%

Dorset HealthCare
Dorset County Hospital
Poole Hospital

97%
96%
94%

Dorset HealthCare

97%
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COMPLAINTS
As part of our commitment to continually improve the quality of local health services we
value all feedback we receive, either as a complaint or praise. This information is used to
support us in managing our performance and highlighting any areas where we could make
improvements.
All complaints received are responded to individually and through the CCG concerns,
resolutions and learning group, the lessons learned from complaints are used to improve
practice, systems and processes. This results in an improved experience for all.
To ensure that complaints are viewed and monitored at the highest level the:



CCG Chief Officer reviews all complaints responses;
Audit and Quality Committee receive regular reports detailing complaints received and
how they have been handled.

Our complaints policy and procedure has adopted the principles as outlined in the
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling,
principles of good administration and principles of remedy.
Our professional practice lead works closely with local health service providers, monitoring
the standard of complaints handling, ensuring all complainants are informed of their statutory
rights under the NHS Constitution. Which includes being given the information of the NHS
complaints service provided by a local advocacy team and the option to take their complaint
to the Parliamentary and Health Ombudsman if they are not satisfied with the way the
complaint has been dealt with.
In addition, our professional practice lead offers support to assist in the continuous
improvement of complaint handling. For example, offering support and advice on how a
complaint can be handled and the style of communication used when responding to a
complainant.
During the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, 162 complaints were received. Of these 85
related to the CCG and 77 to providers of services. The trends of complaints received
relating to the CCG only, are demonstrated in the table below.
Table 11: Complaint trends

Trends relating to Dorset CCG
Continuing Healthcare
Individual Patient Treatment
General

Number
54
4
27

INVOLVING PATIENTS AND THE PUBLIC IN SHAPING HEALTH SERVICES
We are committed to putting the views of local people at the heart of the NHS and to making
sure that they are involved in the planning of local services. Participation helps us to
understand people’s needs, improve access to services and reduce inequalities in health.
To ensure this happens we have a tried and tested process for public participation and
engagement. This process has been developed in line with national guidance, good practice
and our Duty to Involve. It includes a number of stages to promote a continuous cycle of
meaningful engagement: audience analysis, representation, gathering insight,
communication planning, engagement/consultation on proposed changes and equality
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impact assessment. The process is reviewed regularly to take account of changes to policy
and national guidance and is available on our website: www.dorsetsvision.nhs.uk
Professional responsibility for leading, planning and delivering activity sits with the
Engagement and Communications team, which is part of the Engagement and Development
Directorate. However, the CCG encourages the view that engagement and good
communications are part of everyone’s job.
Key milestones during 2017/18 included:














achieving Best Practice accreditation from the Consultation Institute for the Clinical
Services Review public consultation and decision-making process;
feeding back the CSR and mental health acute care pathways consultation responses
and decisions to staff, key stakeholders and the public;
sharing the learning from our CSR consultation with national audiences;
supporting public engagement and involvement in the implementation of the CSR
proposals in key areas such as North Dorset;
setting up new structures to ensure that engagement takes place to support the delivery
of our Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) as we move towards becoming an
integrated care system, eg STP public engagement group, STP engagement leads
network;
developing a network of GP-based patient participation groups (PPGs) across Dorset
and producing a toolkit to encourage the growth of PPGs;
providing engagement support for primary care transformation plans across 13 localities
in Dorset;
supporting engagement and patient/public participation in reviews of the following
services: dementia, maternity (Better Births), community services for children, cancer,
integrated urgent and emergency care, improved access to general practice services;
developing and refining digital platforms for public engagement including social media
channels and our dorsetsvision and Staywell websites;
implementing a new customer relations management system;
working with organisations such as the Kings Fund, NHSE and Wessex Voices to
explore the development of a methodology to capture patient experience insight and
information in the planning and commissioning of local services;
continuing to build relationships with key stakeholder groups such as Healthwatch
Dorset, Dorset Race Equality Council, disability groups, councillors and MPs.

For more detailed information on our work on involving patients and the public see the
Annual Report on Patient and Public Participation (1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018) on our
website.
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
Standard report format, produced by the Sustainability Development Unit. Figures are as
provided by NHS Property Services Limited, unless available from the CCG’s own records.
Where there are nil values, no figures have been provided to the CCG.
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in
a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and procure
healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart and
efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the
most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the
immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost of natural resources. Spending
money well and considering the social and environmental impacts is enshrined in the Public
Services (Social Value) Act (2012). We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local
communities and the environment by working hard to minimise our footprint.
In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, NHS Dorset CCG has the following
sustainability mission statement located in our sustainable development management plan
(SDMP): " Sustainable, Resilient, Healthy People and Places."
MODELLED CARBON FOOTPRINT
Resulting in an estimated total carbon footprint of 269,924 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent emissions (tCO₂e). The majority of this impact is from the services we
commission.
Table 12: CO2 emissions

Category
Core
Commissioning
Supply chair
Community

Figure 3: Proportions of carbon footprint

tCO2e
377
216,560
26,335
106

% tCO2e
0%
90%
10%
0%

CLIMATE CHANGE ACT TARGET
Through the services it commissions and contracts it holds with suppliers of health care
services the CCG remains committed to contributing to achieving the remaining system wide
28% reduction in carbon emission required to meet the legally binding national 2020 Climate
Change Act target.
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Figure 4: Climate Change Act target

POLICIES
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our
process and procedures sustainability features.
Table 13: Sustainability areas

Area
Procurement (environmental & social aspects)
Suppliers' impact
Business Cases
Travel

Is sustainability
considered?
Yes
Yes
No
Yes

One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of an
Sustainable Development and Management Plan (SDMP). An update to our SDMP is
required because it has not been approved by the board in the last 12 months.
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT).
The last time we used the Sustainable Development Assessment Tool (SDAT) was in April
2018, scoring 36.
Our organisation is starting to contribute to the Gender Equality, Reduced Inequalities and
Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions sustainability delivery groups at a local level.
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the
healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of
heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our
board approved plans address the potential need to adapt the delivery of the organisation's
activities and infrastructure to climate change and adverse weather events
We have not assessed the social and environmental impacts for the trust.
We fully support the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human
trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement has been developed for the
financial year ending 31 March 2018. See page 59 for our statement on Modern Slavery Act.
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Our organisation evaluates the environmental and socio-economic opportunities during our
procurement process. Through the procurement and contract management processes the
CCG seeks providers' assurance on their implementation of strategies to reduce
environmental and socio-economic risk.
ADAPTATION
Events such as heatwaves, cold snaps and flooding are expected to increase as a result of
climate change. To ensure that the CCG would continue to meet the needs of our local
population during such events we have developed and implemented a number of policies
and protocols in partnership with other local agencies these include our Emergency
Preparedness and Response Plans.
GREEN SPACE AND BIODIVERSITY
Currently the organisation has not got a formal approach to unlock the opportunity and
benefits of natural capital within a healthcare environment in supporting the health and
wellbeing of patient, staff and the community and to protect biodiversity
Consideration will be given to this in developing the Dorset Integrated Care System.
PARTNERSHIPS
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy
framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a
sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to be
provided in part through contracting mechanisms. This approach will be further augmented
as the plans for an Integrated Care System for Dorset are implemented.
Strategic partnerships are already established with the following organisations: Local
Councils and local Provider organisations. For commissioned services Table 14 shows the
sustainability comparator for our providers.
Table 14: Provider sustainability comparator

Organisation Name

SDMP

On track for 34% reduction

Dorset County Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

Dorset Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

Poole Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust

Yes

1. On track to meet
target
2. Target included but
not on track to be met
2. Target included but
not on track to be met

The Royal Bournemouth and
Christchurch Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

Yes

1. On track to meet
target

GCC

Healthy
travel
plan

Adaptation

SD
Reporting
score

No

No

Yes

Excellent

No

No

No

Good

No

No

No

Good

No

Yes

Yes

Excellent

More information on these measures is available here: www.sduhealth.org.uk/policystrategy/reporting/organisational-summaries.aspx
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As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public
health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction
from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to supersede this target by reducing our carbon
emissions 10% by 2019/20 using 2009/10 as the baseline year.
Commissioned activity
Table 15: Commissioned activity

Organisation Name

Dorset County Hospital
NHS Foundation Trust
Dorset Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
Poole Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
The Royal Bournemouth
and Christchurch
Hospitals NHS
Foundation Trust

Building
energy use

Building
energy use
per FTE

0-10%
increase
>10%
decrease
>10%
decrease

2.9
1.7
2.7

0-10%
decrease

3.2

Water

Water use
per FTE

0-20%
decrease
Data not
available
0-20%
decrease

28.1
87.2
34.6

0-20%
decrease

31.3

Percent high
cost waste

Waste cost
increase

<=75% high
cost
<=75% high
cost
>97% high
cost

>20% decrease
>20% decrease
>20% increase

>89% high
cost

>20% increase

More information on is available on the Sustainable Development Unit website.
TRAVEL
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting
active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the
services we commission.
Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the
board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to
improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness.
Table 16: Staff travel

Category
Staff commute

Mode
miles

Active and public transport

Total cost of business travel

2016/17

2017/18

262,739

292,144

338,137

94.24

95.02

105.58

120.49

miles

549,647

517,991

472,317

511,002

tCO2e

201.96

187.32

171.51

183.35

miles

60,469

33,834

47,727

65,726

5.45

2.90

4.43

5.92

0

0

0

0

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

0.00
0.00

tCO2e
Owned Electric and PHEV
mileage

2015/16

256,485

tCO2e
Business Travel

2014/15

miles
tCO2e
£
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Performance

Business Travel has shown an increase in 2017/18 which is a reflection of the system wide
engagement and transformation work that has been undertaken in year to support the
development of the Dorset Integrated Care System.
ENERGY
NHS Dorset CCG has spent £63,392 on energy in 2017/18, which is a 8.8% increase on
energy spend from last year.
Table 17: Energy

Resource
Gas
Oil
Coal
Electricity

Use (kWh)

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

35,268

51,119

99,283

104,438

tCO2e

7

11

21

22

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

0

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

0

201,541

122,944

256,089

348,127

125

71

132

155

Use (kWh)

0

0

0

0

tCO2e

0

0

0

0

132

81

153

177

£28,266

£20,350

£58,276

£63,392

Use (kWh)
tCO2e

Green Electricity

2014/15

Total Energy CO2e
Total Energy Spend

Figure 5: Carbon emissions – energy use

Performance

The increase in the cost of energy reflects industry wide changes.
0% of our electricity use comes from renewable sources.
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Commentary

The CCG is engaging with NHS Property Services to gain a greater understanding of the
drivers for the increase in energy usage with a view to developing mitigating strategies.
WASTE

Table 18: Waste

Waste
Recycling/ reuse

2014/15
(tonnes)
tCO2e

Other

(tonnes)
tCO2e

Landfill

(tonnes)
tCO2e

Total Waste (tonnes)

2016/17

2017/18

0

115

115

180

0.00

2.30

2.42

3.92

0

0

0

0

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0

155

156

140

0.00

37.88

48.21

48.23

0

270

271

320

43%

43%

56%

40.18

50.62

52.15

% Recycled or Re-used
Total Waste tCO2e

2015/16

0.00

Figure 6: Waste breakdown

Performance

The CCG is showing a steady increase in the amount of waste recycled and initiatives to
reduce total waste are being developed.
Commentary

The CCG continues to raise awareness about waste and how to reduce usage whilst and
increase recycling.
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RE-USE
The re-use of goods and community equipment in the NHS has several key co-benefits,
reducing cost to the NHS, it also reduces emissions from procuring and delivery of new
goods and can provide social value when items are re-used in the community.
Table 19: Re-use

Category

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

0
0

0
0

0
0

£4,178,530
£2,100,308

Internal reuse of durable goods
External reuse of durable goods
Commentary

The CCG actively monitors the re-use of community equipment and the above figures
represent just under 10% of the total budget.
PAPER
The movement to a Paperless NHS can be supported by staff reducing the use of paper at
all levels, this reduces the environmental impact of paper, reducing cost of paper to the NHS
and can help improve data security.
Table 20: Paper

Paper
Volume used
Carbon emissions

2014/15
Tonnes
tCO2e

2015/16

0
0

2016/17

0
0

2017/18
0
0

6
5

Commentary

The CCG now monitors paper usage and encourages a reduction in printing through
technological initiatives such as Office 365 applications (SharePoint, Skype, sharing
'desktops') and digitalisation of communications.
FINITE RESOURCE USE - WATER
Water
Mains

2014/15
m

3

538

tCO2e
Water and sewage spend

0.49
£

-

2015/16

2016/17

962

2,304

0.88
£ -

2017/18
2,994

2.10
£

-

2.73
£

-

Performance

The CCG is engaging with NHS Property Services to gain a greater understanding of the
drivers for the increase in water usage with a view to developing mitigating strategies.
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BENCHMARKING
The Clinical Services Review and preparation to become an Integrated Care System (ICS)
has resulted in a significant increase in commissioning activity that is not expected to be
sustained in the longer term. Implementation of the ICS from 1st April 2018 is anticipated to
hold our footprint at these levels as we actively engage with our community. However,
internal actions (such as use of video conferencing, Skype etc) to mitigate this will continue.
Figure 7: Organisation carbon footprint by population

Carbon Emissions (kgCO2e)

Organisation Carbon Footprint by population
400
350
300
250
200
150
100
50
0

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018

Community
Supply chain
Commissioning
Core
Benchmark (CCG)
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
The purpose of this section is to meet key accountability requirements. It is in three
sections:




corporate governance report, which includes the Members’ report, Governing Body
report and Annual Governance Statement;
remuneration and staff report;
Parliamentary accountability and audit report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
MEMBERS’ REPORT
Our CCG consists of 86 member general practices, which are grouped into 13 localities
within three clusters of West, Mid and East Dorset. Member practices can be seen in the
table below.
Table 21: Member practices by locality

Locality
West Dorset

Mid Dorset

North Dorset

Weymouth and
Portland

Practice
































West Cluster
Barton House Surgery, Beaminster
Bridport Medical Centre, Bridport
Charmouth Medical Practice, Charmouth
Lyme Bay Medical Centre, Lyme Regis
Lyme Regis Medical Centre, Lyme Regis
Portesham Practice, Portesham
Tollerford Practice, Maiden Newton
The Atrium Health Centre, Dorchester
Cerne Abbas Surgery, Cerne Abbas
Poundbury Doctors Surgery, Dorchester
Fordington Surgery, Dorchester
Prince of Wales Surgery, Dorchester
Puddletown Surgery, Puddletown
Queens Avenue, Dorchester
Milton Abbas Practice, Milton Abbas
Blackmore Vale Partnership
Apples Medical Centre, Sherborne
Bute house Surgery, Sherborne
Eagle House Surgery, Blandford
Gillingham Medical Centre, Gillingham
Newland Surgery, Sherborne
Stalbridge Surgery, Stalbridge
Whitecliff Surgery, Blandford
Yetminster Surgery, Yetminster
Abbotsbury Road Surgery, Weymouth
Bridges Medical Centre, Weymouth
Cross Road Surgery, Weymouth
Dorchester Road Surgery, Weymouth
Royal Crescent Surgery, Weymouth
Royal Manor Surgery, Portland
Wyke Regis Surgery, Weymouth
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East Dorset

Poole Bay

Poole Central

Poole North

Purbeck

North
Bournemouth

Central
Bournemouth

East Bournemouth

Christchurch
























































Mid Cluster
Barcellos Family Practice
Cranborne Surgery, Wimborne
Old Dispensary, Wimborne
Orchid House Surgery, Ferndown
Penny’s Hill Surgery, Ferndown
Quarter Jack Surgery, Wimborne
Verwood Surgery, Verwood
Walford Mill Surgery, Wimborne
West Moors Group Practice, West Moors
Heatherview Medical Centre, Poole
Lilliput Surgery, Poole
Parkstone Towers, Poole
Poole Road Medical Centre, Poole
Wessex Road Surgery, Poole
Westbourne Medical Centre, Poole
Adam Practice, Poole
Carlisle House Surgery, Poole
Family Medical Services (Dr Newman’s Surgery), Poole
Evergreen Oak Surgery, Poole
Longfleet House Surgery, Poole
Poole Town Surgery, Poole
Rosemary Medical Centre, Poole
Birchwood Medical Centre, Poole
Canford Heath Group Practice, Poole
Hadleigh Practice, Poole
Harvey Practice, Poole
Bere Regis Surgery, Bere Regis
Corfe Castle Surgery, Corfe Castle
Sandford Surgery, Wareham
Swanage Medical Centre, Swanage
The Wellbridge Surgery, Wool
Wareham Surgery, Wareham
East Cluster
Alma Partnership, Bournemouth
Banks and Bearwood Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Kinson Road Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Leybourne Surgery, Bournemouth
Talbot Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Village Surgery, Poole
Denmark Road Medical Centre, Bournemouth
James Fisher Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Moordown Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Panton Practice, Bournemouth
St Albans Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Woodlea House Surgery, Bournemouth
Marine and Oakridge Partnership, Bournemouth
Beaufort Road Surgery, Bournemouth
Littledown Surgery, Bournemouth
Providence Surgery, Bournemouth
Shelley Manor and Holdenhurst Medical Centre, Bournemouth
Southbourne Surgery, Bournemouth
Christchurch Medical Centre, Christchurch
Farmhouse Surgery, Christchurch
Grove Surgery, Christchurch
Highcliffe Surgery, Christchurch
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 Stour Surgery, Christchurch

GOVERNING BODY REPORT
Our Governing Body is made up of 13 Locality Chairs, a Chair, an Accountable Officer, a
Chief Finance Officer, three Lay Members, one Nurse Lead and one Secondary Care Doctor
Lead. Our Chair is Dr Forbes Watson and the Accountable Officer is Tim Goodson.
The Governing Body has a responsibility to ensure there are appropriate healthcare services
for the people of Dorset. All GP practices belong to a locality, which is a geographical area,
and each locality has a GP Chair who is a member of the CCG Governing Body.
Composition of our Governing Body throughout the year and up to the signing of this annual
report and accounts can be seen in Table 22.
Table 22: Governing Body composition and term of office
Name

Role
Date appointed

Dr Forbes
Watson
Tim Goodson
Paul Vater
Stuart Hunter
Dr Ben Sharland
Dr Jenny Bubb
Dr Colin
Davidson
Dr Nick Evans
Dr David Haines
Dr Karen Kirkham

Dr Blair Millar
Dr Ni’man
Mufeed
Dr Ravin
Ramtohal
Dr David
Richardson
Dr Ben Sharland
Dr Stephen
Tomkins
Dr Simon Watkins
Dr Simone Yule
Elaine Spencer
Teresa Hensman
David Jenkins

Jacqueline Swift

George Thomson
Mary Armitage

Term of Office
Expiry date

Re-elected/ reappointed
1 April 2016

Expiry date
31 March 2019

Chair

1 April 2013

31 March 2016

Chief Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Locality Chair for Central
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for Mid
Dorset
Locality Chair for East
Dorset
Locality Chair for Poole
Bay
Locality Chair for Purbeck

1 April 2013
1 April 2013
30 May 2017
1 September
2016
1 April 2013

On-going
29 May 2017
On-going
31 August 2019
31 March 2016

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

1 April 2013

31 March 2016

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

1 October 2013

1 October 2016

Locality Chair for
Weymouth and Portland
and Assistant Clinical Chair
Locality Chair for West
Dorset
Locality Chair for East
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for
Christchurch
Locality Chair for Poole
North
Locality Chair for Central
Bournemouth
Locality Chair for
Christchurch
Locality Chair for Poole
Central
Locality Chair for North
Dorset
Registered Nurse Member
Lay Member Lead for
Governance
Lay Member Lead for
Patient and Public
Involvement and Deputy
CCG Chair
Lay Member Lead for
Primary Care
Commissioning
Secondary Care
Consultant Member
Secondary Care
Consultant Member

1 April 2013

30 September
2016
31 March 2016

1 April 2016

30 September
2019
31 March 2019

1 April 2013

31 March 2016

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

10 May 2017

9 May 2020

1 August 2015

31 July 2018

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

1 January 2015

1 April 2016

28 February
2017
30 September
2018
31 March 2019

1 July 2016
1 April 2013

30 June 2019
31 March 2016

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

1 April 2013

31 March 2016

1 April 2016

31 March 2019

26 May 2015

25 May 2018

1 April 2016

10 May 2017

20 September
2017

19 September
2020

1 October 2015
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The Governing Body also has regular attendance from the Director of Nursing and Quality,
Director of Service Delivery, Director of Engagement and Development, Chief System
Integration Officer, Director of Primary and Community Care and the Secretary and General
Counsel.
The Governing Body has three lay members who have non-clinical backgrounds (local
government, audit and commerce) who maintain an independence from the operations of the
CCG to balance the clinical contribution to the Governing Body and its committees.
Together with the two additional Independent Lay Members of the Audit and Quality
Committee they provide independent critical challenge to the managerial and clinical input.
Attendance records for the Governing Body and its committees for 2017/18 can be found on
our website.
The relationship between our Governing Body, committees and commissioning support
services can be seen in Figure 8 below.
Figure 8: Governance structure

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by David Jenkins, Deputy CCG Chair and Lay
Member Lead for Patient and Public Involvement. Further details of other members can be
seen in the remuneration report page 75.
The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Remuneration Committee which
provides further detail of the committee.
The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2017/18 have been:




review of Governing Body and clinical leadership working arrangements;
formal consideration of executive pay in the future context of integrated care system;
consideration of our approach to executive and directorate level structures.

AUDIT AND QUALITY CO MMITTEE

ACCOUNTABILITY

As part of the governance structure, we have in place an Audit and Quality Committee which
is responsible for providing the Governing Body with assurance across the range of CCG
activities.
The Audit and Quality Committee is chaired by Teresa Hensman, Lay Member Lead for
Governance, who has relevant and recent financial experience. Other members throughout
the year, and up to the signing of this annual report and accounts (unless stated otherwise),
can be seen below:







Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member;
Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member;
David Jenkins, Lay Member Lead for Patient and Public Involvement and Deputy CCG
Chair; due to a conflict of interest he stepped down from this Committee in October
2017 as from that date he chaired the newly established STP Finance and Investment
Group;
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member;
Dr Simone Yule, Governing Body GP Member.

The Committee reviews its terms of reference and its effectiveness annually and
recommends to the Governing Body any changes required as a result of the review. In
2017/18, the Audit and Quality Committee discharged its responsibilities by:














reviewing and monitoring quality of commissioned service and outcomes for patients;
reviewing and recommending the CCG’s draft financial statements and the
external auditors detailed reports thereon;
reviewing the effectiveness of the external audit process;
reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process, taking into account relevant UK professional and
regulatory requirements;
reviewing the external auditors’ annual work plan, including its non-audit services and
fees;
reviewing the risks associated with the CCG’s business and management thereon;
reviewing the policies and procedures for all work related to fraud and corruption;
reviewing investigations as a result of the instigation of the CCG’s whistle blowing
policy;
reviewing the CCG’s system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting to the
Governing Body on the results of the review and receiving regular updates on key
processes for management of the risks facing the CCG;
reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function;
reviewing the internal audit work programme, internal audit reports and periodic
progress reports on its work during the year;
ran an internal audit tender during 2017/18;
reviewing governance and risk management arrangements to ensure appropriate
processes are in place, further information on this can be seen on page 74.

The Audit and Quality Committee has wide powers to establish special investigations in the
event that any wrongdoing is brought to its notice, in particular, in the case of defalcations,
fraud or theft.
The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Audit and Quality Committee
which provides detail of the committee.
The key highlight of the work of the committee during 2017/18 has been reviewing and
recommending, for approval, revisions to the assurance framework.
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The Chair of the Audit and Quality Committee also acts as the Conflict of Interest Guardian.
PRIMARY CARE COMMISS IONING COMMITTEE
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee is chaired by Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member
Lead of the Primary Care Commissioning Committee.
The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Primary Care Commissioning
Committee which provides detail of the committee.
The key highlights of the work of the committee during 2017/18 have been:






further development of workforce planning and an enhanced role for the Dorset Primary
Care Workforce centre;
establishing local public health profiles and joint working with Public Health teams in
local communities as part of the prevention at scale plans;
monitoring the performance of primary care practitioners;
monitoring struggling practices to ensure continued service provision;
monitoring and where appropriate, approving practice mergers.

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE
The Clinical Commissioning Committee is chaired by Dr Forbes Watson, Chair of NHS
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.
The terms of reference can be found on our website for the Clinical Commissioning
Committee which provides detail of the committee.
The key highlight of the work of the committee during 2017/18 has been to determine clinical
priorities.
DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
Pursuant to our values of openness and honesty and statutory guidance, it is a requirement
that all member practices of the CCG, Governing Body members, GPs who are paid to
provide services to the CCG and all staff declare any interests that they have that may
conflict with the interests of the CCG itself. These can be found on our website.
PERSONAL DATA RELATED INCIDENTS
We have in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of level 2 Information
Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. Further information is available in
our Governance Statement page 69.
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GOVERNING BODY, LAY MEMBERS AND SENIOR MANAGER PROFILES
Profiles detailing professional backgrounds of the following staff groups, who have been in
post during 2017/18 can be found on our website:




Governing Body member profiles;
lay members profiles;
senior management profiles.

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO AUDITORS
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time of the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:



so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s
auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make him or
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is
aware of it.

MODERN SLAVERY ACT
NHS Dorset CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the financial year
ending 31 March 2017 is published on our website.
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed the Chief
Officer to be the Accountable Officer of NHS Dorset CCG.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include responsibilities for:








the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is
answerable;
for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to
ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction);
for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities);
the relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public Money;
ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended));
ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J of
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
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Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:





observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group Accounting
Manual issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and
explain any material departures in the financial statements; and
prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, and I have properly discharged the responsibilities
set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money
and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I also confirm that:




as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the CCG’s auditors
are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to
have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information;
that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and
that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments
required for determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018

ACCOUNTABILITY

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by NHS England
on [1 April 2013] under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the
provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. The
CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such
extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2017, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not subject to any directions from
NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006.
SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of
the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this
governance statement.
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AND EFFECTIVENESS
The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good governance as
are relevant to it.
The Membership has retained the power to make changes to its core constitution but has
delegated the majority of the decision making functions to the CCG’s Governing Body. The
Governing Body has, in turn, delegated some decision making to the organisation’s
committees. Further information relating to the delegated responsibility to each of the
committees is detailed in the Annual Report and Accounts 2017/18 and terms of reference
(see pages 56 to 58).
UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to comply with the UK Code of
Corporate Governance. However, we have reported on our corporate governance
arrangements by drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK
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Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the Clinical Commissioning
Group and best practice.
From 1 April 2016 and up to the date of signing this statement, the CCG has complied with
the provisions set out in the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group’s Code of Governance and
applied the principles of the Code.
New governance structures have been introduced which take into account the
transformation work streams under the Sustainability and Transformation plans, which will
be instrumental in the design, engagement, commissioning and delivery of new services,
including services impacting on primary care providers.
‘Declarations of interest’ is a standing agenda item at all CCG meetings. All declarations are
recorded and, where any conflict of interest is identified, appropriate action is taken. (See
page 58.)
Under the comply or explain principle, the CCG does not comply with Statutory Guidance
issued regarding conflicts of interest and voting rights in respect of GPs on the Primary Care
Commissioning Committee. We believe that having two classes of members, one with and
one without voting rights would be detrimental to good governance. We have instead
introduced a presumption that GPs will be conflicted from voting or participation in
discussion on papers presented to the Committee unless they declare that they are not
conflicted.
DISCHARGE OF STATUTORY FUNCTION
I can confirm that the correct arrangements are in place for the discharge of statutory
functions.
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
UK Corporate Governance Code were developed with extensive expert external legal input
to ensure compliance with all the relevant legislation. The legal advice also informed the
matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can
confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any
restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.
RISK MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS AND EFFECTIVENESS
The CCG has a low appetite for operational risk. It monitors resources and quality closely to
ensure operational risks are acceptable to the organisation. The CCG however recognises
that to lead the health system, it needs to be bold and courageous, to ensure sustainability
for the future. Acknowledgement and acceptance of a higher level of risk may sometimes be
necessary to facilitate innovation in the delivery of services.
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Every activity that the CCG undertakes or commissions others to undertake on its behalf,
brings with it an element of risk that has the potential to threaten or prevent the organisation
achieving its strategic objectives. Unmanaged risk can affect people, assets, the
organisation and reputation and ultimately be of detriment to the population the CCG serves.
The process of appropriately managing identified risk helps the CCG achieve agreed
standards, reduce overall costs and maintain and enhance the standard of service provided.
The CCG is not aiming to create a risk-free environment, but rather one in which risk is
considered as a matter of course and appropriately identified, controlled and managed.
In order to achieve this aim, risk management must be part of the culture of the CCG and a
primary concern of all staff and stakeholders.
The CCG also actively deters risks through the adoption of robust counter-fraud
methodology. All clinical and non-clinical staff receives training on the identification of fraud
within the CCG. The CCG has a contract with Tiaa (as from 1 July 2016) to provide counter
fraud and security management services that have an annual work programme.
The CCG’s Executive Lead for fraud and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer, who is
responsible for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and prosecution
of subjects and the recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.
A Risk Management Framework was approved and endorsed by the shadow Governing
Body in December 2012 ready for use in April 2013 to reflect the CCG’s risk management
requirements. The Framework was subsequently updated and approved by the Directors in
May 2015, May 2017 and October 2017 (following changes to the format of the Governing
Body Assurance Framework). The next review date is March 2019.
The Risk Management Framework:








standardises and clarifies the terminology of risk management;
sets out the organisation’s objective to identify, treat and mitigate risk;
explains the roles and responsibilities within the CCG relating to risk;
defines the role and objectives of the CCG’s committees and groups;
clearly explains the tools (Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance
Framework) used by the CCG to document and manage risks to the organisation,
detailing the clear, consistent and effective risk scoring systems used;
details how the organisation has a clear view of the risks affecting each area of its
activity, how the risks are being managed and their potential impact on the organisational
objectives;
assures the public, patients and their carers and representatives, staff and partner
organisations that the CCG is committed to managing risk appropriately.

In relation to risk management the Governing Body membership and executive team are
responsible for:







articulating the organisation’s strategic objectives;
identifying risks to the achievement of its strategic objectives;
protecting the reputation of the CCG; providing leadership, active involvement and
support for risk management;
determining the risk appetite for the CCG;
ensuring the approach to risk management is consistently applied;
ensuring that there is a structure in place for the effective management of risk throughout
the CCG and that this structure is consistently applied;
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monitoring these processes on an on-going basis via the Governing Body Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register;
reviewing and approving the Risk Management Framework on a biennial basis.

The CCG ensures that risk management is embedded in all aspects of the work of the
organisation. Examples include


Equality Impact Assessments: The CCG is committed to ensuring a reduction in health
inequalities and places the needs of Dorset communities at the heart of all
commissioning functions. ‘Equality analysis’ is undertaken when commissioning
services, making changes to services, using information within services and within the
policies that are used. Additionally, the CCG publishes an annual Equality Diversity and
Inclusion Report which acknowledges the organisation’s successes in relation to equality
and diversity, as well as making recommendations for improvement;



Incident Reporting: Incident and serious incident reporting is openly encouraged from
all staff, GP practices and the provider organisations (both NHS and non-NHS) that are
commissioned by the CCG. This information is analysed and used to identify any risks
which may impact in the business of the CCG.



Stakeholder engagement: The CCG is committed to ensuring that public stakeholders
are involved in managing risks which impact on them. Examples include:
-

-

-

-

-

lay representatives regularly attend the Governing Body, Audit and Quality
Committee, Quality Group, Dorset Medicines Advisory Group and Medicines
Optimisation Group to ensure there is a voice for patients and the public;
public stakeholders are invited to join the CCG’s online Health Involvement
Network. Opportunities for involvement are regularly promoted via a newsletter,
through social media and other communication networks. Service improvement
projects routinely carry out stakeholder analyses to ensure appropriate public
stakeholders are invited to be involved and then actively seek their views to inform
service development and redesign;
the CCG has co-designed a new Sustainability Transformation Plan (STP) Public
Engagement Group with all STP partner organisations. This group comprises 26
people with lived experience across Dorset’s geography, demography and diversity
– who meet on a bi-monthly basis and provide advice, comment and challenge on
public engagement work across all STP portfolios;
to support wider public engagement in localities, particularly in relation to GP
Transformation plans, the CCG is working with practices across the county to
establish an effective network of GP Patient Participation Groups. A dedicated
Communications and Engagement Coordinator has been appointed to provide this
support.
a new STP Public Engagement Leads Network has been established. This group
meets monthly to provide advice and guidance on public engagement across all
STP portfolios, to support the STP Public Engagement Group, to network, avoid
duplication and encourage collaborative public engagement;
the CCG has active communications, media and social media teams, which work
collaboratively with all STP partner organisations and communicated regularly to
the general public – providing information on service provision, service change,
national and local campaigns and how local people can get involved and have their
say. Information is produced in a variety of accessible formats in line with the
Accessible Information Standard.
See page 43 for further information on engagement.
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CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK
The CCG’s Risk Framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the controls that
are in place to mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its strategic
objectives.
Key controls where assurance cannot be fully detailed are highlighted in blue on the
framework, with an explanation of the work in progress to achieve assurance. Monthly
updates are provided to the Executive Team of the progress against achieving full
assurance, with formal reports submitted to every Governing Body and Audit and Quality
Committee meeting. This pro-active method of managing risk is a preventative approach to
limit the risk exposure to the organisation.
The Corporate Risk Register is a risk management tool which acts as a central repository
for all current risks identified by the organisation. All risks are recorded and managed via the
Ulysses software ‘Safeguard Risk Management System’ and are mapped (where applicable)
to the strategic objectives of the CCG.
The CCG is able to assure itself of the validity of the Annual Governance Statement in a
number of ways. These are:




adherence to the Risk Management Framework;
adherence to the CCG committee structure, Committee Terms of Reference and
reporting framework;
scrutiny of the draft Annual Governance Statement (this document) by members of the
Audit and Quality Committee prior to submission and sign off at the special meeting for
closure of finances in May 2018.

Leadership for the risk management process within the CCG is provided via the Governing
Body, with responsibility delegated to the Audit and Quality Committee. The organisational
structure has been established in order to assist with this process and is described in the
following paragraphs.
All Directors are responsible for compliance with the Risk Management Framework to
ensure that remedial actions are identified and taken wherever key risks are identified within
their area of responsibility.
The Director of Quality and Nursing is the designated lead for risk and patient safety within
the CCG, and is responsible for ensuring that the Risk Management Framework is
implemented and evaluated effectively.
All Directors, Deputy Directors and Managers have delegated responsibility and authority
with regard to the management of risk within their specific areas of work, including
compliance with the Risk Management Framework and for ensuring that remedial action is
taken wherever key risks are identified within their area of responsibility, including:






the reporting of adverse incidents, together with actions to prevent or minimise a
reoccurrence;
identifying and adding risks to the Corporate Risk Register in a timely manner;
coordinating the application of resources to minimise, manage and control the likelihood
and/or impact of the risk;
undertaking risk assessments and actions implemented;
ensuring staff undertake mandatory and statutory training.
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The Head of Patient Safety and Risk, supported by the Patient Safety and Risk Manager has
delegated responsibility for:





co-ordinating and managing activities relating to clinical, corporate and financial risks for
the CCG;
monitoring risk management and patient safety within commissioned and corporate
services for the CCG;
maintaining the Corporate Risk Register and Governing Body Assurance Framework
through engagement with the Directors and Directorate Risk Leads;
the management of all Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation and Adverse Incidents.

The Patient Safety and Risk team within the CCG supports the consistent identification,
assessment and management of risk across the organisation and, as a team, are central to
the dissemination and application of best practice. Additionally, the team administers the key
administration and system processes and acts as a central resource and advisory function in
relation to risk and risk management.
Plans have now been developed to enhance the risk training available to new and existing
CCG employee through the enhancement of key training and education programmes to
ensure all staff learn through good practice. From April 2018, a bespoke ‘Managers
Essentials’ training session will be available for all new and existing managers, covering the
key components of risk management.
The cumulative contribution of the above mechanisms assists in the assurance of
commissioning services that ensure patient safety is high profile.
GLOBAL CYBER ATTACK (MAY 2017)
From 12 May 2017 until 18 May 2017 Dorset weathered the outbreak of the Wannacry
ransomware virus that swept around the globe.
The virus targeted computers that did not have up to date security patches applied or latest
antivirus patterns installed. In Dorset this situation was managed outside of the major
incident process; the CCG coordinated efforts across health and social care through the
Chief Information Officers and the third party provider for the GP estate.
The CCG Chief Information Officer coordinated the management of the Dorset
response. The impact on Dorset was limited. With regular patching cycles and up to date
antivirus patterns and firewall settings, the number of identified infected machines was less
than 10, across an estate of circa 30,000 computers.
Extra precautionary steps were taken for hospital based scanning devices whose inbuilt
computers are only accessible by the manufacturer, so steps were put in place to take these
scanners offline until their status could be fully confirmed.
The CCG review following the event highlighted a number of areas to improve in our
defences for the future - improved antivirus scanning, shorter hardware refresh cycles in
some Trusts, more frequent staff engagement and training on cyber risks.
As a system, investment is being sought in more advanced monitoring and threat detection
software and work together to tighten and enhance network security .
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RISK ASSESSMENT
The CCG has continued to develop and embed its approaches to risk management as set
out in the Annual Governance Statement (2016/17). The CCG views integrated risk
management as a key element in the successful delivery of its business and remains
committed to ensuring staff throughout the organisation are equipped to assess, manage,
escalate and report risks.
The CCG has clear governance structures with delegation of responsibility clearly articulated
in the terms of reference for committees and groups (as described on pages 56 to 58). All
committees review their effectiveness annually and there are clear lines of reporting from all
committees and groups to the Governing Body. The Governing Body through reports and
updates reviews the quality, performance and financial stewardship of the organisation. Any
risks identified relating to these areas have been recorded in the Corporate Risk Register
and/or the Governing Body Assurance Framework.
The CCG operates a ‘Declaration of Interest’ register and this is checked regularly; potential
conflicts of interest are taken into account in all aspects of the CCGs business. Declarations
of interest are recorded at every formal committee and group meeting.
The CCG operates a Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register
that identify the systems of internal control in place to efficiently, effectively and economically
manage these risks and provide assurance to the CCG and its organisation’s stakeholders
that these systems are present. The GB Assurance Framework provides a route to access
Performance Reports that show progress against key performance indicators throughout the
year and explain exceptions against these.
All risks identified in the Corporate Risk Register require the formulation of an action plan. A
member of the Patient Safety and Risk team meets with risk leads on a monthly or quarterly
basis (dependant on risk level) to record progress against action plans and documents the
effect these are having on the residual risk score. All action plans are formally reported via
the Corporate Risk Register. The document includes all risks that may impact on the
achievement of the CCG’s objectives.
The Governing Body receives regular assurance on the management of internal risks and
assurance both directly via regular reports including the full Governing Body Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register and via assurance from the Audit and Quality
Committee.
Risks are scored on a likelihood x consequence matrix to score the potential severity of a
risk being realised. Risks scored above 15 are categorised as high risk.
Reports are also received on a monthly basis by Directors summarising the top risks to the
organisation (those scoring over 15), new risks, closed risks and any other key risk issues.
Directors also review the full Corporate Risk Register at every meeting.
During 2017/18 the existing process to record operational risks associated with development
project continues, with a clear route to escalate any of the risks identified to the Corporate
Risk Register.
Between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, 20 risks were added to the Corporate Risk
Register. Of these 20 risks, seven have been closed within the year. 15 risks remain open
which were added prior to 31 March 2017.

67

68

ACCOUNTABILITY

Of the remaining 28 open risks, three are assessed as high risk:




one relates to delayed transfers of care;
one relates to ambulance response times;
one relates to the delivery of primary medical services.

The outstanding risks in place on 31 March 2018 are carried over into the new financial year
and will continue to be managed within the Risk Management Framework described within
this statement.
The risk profile of the CCG is subject to on-going in-year revision. At the end of the 2017/18
financial year, there were 28 risks on the Corporate Risk Register.
As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there have been no significant lapses of protective
security.
OTHER SOURCES OF ASSURANCE
INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Corporate Risk Register has controls described for every risk entry. The controls are
reviewed on a monthly or quarterly basis (depending on their risk level) along with progress
for reducing the risk to ensure they are still effective.
The framework provides assurance to the Governing Body of the controls that are in place to
mitigate the key risks that could impact on the CCG’s delivery of its strategic objectives.
ANNUAL AUDIT OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST MANAGEMENT
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
In February 2018, the annual internal audit of conflict of interest was undertaken and an
overall assurance of ‘substantial assurance’ was achieved.
The CCG demonstrated that the updated requirements of NHS England’s ‘Managing Conflict
of Interest – Revised Statutory Guidance for CCGs’ have been embedded within its policy
and processes.
The scope of this audit covered the areas set out by NHS England in their published audit
template for this nationally mandated review. To meet their requirements, the audit gave
assurance over the following five key areas: governance arrangements; declarations of
interests and gifts and hospitality; registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and procurement
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decisions; decision making processes and contract monitoring; and reporting concerns and
identifying and managing breaches/non-compliance.
Based on the review, the CCG’s arrangements for handling conflicts were assessed as
being fully compliant, on the basis of robust policy and processes being in place for the five
key areas. Identified areas for improvement were relatively minor. For further information,
refer to page 58.
DATA QUALITY
The data used by the Governing Body and delegated Committees/groups is obtained from
various sources the majority of which are national systems and official NHS data sets. The
Provider data is quality assured through contract and performance monitoring and against
the Secondary Uses Service (SUS).
The specific governance of data quality and consistency across the STP providers, via the
collaborative agreement, is owned by the Operational Finance Reference Group and
managed via the Business Intelligence Reference Group (BIRG) and Data Quality Working
Group (DQWG) which have relevant membership and representation from all partner
organisations.
INFORMATION GOVERNANCE
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively
The CCG places high importance on ensuring there are robust Information Governance (IG)
systems and processes in place to manage data security risks and the protection of patient
and corporate information.
Responsibility for IG rests with me, as Accountable Officer; I have delegated authority to the
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO), the Caldicott Guardian and the Information
Governance Group (IGG). A range of measures are used to manage and mitigate
information risks, including annual mandatory staff training, physical security, data
encryption, access controls and departmental spot checks.
The CCG’s IG status is regularly reviewed by the IGG which is a standing group that reports
to the Governing Body via the Audit and Quality Committee. Its purpose is to support and
drive the broader IG agenda and provide assurance to the Governing Body that effective IG
best practice mechanisms are in place. Risks to information, including data security,
confidentiality, integrity and availability, are managed and controlled via this group which
meets bi-monthly.
The SIRO has responsibility for leading and implementing the IG risk assessment and
management processes within the CCG in addition to advising the Governing Body on the
effectiveness of information risk management throughout the CCG.
As part of the annual IG Toolkit submission a comprehensive assessment of information
security is undertaken. Further assurance is provided from audit and other reviews. The
effectiveness of these measures is reported to, and monitored by, the IGG. This includes
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details of any personal data related serious incidents, the CCG’s annual IG toolkit score and
reports of other IG incidents and audit reviews. Regular reports are received in relation to
policies, the Caldicott risk register, transition and records management.
There is a staff handbook in place to ensure that staff are aware of their roles and
responsibilities under IG and the Data Protection Act.
The CCG has self-assessed against the IG Toolkit and achieved the target of overall
compliance of Level 2 and above, with some criteria achieving Level 3. There has been an
audit conducted on the evidence used to support the submission. This has provided
substantial assurance to the Governing Body that there is a sound system of control in
place.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
Information risk assessment and management procedures have been established via the
IGG, the SIRO and the Risk Management Team. Work continually takes place to ensure
that these are embedded throughout the organisation. All incidents which have a data
protection element are investigated with lessons learnt shared via the IG Group.
There have been no serious breaches of the Data Protection Act (Level 2 reportable) in
2017/18 which required reporting to the Information Commissioners Office.
For further information on responding to Freedom of Information requests please see page
40.
BUSINESS CRITICAL MODELS
As Accountable Officer I can confirm that there is an appropriate financial and business
framework and environment in place to provide assurance of business critical models, in line
with the recommendation from the MacPherson report. These are overseen by the
Governing Body and Audit and Quality Committee. External assurance is received via
external audit and quarterly assurance meetings with NHS England.
THIRD PARTY ASSURANCES
Dorset CCG seeks third party assurances when a provider enters a sub-contracting
arrangement. The lead provider is then required to report on outcomes of the commissioned
service including all aspects of the sub-contracted element of the service. The NHS
Standard Contract affords the CCG adequate levers and mechanisms to address any
concerns that may arise from any third party arrangements.
CONTROL ISSUES
There were no significant control issues identified in 2017/18.
REVIEW OF ECONOMY, EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE USE OF
RESOURCES
There are procurement processes to which the CCG adheres. There is a scheme of
delegation which ensures that financial controls are in place across the organisation.
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The roles of the accountable and delegated committees and groups are clearly articulated in
pages 56 to 58 of this statement and the scheme of delegation has been reviewed, and
approved, in year.
In order to ensure that the CCG delivers on its financial duties and meets its control total,
and equally to ensure we tackle the sustainable elements of the Sustainability and
Transformation Plan (STP), a collaborative agreement was agreed by the four Foundation
Trusts within Dorset and the NHS Dorset CCG in December 2016.
Monthly monitoring of actions, performance and financial metrics have been agreed and are
monitored through by Operations and Finance Reference Group (OFRG) and the Senior
Leadership Team (SLT). In addition, Dorset has been supported as a first wave ‘Integrated
Care System’ (ICS), one of eight recognised STPs in the country, which recognises the
progress Dorset has made and continues to make. Following the move in Dorset towards an
Integrated Care System, a Finance Investment Group has now been set up, with an
independent lay Chair to ensure strong system wide governance is in place to manage
investment funding for, and on behalf of, the Dorset system.
In order to continue to deliver efficiency within the CCG, a sustainability taskforce is in place
led by the Accountable Officer to ensure that quality, innovation, productivity and prevention
(QIPP) continues to be a priority.
Monthly reporting is in place to Directors, with bi-monthly reporting to the Governing Body on
financial performance and delivery against the agreed plan; this will include the actions for
QIPP and proposed mitigations for any variance to plan that could lead to non-delivery
DELEGATION OF FUNCTIONS
It is implicit through the work of the Governing Body and delegated Committees that
members have clear responsibility for ensuring appropriate use of resources. Where there
are concerns in relation to budgetary management, these are clearly documented in the
Corporate Risk Register including those key financial risks relating to the CCG’s
commissioned Providers. During the course of 2017/18 there were three risks identified and
recorded on the Corporate Risk Register relating to aspects of financial risk.
Through the committee structure within Dorset CCG, regular reports are received on the
performance of contracted Providers. Areas of under and over performance are addressed
through contract meetings and reported though performance and quality papers to CCG
groups and committees.
The Audit and Quality Committee, under the scheme of delegation, monitor the financial
stewardship of the organisation via detailed reporting to every meeting and is responsible for
scrutinising and signing off the end of year financial accounts. At year end the CCG
achieved the control total that had been agreed with NHS England.
The Governing Body, Audit and Quality Committee, Quality Group and Directors
Performance meetings retain oversight of all risks including those deemed to be systematic
and are responsible for ensuring that relevant mitigating actions are undertaken. There have
been no significant internal control failures identified throughout the financial year 2017/18.
Internal Audit has found no significant lapses in financial control or use of resources in any of
the audits that have been undertaken in this financial year.
With the exception of the South West 999 service and contract support for some out of area
contracts including London, Southampton, Bristol and Portsmouth, Dorset CCG does not
contract any commissioning support services from an external Provider.
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COUNTER FRAUD ARRANGEMENTS
The CCG’s Accountable Officer for fraud, bribery and corruption is the Chief Finance Officer,
who is responsible for authorising investigations, including the arrest, interviewing and
prosecution of subjects and the recovery or write-off of any sums lost to fraud.
The CCG has a nominated Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) who is responsible for the
investigation of any allegations of fraud, bribery and corruption and for the delivery of a
programme of proactive counter fraud work, as detailed in the annual work-plan approved by
the Audit and Quality Committee. Where fraud is established or improvements to systems or
processes identified, the LCFS will recommend appropriate action to the CCG.
The LCFS works closely with the Workforce Department when investigating cases involving
members of staff and provides evidence to the CCG’s investigating officer for disciplinary
matters.
Monitoring of the Group’s counter fraud arrangements is undertaken by the Audit and Quality
Committee. The LCFS, who is responsible for the investigation of any allegations of fraud,
bribery and corruption and for the delivery of a programme of proactive counter fraud work,
attends each committee meeting to report progress against the agreed counter fraud workplan and advise the outcome of any completed investigations or proactive exercises.
The CCG is required to submit an annual Self Review against NHS Counter Fraud
Authority’s ‘Standards for Commissioners’ which provides assurance of compliance to those
‘Standards’.
A Fraud Response Plan is in place which sets out these roles and responsibilities and the
steps to be taken by the CCG if fraud is suspected. All staff are required to report any
suspicions of fraud, bribery or corruption that they may have either to the LCFS, NHS
Counter Fraud Authority or the Chief Finance Officer.
As part of the Governance arrangements that are in place, external audit undertakes ‘a value
for money’ audit, which assesses the CCGs performance in respect of efficiency,
effectiveness and economy. This is undertaken on an annual basis to provide external
assurance. In addition, the CCG is required to report to NHS England how it is delivering in
respect of use of resources as part of a regular assurance process.
HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:
The purpose of my annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the
Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This Opinion
will in turn assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement
(AGS).
It is noted that the CCG is currently reporting that it has delivered its planned in-year breakeven position. My opinion on the organisation’s system of internal control has taken this
factor into account.
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My opinion is set out as follows:
1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion.
OVERALL OPINION
My overall opinion is that reasonable assurance can be given that there is a generally
sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that
controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weakness in the design
and/or inconsistent application of controls, put the achievement of particular objectives at
risk.
BASIS OF OPINION
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:



an assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework
and supporting processes; and
an assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been reported
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative materiality of
these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses.

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but are not
required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being placed upon Third
Party Assurances.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
System
ICT – Change Management
Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention Plan (QIPP)
Primary Care Commissioning
RightCare
Financial Systems
Human Resources Systems
Quality Premium
Information Governance – deep dive
Business Continuity
Corporate Governance Arrangements – conflicts of interest
Information Governance Toolkit
Assurance Framework and Risk Management

Assurance
Assessment
Reasonable
Limited
Reasonable
Reasonable
Substantial
Reasonable
Substantial
Reasonable
Reasonable
Substantial
Substantial
Reasonable

There have been no priority 1 audit recommendations during the year.

74

ACCOUNTABILITY

REVIEW OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNANCE, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the Clinical Commissioning
Group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other
reports.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of controls that
manage risks to the Clinical Commissioning Group achieving its principles objectives have
been reviewed. I have been advised on the implication of the result of this review by:





the work of the internal auditors;
Executive Directors, Senior Managers and Clinical Leads within the CCG who have
responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework;
available performance information;
comments made by the external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.

The Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register have been
designed to provide me, as Accountable Officer, with sources of assurance which are
evidence that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG are achieving their
principal objectives and are reviewed on an on-going basis as described on pages 62 to 67.
The Executive Directors within the CCG who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the system of internal control provide me, as Accountable Officer, with
assurance.
As Accountable Officer, I have received assurance of the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal
controls as discharged through the committees described in page 55 to 58. Plans are in
place to address any areas of improvement identified; monitoring arrangements are in place
to address these.
Pages 61 to 74 describe the process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control, including the role and outputs of the:






Governing Body;
Audit and Quality Committee;
Clinical Commissioning Committee;
Remuneration Committee;
Primary Care Commissioning Committee.

CONCLUSION
I can confirm that no significant internal control issues have been identified.
Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018
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REMUNERAT ION AND ST AFF REPORT
REMUNERATION REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Governing Body about the
remuneration, fees and allowances for senior managers and the persons in senior positions
within the CCG, including those who regularly attend the Governing Body meeting, who are
appointed by or who provide services to the CCG. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by David Jenkins, Deputy CCG Chair and Lay Member Lead for Patient and Public
Involvement. Other members during 2017/18 were:








Dr Forbes Watson, CCG Chair;
Dr Karen Kirkham, Assistant Clinical Chair, Locality Lead,
Teresa Hensman, Lay Member Lead for Governance/Chair of Audit and Quality
Committee;
Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member;
Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member and Chair for Primary Care Commissioning Committee;
George Thomson, Secondary Care Consultant Member (left 10 May 2017);
Mary Armitage, Secondary Care Consultation Member (from 20 September 2017).

The Committee met on five occasions in 2017/18.
Full details of the remuneration paid to the Governing Body members and senior employees
are provided within the Remuneration Report, see page 77 together with their pension
entitlements.
Details of the number of committee meetings and individuals’ attendance at each can be
seen on our website.
POLICY ON THE REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGERS
The policy on remuneration of senior managers has been determined following a Dorset
based public sector benchmarking exercise, national CCG remuneration guidance and
principles, originally established by the Department of Health within the very senior
managers pay framework.
The committee continues to keep its policy under review and has undertaken wider CCG
benchmarking drawing on the publication of other CCG annual accounts. Account has been
taken of further guidance on remuneration across the NHS, including the controls on senior
managers’ salaries in excess of the Prime Minister. Dorset CCG remains compliant in this
regard. The CCG anticipates publication by NHS England of revised guidance on CCG
remuneration which will be considered fully when released.
SENIOR MANAGERS REMUNERATION REPORT
For the purpose of this report, senior managers are defined as being ‘those persons in
senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major
activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group’. This means those who influence the
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decisions of the organisation as a whole, rather than the decisions of individual directorates
or departments. Such persons will include advisory and Lay Members.
It is the Remuneration Committee that recommends the reward packages of Executive
Directors to the Governing Body.
SERVICE CONTRACTS
Senior officer appointments to the CCG are consistent with the employment policies of the
CCG. Where appropriate, duration of contracts is determined by the needs of the business.
Notice periods take account of statutory requirements and terms previously established by
the NHS very senior managers’ pay framework. Substantive contracts are subject to six
months’ notice of termination. The committee is responsible for approving all noncontractual termination payments, including any compensation for early contract termination.
Liability in the event of early termination is in accordance with the NHS Agenda for Change
terms and conditions handbook and further guidance set by NHS England on the termination
and re-engagement of senior managers. There have been no termination payments during
2017/18.
Other appointments to the Governing Body (excluding the Accountable Officer and Chief
Finance Officer) are determined for periods of three years. These are renewable under the
terms provided for by the constitution. From April 2017, a number of new and renewed
appointments to the Governing Body were made during the year, with details set out in the
individual attendances records for CCG committees.
Please see the Governing Body Report page 55 for information on contract details.
Governing Body and senior managers’ profiles can be found on our website.
Corporate objectives (see page 7) for local corporate objectives for 2017/18) are reviewed
via the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Governing Body. The objectives are
distributed to the senior management team where performance is reviewed six monthly by
the Chief Officer; and by the Chair for the Chief Officer. Individual senior manager and
clinical leadership performance is reported to the Remuneration Committee annually.
The new Chief Financial Officer commenced in post from June 2017. Other senior manager
departures included the Director of Nursing and Quality and the Director of Service Delivery
on 31 March 2017. The Committee reviewed the remuneration arrangements of all posts to
ensure we could competitively secure high quality leadership to the CCG.
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SENIOR MANAGER REMUNERATION (INCLUDING SALARY AND PENSION ENTITLEMENTS)
Table 23: Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements 2017/18) – subject to audit

Name and Title

Directors
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair1
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer (from 30.5.17)
Mr Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer (left 29.5.17)
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Dr Phil Richardson, Chief System Integration Officer
Mrs Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development
Mrs Sally Sandcraft, Acting Director of Primary and Community Care (from
15.1.18)
Mr Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery
Locality Chairs
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset1
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck1
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and Portland, Assistant
Clinical Chair role, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health)1
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth
Dr Ravin Ramtohal, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch (from 10.5 17) 1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP Lead Urgent Care
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member with responsibility for Governance, Chair of the
Audit and Quality Committee

2017/18
(c)
(d)
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
bonuses
pay and
(bands of
bonuses
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000

(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest £100

(e)
All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

80 - 85
140 - 145
110 - 115
15 - 20
55 - 60
100 - 105
100 - 105
100 - 105
80 - 85

0
0
100
1,300
200
200
400
400
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
32.5 - 35
7.5 - 10
22.5 - 25
10 - 12.5
22.5 - 25
12.5 - 15
12.5 - 15

80 - 85
175 - 180
115 - 120
40 - 45
70 - 75
125 - 130
115 - 120
115 - 120

10 - 12.5

95 - 100

100 - 105

300

0

0

20 - 22.5

120 - 125

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
30 - 35
105 - 110

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
30 - 35
105 - 110

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
55 - 60
25 - 30

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
25 - 30
55 - 60
25 - 30

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20
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Name and Title

Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member with responsibility for Public Engagement, Deputy
Chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee
Ms Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for Primary Care
Independent Lay Members
Mr Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality Committee
Other Members
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member
Dr George Thomson, Secondary Care Consultant Member (left 10.5.17)3
Dr Mary Armitage, secondary care consultant member (from 20.9.17)
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Lionel Cartwright, GP Lead Cancer and End of Life Lead
Dr Paul French, GP Lead Mental Health
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Lead Long Term Conditions and Frail Elderly and Chief
Clinical Information Officer
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Lead Planned and Specialist Care

(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest £100

2017/18
(c)
(d)
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
bonuses
pay and
(bands of
bonuses
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000

(e)
All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

15 - 20
140 - 145
5 - 10

0
68,100
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
62.5 - 65
0

15 - 20
270 - 275
5 - 10

10 - 15
35 - 40
55 - 60

0
700
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

10 - 15
35 - 40
55 - 60

35 - 40

0

0

0

0

35 - 40

* Taxable expenses and benefits in kind are expressed to the nearest £100.

Notes:

1. Although included on the CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension payments are ‘Practitioner’ contributions paid via
the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these are included in the individual’s GP pension.

2. Taxable Benefits relate to on-call and mileage above taxation threshold.
3. Dr Thomson is employed by Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust and recharged to the Clinical Commissioning Group. In accordance with the Group
Accounting Manual, 100% of Dr Thomson's pay is shown above, however, only 12% of basic pay relates to his Clinical Commissioning Group engagement. Dr
Thomson resigned from his Clinical Commissioning Group role on 10 May 2017.
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Table 24: Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements 2016/17) – subject to audit

Name and Title

Executive Directors
Dr Forbes Watson, Chair1
Mr Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Mr Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer
Mr Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel (part time)
Dr Phil Richardson, Director of Transformation
Mrs Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality
Mr Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and Development
Mr Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery
Locality Chairs
Dr Peter Blick, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth, Child Safeguarding and
Adult Safeguarding Lead (left 31/7/16)
Dr Jenny Bubb, GP Locality Chair for Mid Dorset1
Dr Colin Davidson, GP Locality Chair for East Dorset
Dr Nick Evans, GP Locality Chair for Poole Bay, (from 13/4/2016) 1
Dr David Haines, GP Locality Chair for Purbeck1
Dr Karen Kirkham, GP Locality Chair for Weymouth and Portland, Assistant
Clinical Chair role, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Maternity and Family Health) 1
Dr Tom Knight, GP Locality Chair for North Bournemouth (Left 30/9/16)1
Dr Blair Millar, GP Locality Chair for West Dorset1
Dr Mufeed Ni'man, GP Locality Chair for East Bournemouth (from 1/4/16) 1
Dr David Richardson, GP Locality Chair for Poole North1
Dr Ben Sharland, GP Locality Chair for Central Bournemouth1 (from 1/9/16)
Dr Stephen Tomkins, GP Locality Chair for Christchurch (Left 28/02/17)
Dr Simon Watkins, GP Locality Chair for Poole Central. GP Clinical Delivery
Group (Pan – Urgent Care, Clinical Services Review and Better Together) Lead
and Urgent and Emergency Care Clinical Working Group Chair 1
Dr Simone Yule, GP Locality Chair for North Dorset, (from 1/4/2016)
Lay Members
Mrs Teresa Hensman, Lay Member with responsibility for Governance, Chair of the
Audit and Quality Committee
Mr David Jenkins, Lay Member with responsibility for Public Engagement, Deputy
Chair of the Clinical Commissioning Group and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee
Ms Jacqueline Swift, Lay Member with responsibility for Primary Care

2016/17
(c)
(d)
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
bonuses
pay and
(bands of
bonuses
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000

(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest £100

(e)
All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

80 - 85
140 - 145
105 - 110
55 - 60
95 - 100
95 - 100
95 - 100
95 - 100

0
0
700
500
500
500
300
200

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
40 - 42.5
25 - 27.5
15 - 17.5
22.5 - 25
22.5 - 25
20 - 22.5
67.5 - 70

80 - 85
180 - 185
130 - 135
75 - 80
120 - 125
120 - 125
120 - 125
165 - 170

35 - 40

0

0

0

0

35 - 40

25 25 25 30 70 -

30
30
30
35
75

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

25 25 25 30 70 -

30
30
30
35
75

10 25 25 25 20 25 55 -

15
30
30
30
25
30
60

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

10 25 25 25 20 25 55 -

15
30
30
30
25
30
60

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20

15 - 20

0

0

0

0

15 - 20
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Name and Title

Independent Lay Members
Mr Charles Buckle, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality
Committee
Mr Martin Davies, Independent Lay Member (from 1/02/17)
Mr Roger Davies, Independent Lay Member, Member Audit and Quality Committee
(until 4/10/16)
Other Members
Ms Mary Monnington, Registered Nurse Member (left 30/06/16)
Ms Elaine Spencer, Registered Nurse Member
Dr George Thomson, Secondary Care Consultant Member
Clinical Leads (not members of the Governing Body)
Dr Lionel Cartwright, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Cancer and End of Life) Lead
Dr Craig Wakeham, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Long Term Conditions and Frail
Elderly) Lead and Chief Clinical Information Officer
Dr Christian Verrinder, GP Clinical Delivery Group (Planned and Specialist Care)
Lead

2016/17
(c)
(d)
Performance
Long term
pay and
performance
bonuses
pay and
(bands of
bonuses
£5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
£000

(a)
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

(b)
Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest £100

(e)
All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

(f)
TOTAL
(a to e)
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0-5
0-5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0-5
0-5

10 - 15
15 - 20

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
52.5 - 55

10 – 15
70 - 75

25 - 30
55 - 60

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

25 - 30
55 - 60

25 - 30

0

0

0

0

25 - 30
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PENSION BENEFITS AS AT 31 MARCH 2018 (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
Table 25: Pension benefits as at 31 March 2018
Name and Title

Scheme

Tim Goodson, Chief Officer
Paul Vater, Chief Finance Officer
Stuart Hunter, Chief Finance Officer
Sally Shead, Director of Nursing and Quality
Phil Richardson, Chief Systems Integration Officer
Mike Wood, Director of Service Delivery
Sally Sandcraft, Acting Director of Primary and
Community Care (from 15.1.18)
Charles Summers, Director of Engagement and
Development
Conrad Lakeman, Secretary and General Counsel
George Thomson, Secondary Care Member
1
2
3
4
5

3 and 4

(a)
Real
increase in
pension at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2018
(bands of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at 31
March 2018
(bands of
£5,000)

(e)
Cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 1
April 2017

(f)
Real
increase in
cash
equivalent
transfer
value at 31
March 2018

(g)
Cash
equivalent
transfer value
at 31 March
2018

(h)
Employers
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Old
2015
Old
Old
Old
Old
2015
Old
Old

0
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

0
0
0 - 2.5
2.5 - 5
2.5 - 5
0
0
2.5 - 5
0 - 2.5

35 - 40
5 - 10
30 - 35
55 - 60
30 - 35
0-5
5 - 10
35 - 40
30 - 35

105 - 110
0
100 - 105
175 - 180
95 - 100
0
0
105 - 110
95 - 100

564
51
634
1,173
624
12
45
640
563

39
29
9
75
59
1
25
67
7

609
81
700
1,274
689
12
71
713
603

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Old

0 - 2.5

2.5 - 5

25 - 30

80 - 85

516

55

576

0

Old
2015
Old
2015

0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5
0 - 2.5

0
0
0 - 2.5
0

20 - 25
0-5
65 - 70
10 - 15

0
0
200 - 205
0

345
0
1,192
80

23
10
9
5

371
10
1,289
126

0
0
0
0

Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration.
Full details of the accounting policy regarding pension costs can be found within Note 4 of the full set of audited financial statements.
As it is not possible to apportion the CETV across organisations the full value for each senior manager is reported above.
Dr George Thomson is recharged to the Clinical Commissioning Group by Northern Devon NHS Trust which includes pension costs. In accordance with the Group
Accounting Manual, 100% of Dr Thomson's NHS pension entitlements are shown above, however, only 12% of the pension entitlements relate to his Clinical
Commissioning Group engagement. Dr Thomson resigned from his Clinical Commissioning Group role on 10 May 2017.
GP's who serve on the Governing Body for the Clinical Commissioning Group are either recognised as being under a 'contract for service' and a current Practitioner
and therefore according to the NHS Pension Agency do not fall within the definition of a Senior Manager for disclosure under Greenbury; or are a retired Practitioner
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6
7

and do not receive pensionable remuneration. GP Practitioner Pension contributions are made by the GP SOLO system, and are therefore not reflected in the table
above.
'0' is shown above where a Senior Manager is part of the 2008 NHS Pension Scheme, which does not have a Lump sum entitlement.
The current NHS Pension is the 2015 Scheme; previous NHS Pension Schemes are identified above as 'Old' in the table above.
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CASH EQUIVALENT TRANSFER VALUES
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or other allowable
beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance with
SI 2008 No.1050 Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations 2008.
REAL INCREASE IN CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the
increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including
the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
PENSION LIABILITIES
For more information regarding pension benefits and costs please see the Financial
Statements section on page 95 (see Note 1.6.2 Accounting Policies, Note 4 Employee
Benefits and Note 14 Trade and other Payables).

LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS
There were no special payments in 2017/18 and two in 2016/17 totalling £1,250. In 2017/18
there were no losses, and one in 2016/17 of £100.
COMPENSATION ON EARLY RETIREMENT OR OF LOSS OF OFFICE
(SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
There were no ill-health retirements in 2017/18.
PAYMENTS TO PAST DIRECTORS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
We had no payments to past directors in 2017/18 or in the preceding four years.
REMUNERATION OF VERY SENIOR MANAGERS
The CCG has not paid any senior manager more than £150,000 per annum in 2017/18 or
2016/17.
FAIR PAY DISCLOSURE (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest paid director/Member (Governing Body member) in the organisation and the median
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/Member in the NHS Dorset CCG in
the financial year 2017/18 was £142,500 (2016/17, £142,500). This was 4.0 times (2016/17,
4.0) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £35,577 (2016/17, £35,225).
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
STAFF REPORT

NUMBER OF SENIOR MANAGERS
Table 26 shows the number of senior managers by band, excluding Governing Body

members within NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group.
Table 26: Number of senior managers by band

NHS Dorset CCG

Number

Very senior manager
Band 8d
Band 8c
Band 8b
Band 8a
Total

5
9
14
34
45
107

STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
Table 27: Average staff numbers

Average
staff
numbers
Other
Total

Permanently
employed
No.
305
305

2017/18
Other
No.
14
14

Total
No.
319
319

Permanently
employed
No.
294
294

2016/17
Other

Total

No.
24
24

No.
318
318

Table 28: Staff costs 2017/18

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme
Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Gross admin employee benefits expenditure
Less: Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Net admin employee benefits expenditure including capitalised
costs
Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net admin employee benefits expenditure excluding
capitalised costs
Total average number of people employed
Of above number of whole time equivalent people engaged on
capital projects

Permanent
employees
£’000
12,349
1,278
1,513
49
13
15,202
(113)
15,089

Other

Total

£’000
544
0
0
0
0
544
0
544

£’000
12,893
1,278
1,513
49
13
15,746
(113)
15,633

0
15,089

0
544

0
15,633

305
0.00

14
0.00

319
0.00
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STAFF COMPOSITION
Table 29 shows the gender distribution of our Governing Body and independent lay
members, senior managers and all other employees as at 31 March 2018.
Table 29: Staff numbers by gender

NHS Dorset CCG
Governing Body
and independent
lay members
Very senior
managers
Senior managers
Other staff
Total

Number
Male
15

Female
7

Total
22

3

2

5

29
41
88

73
203
285

102
244
373

GENDER PAY GAP
From 31 March 2017, all public sector organisations in England employing 250 or more staff
are required to publish gender pay gap information annually. Our gender pay gap is +16%,
and more detailed explanation and next steps can be found on our website . The
designated government website at www.gov.uk/genderpaygap also contains more
information.
SICKNESS ABSENCE DATA
Table 30: Staff sickness absence

Total days lost
Total average number of staff (full time equivalent)
Average working days lost

2017/18
Number
2,901
318
9.13

The above figures are provided by the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC)
and must be used. Figures are for calendar years.
Table 31: % of staff sick or absence

CCG average
NHS rate
CCG target

2017/18
%
4.07
4.43
3.00

Over the last year we have built on previous good practice surrounding the management of
staff absence. However, we have seen a number of long term sickness cases which have
adversely affected the CCG absence rate.
The overall absence rate for the CCG during 2017/18 is 4.17%. This compares to the
absence rate of 3.17% seen in 2016/17. The rate is being challenged through a number of
actions including:


managers are asked to update the Workforce team on the first day of any staff absence
in order that they are aware of all absences at an early stage;
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sickness data is monitored closely by our Workforce team to ensure that support is
provided to both staff and their line managers where needed as quickly as possible;
workforce has offered a number of opportunities throughout the year for employees to
discuss any personal issues, as well as offering stress risk assessments and training in
identifying the signs of stress;
at all stages of absences employees are reminded of the Employee Assistance
Programme and the support they offer;
a member of the workforce team will contact the relevant line manager and offer support
and guidance as soon as the team is aware of any new long term absences; absences
due to serious medical conditions; patterns of absence which could indicate potential
warnings signs of stress; as well as when a staff member hits our agreed trigger point for
short term absences;
as part of a wider Scorecard covering key employment data, anonymised sickness data
is provided on a monthly basis to the relevant Senior Managers within each Directorate
in order to raise awareness of any trends;
a number of long term absences have been managed to ensure either a successful
return to work or that the employee leaves the CCG within the correct processes. This
has included successfully supporting employees to apply for ill-health retirement.

STAFF HEALTH AND WELLBEING
We are committed to the health and wellbeing of our staff and in addition to the work we do
to support absence management, we continued to develop our wider offering during 2017:








in July 2017 we undertook a ‘culture survey’ to specifically ask employees about their
experience of working with the CCG. From the results we created an action plan,
involving staff at all levels, to develop a culture fitting the needs of the CCG and its staff;
the support of an informal staff buddy system following feedback from the NHS staff
survey;
rollout of a new in-house stress management training module for our line managers;
commencement of a project to promote and champion flexible working practices, starting
with the drafting of management guidelines following focus groups with staff and senior
managers;
development of intranet information hubs to support carers as well as staff with long term
health conditions;
development of training sessions to support carers, launched in February 2017;
promotion of new self-help webinars launched recently by our employee assistance
programme provider.

Alongside these activities we have been working with NHS providers across Dorset to
develop a more consistent and effective offering.
STAFF POLICIES
The CCG has policies in place to provide guidance to all employees. All human resource
policies have been written to ensure equality and diversity is upheld in the workplace.
The human resources policies within the CCG were written in April 2014 with a commitment
to review every two years. With this in mind we reviewed the policies in March 2016 and
have recently completed the second full review with the policies approved by Directors in
March 2018. This review was informed by the recent work the CCG has undertaken on its
working culture with the full involvement of our employees.
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Through 2017/18 we have also been working with NHS providers in Dorset to co-ordinate
policies wherever possible to ensure ease of progression from one NHS organisation to
another. This work, alongside the Trade Unions, will continue in 2018/19.
EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT
The CCG is committed to involving and communicating with staff across a range of matters.
This is through a variety of channels such as the weekly staff bulletin and monthly briefings,
as well as:





Our Voice Our Forum - a staff forum with representatives from across the organisation.
We reviewed and revised the terms of reference for the forum in December 2017;
staff survey - in 2017/18 the CCG again used the NHS staff survey as a mechanism for
gathering the views of our employees. We received a response rate of 85.6% which was
consistent with the rate recorded in 2016/17. The Workforce team has already embarked
on a number of actions as a result of the 2017/18 survey outcomes and will continue to
work with directors and line managers to improve the working lives of our employees;
staff events - in 2017/18 the CCG held two all staff events and both were focused around
the needs of the employees of the organisation. At the December event we held the
finale of the new Spotlight Awards. We introduced the awards in early 2017, and they
allow anyone in the organisation to nominate a colleague for recognition against one of
the six values of the CCG. At the end of the year, with the assistance of the members of
Our Voice: Our Forum, we shortlisted to three in each category. The Directors then
selected the winners and they were awarded a glass trophy at the December staff event
from a member of the Governing Body.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES
The CCG continues to be proactive in it recruitment of disabled employees. We remain
committed to the national ‘Two Ticks’ symbol which means we have committed to;





interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and to
consider them on their abilities;
make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in
employment;
take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of disability
awareness needed to make these commitments work;
we also trained a number of workstation assessors on both of our sites to allow more
informal assessments to be undertaken ahead of any Occupational Health referrals.

DEVELOPMENT OF OUR STAFF
The workforce team work closely with managers and staff to ensure the right development is
in place to support to deliver in their roles. In 2016/17 the Personal Development
Conversation (appraisal) process was enhanced through the removal of the ratings system
to allow for a more open flow of conversation between managers and staff with greater focus
on personal growth and development linked to the needs of the role and career aspirations.
The completion rate for staff appraisals was 99%. The outputs from this process feeds into
the annual training needs analysis process, which led to identifying and delivery of the
following priorities for 2017/18:


programme management, designed in line with the CCG processes and aligned to
PRINCE2 best practice;
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focused development on key areas including leadership; Transformational conversations
brought leaders from across Health and Care in Dorset to learn together and collaborate
on transforming care to meet current and future challenges;
manager development through our Managers Essentials programme;
tailored communication and engagement development to meet the growing need for
public and patient engagement and consultation;
development to support members including Hot Topics; a GP development day with 200
GPs from across Dorset attending an educational conference organised by the CCG.

The CCG is also committed to ensuring all staff have completed their statutory and
mandatory training. The completion rate is currently 93%.
The CCG are committed to working as part of a system wide collaborative to ensure the best
return on investment for our apprenticeship levy. Levy funds will be used to support key
development priorities.
THE TRADE UNION (FAC ILITY TIME PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS)
REGULATIONS 2017
Table 32: Relevant union officials

Number of employees who were relevant union officials
during 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

Full-time equivalent employee number

2

1.6

Table 33: Percentage of time spent on facility time

Number of employees who were relevant union officials employed during the relevant period spent their
working hours on facility time
Percentage of time
Number of employees

0%
1-50%
51%-99%
100%

0
2
0
0

Table 34: Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Pay bill spent on facility time

Total cost of facility time
Total pay bill
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time

Figures

£2,254.04
£12,852,323.82
0.02%

The time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours is 100%.

HEALTH AND SAFETY PERFORMANCE
We are committed to ensuring the health and safety of all our employees. It is important to
us as an organisation that we provide a safe environment for people to work in where their
health and safety is valued, and in doing this we continue to work closely with our landlord
and security management teams. In order to ensure as far as possible the health and safety
of our staff we have a number of procedures in place:



we continue to have robust governance of health and safety matters through reporting to
our directors’ meetings, and a trade union representative attends some health and safety
meetings;
we have reviewed and up-dated all our health and safety policies;
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we have updated building risk assessments and implemented mitigating actions,
particularly regarding security with the installation of CCTV at Vespasian House;
we continue to hold bi-annual health and safety meetings with our staff representatives
(fire, first aid, general health and safety) and maintain training certificates as required;
fire marshals and general health and safety representatives continue to undertake
monthly risk assessments;
a personal emergency evacuation plan procedure is in place for staff and visitors who
require assistance to evacuate a building, and associated training for fire marshals on
the use of a ski pad at Vespasian House is maintained.

Further health and safety action implementations have been as follows:






the out-of-hours procedures for security and maintenance that affect business continuity
have been reviewed and pathways are now included in on-call manager packs;
the fire alarm test procedure has been greatly improved to ensure that fire wardens and
marshals are fully aware of the operation of the fire panel;
there has been agreement with our landlord for them to undertake three yearly fire risk
assessments rather than annual, unless there has been a change in use;
the fire panel at Vespasian House has been upgraded to improve the location displays,
and also now provides direct contact to the landlord when activated, as well as our oncall manager if business continuity is affected;
floor and zone maps are in place at Vespasian House for the fire service.

EXPENDITURE ON CONSULTANCY
Table 35: Expenditure on consultancy

2017/18
Supplier

Details

£'000

-

-

Supplier

Details

McKinsey and Co
Emergency Care
Solutions
Royal College of
Paediatrics and Child
Health
Nottinghamshire
Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust
The Folio Partnership Ltd

Providing models of care for the Clinical Services Review across Dorset
Review of long term condition, frailty in Dorset

£'000
26
5

Nil return for 2017/18

Total for 2017/18
2016/17

Total for 2016/17

Review of paediatric service in Dorset

39

Implementing Recovery through Organisation Change

17

Mental Health Acute Care Pathway Model Development Assurance

11
98
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OFF-PAYROLL ENGAGEMENTS
For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 for more than
£245 per day and that last longer than six months:
Table 36: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018
Of which, the number that have existed:
 for less than one year at the time of reporting
 for between one and two years at the time of reporting
 for between two and three years at the time of reporting
 for between three and four years at the time of reporting
 for four or more years at the time of reporting

Number
8
1
1
1
0
5

For all new off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, for more than
£245 per day and that last longer than six months:
Table 37: New off-payroll engagements

Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018
Of which:
 number assessed as caught by IR35
 number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on departmental
payroll
Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance purposes during the
year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency
review

Number
1

0
1
0
17
7

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018. Although included on the
CCG’s payroll, GP leads are deemed to have a contract for service and any pension
payments are ‘Practitioner’ contributions, paid via the NHS Pension Scheme’s GP SOLO
route. Therefore, whilst not off-payroll for the purposes of the above tables, GP leads are
treated separately to other individuals on the CCG payroll. All individuals, including GP
leads, added to the CCG payroll system and all members of the GP SOLO scheme are
checked to ensure compliance with Income Tax and National Insurance obligations.
There were no off-payroll engagements that fell outside of the GP leads group, requiring
assurance to be sought, and obtained, in relation to Income Tax and National Insurance
obligations for that individual.
Table 38: Off-payroll engagements/senior official engagements

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility’, during the financial year. This
figure should include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements

Number
6
27
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EXIT PACKAGES, INCLUDING SPECIAL (NON-CONTRACTUAL) PAYMENTS (SUBJECT TO AUDIT)
Table 39: Exit packages

Exit package
cost band (inc.
any special
payment
element

Less than
£10,000
TOTALS

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Cost of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Cost of other
departures
agreed

Total number of
exit packages

Total cost of
exit packages

Number of
departures where
special payments
have been made

Cost of special
payment element
included in exit
packages

Whole numbers
only
0

£s

£s

12,650

Whole numbers
only
0

£s

12,650

Whole numbers
only
2

£s

0

Whole numbers
only
2

0

0

2

12,650

2

12,650

0

0

0

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the terms of the individual contracts of employment. Exit costs in
this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the NHS Dorset CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the NHS
Dorset CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement pension costs are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the
table.

Table 40: Analysis of other departures

Contractual payments in lieu of notice*
TOTAL

2017/18
Other agreed departures
Number
£000s
2
12,650
2
12,650
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BETTER PAYMENTS PRACTICE CODE
In accordance with the Better Payments Practice Code, valid invoices should be paid by
their due date or within 30 days of receipt, whichever is later. Our performance is presented
below, measured in terms of both the number and value of invoices received, against an
NHS administrative target to pay over 95% of non-NHS trade creditors in accordance with
the code.
Table 41: Non-NHS Payables

2017/18
Number
£'000
Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target

2016/17
Number
£'000

28,232

280,810

30,114

269,897

27,698

278,166

29,513

265,001

98.1%

99.1%

98.0%

98.2%

Table 42: NHS Payables

2017/18
Number
£'000
Total bills paid in year
Total bills paid within target
Percentage of bills paid within target

2016/17
Number
£'000

3,982

757,003

4,181

741,757

3,935

757,063

4,129

739,856

100.0%

98.8%

98.8%

99.7%

Where the value of 'Total bills paid within target' is greater than 'Total bills paid in year' this is due to
credit note(s) which cannot be removed from the calculations.

PROMPT PAYMENTS CODE
We are a signatory to the Prompt Payment Code.
The Prompt Payment Code sets standards for payment practices and best practice and is
administered by the Chartered Institute of Credit Management on behalf of the Department
for Business Innovation and Skills. Compliance with the principles of the code is monitored
and enforced by the Prompt Payment Code Compliance Board. The code covers prompt
payment, as well as wider payment procedures, and in signing up we undertake to:






pay suppliers on time:
 within the terms agreed at the outset of the contract;
 without attempting to change payment terms retrospectively;
 without changing practice on length of payment for smaller companies on
unreasonable grounds;
give clear guidance to suppliers:
 provide suppliers with clear and easily accessible guidance on payment procedures;
 ensure there is a system for dealing with complaints and disputes which is
communicated to suppliers;
 advise them promptly if there is any reason why an invoice will not be paid within the
agreed terms;
encourage good practice:
 request that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the code through their own supply
chains.
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PARLIAMENT ARY ACCOUNT ABILITY AND AUDIT REPORT
PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY

Dorset CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and
charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this report at Note 16. An audit
certificate and report is also included in this Annual Report at 94.

Tim Goodson
Accountable Officer
23 May 2018
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AUDIT REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING
BODY OF NHS DORSET CCG
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (the
‘CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the Department of Health
and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 and the requirements of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012.
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2018 and of
its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted and adapted by
the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017-18; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care
Act 2012.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Who we are reporting to
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the CCG and the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs
(UK) require us to report to you where:



the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Annual Report and Accounts other than the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of our work including
that gained through work in relation to the CCG’s arrangements for securing value for money
through economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of its resource or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit
Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider
whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the
NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we
are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance
Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by
internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:


the parts of the Remuneration Report and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as interpreted
and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2017-18 and the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012; and

95

96

ACCOUNTABILITY



based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and
our knowledge of the CCG gained through our work in relation to the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources,
the other information published together with the financial statements in the annual
report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements.

Opinion on regularity required by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if:





we have reported a matter in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or
we have referred a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 because we had reason to believe that the CCG, or an
officer of the CCG, was about to make, or had made, a decision which involved or would
involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or was about to take, or had begun to
take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to
cause a loss or deficiency; or
we have made a written recommendation to the CCG under Section 24 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and Those Charged with Governance for
the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's responsibilities set out on
pages 59 and 60, the Accountable Officer, is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the CCG lacks
funding for its continued existence or when policy decisions have been made that affect the
services provided by the CCG.
The Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income
in the financial statements.
The Audit and Quality Committee is Those Charged with Governance.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
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an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in
the financial statements in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception - CCG’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report to you if, in our opinion we have
not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March
2018.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter.
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained in the Governance Statement, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
the use of the CCG's resources.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report where
we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to
consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating
effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor
General in November 2017, as to whether in all significant respects, the CCG had proper
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller
and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the
Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2018, and to report by exception where we are not satisfied.
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We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the
CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS Dorset
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Barrie Morris
Director
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
2 Glass Wharf, Bristol, BS2 0EL
23 May 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for year ended
31 March 2018

NOTE

2017-18
Total
£000

2016-17
Total
£000

Revenue from sale of goods and services
Other operating revenue
Total Operating Revenue

2
2

(12,634)
(477)
(13,111)

(6,876)
(476)
(7,352)

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total Operating Expenditure

5
5
5
5
5

15,746
1,150,753
500
2,018
2,748
1,171,765

15,384
1,122,165
404
(505)
2,139
1,139,587

1,158,654

1,132,235

(179)
(179)

102
102

1,158,475

1,132,337

Net Operating Expenditure
Financing
Finance expense
Net financing costs for the financial year

7

Total Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the financial year

The notes on pages 5 to 23 form part of this statement.

The purpose of this statement is to summarise, on an accruals basis, the net operating costs of the CCG. The
statement identifies gross operating costs, less miscellaneous income, to arrive at the net operating costs of the
CCG.

SOCNE
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Statement of Financial Position at
31 March 2018
NOTE

31 March 2018

31 March 2017

£000

£000

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets

9
10

897
165
1,062

952
112
1,064

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade & other receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Total Current Assets

11
12
13

1,472
10,734
17
12,223

1,259
11,833
17
13,109

13,285

14,173

14
15

(50,999)
(3,749)
(54,748)
(41,463)

(54,826)
(2,197)
(57,023)
(42,850)

15

(580)
(580)
(42,044)

(748)
(748)
(43,598)

(42,044)
(42,044)

(43,598)
(43,598)

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Trade & other payables
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities
Total Non Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Assets less Liabilities
Financed by Taxpayers' Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity
The notes on pages 5 to 23 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 23 May 2018 and signed
on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Date 23 May 2018
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018
General
Fund
£000

Total

(43,598)

(43,598)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(1,158,475)

(1,158,475)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2018

(1,202,073)
1,160,029
(42,044)

(1,202,073)
1,160,029
(42,044)

General Fund
£000

Total
£000

(40,769)

(40,769)

Net operating costs for the financial year

(1,132,337)

(1,132,337)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2017

(1,173,106)
1,129,508
(43,598)

(1,173,106)
1,129,508
(43,598)

Balance at 1 April 2017

£000

Changes in taxpayers‟ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 1 April 2016

Changes in an entity's equity between the beginning and the end of the reporting period reflect the increase or
decrease in its net assets during the period.
The Statement has been interpreted to include figures for net operating costs for the year and funding for the
year.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018
2017-18
£000

2016-17
£000

2&5
5, 9 & 10
5 & 15
15
11
12
14
15
15

(1,158,477)
500
(102)
(179)
(213)
1,099
(4,110)
(455)
2,120
(1,159,817)

(1,132,339)
404
(129)
102
(153)
(6,046)
9,868
(145)
(376)
(1,128,814)

9
10

(124)
(90)
(214)
(1,160,031)

(581)
(112)
(693)
(1,129,507)

1,160,029
1,160,029

1,129,508
1,129,508

(1)

1

17

16

17

17

NOTE
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenses for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Unwinding of discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net funding received
Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

13

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the
Financial Year

13

The Statement of Cash Flows provides information on CCG liquidity, viability and financial adaptability.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
The notes to the accounts provide additional details on the entries on the primary statements as well as
additional disclosures, such as the accounting policies that the organisation follows when preparing its
accounts.
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1.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements
of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained
in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and
appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged
to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using
the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of
Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health
Service Act 2006 the Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising
from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
• The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;
• The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;
• The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,
• The Clinical Commissioning Group‟s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the Clinical
Commissioning Group recognises:
• The Clinical Commissioning Group‟s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
• The Clinical Commissioning Group‟s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
• The Clinical Commissioning Group‟s share of the expenses jointly incurred.
Following a review of the 11 schemes within the Better Care Fund, it has been determined that the Clinical Commissioning Group
is not in any jointly controlled operations or jointly controlled asset arrangements. All Better Care Fund payments treated as
expenditure and receipts treated as income. There is, though, a risk share agreement for the Pan Dorset Community Equipment
scheme, requiring a pooled budget arrangement.

1.3.1

1.4

1.4.1
1.4.2

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
No critical judgements with a significant effect on the amounts recognised on the financial statements were required.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s accounting policies
are detailed within the relevant disclosure notes to these financial statements, most notably the Provisions Note.

1.5

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the
fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.6
1.6.1

Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees,
including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the
extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
The Clinical Commissioning Group allows a maximum of five days to be carried forward, but only in exceptional circumstances.
Note 1
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1.6.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined
benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme:
the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the
scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.7

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.8
1.8.1

Property, Plant & Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
• It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical Commissioning Group;
• It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control; or,
• Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or
collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the
components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that
would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets
and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for
assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from current
value in existing use.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset
previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged
there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure.
Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised.
Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing
carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.

1.8.2

1.8.3

1.9
1.9.1

Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the
Clinical Commissioning Group‟s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Clinical Commissioning
Group;
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Note 1
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1.9.2

1.10

• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets
are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single managerial control.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for
example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not
integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on
research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated
assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
•The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
•The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
•The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
•How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
•The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
•The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date
when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is
recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active market, or,
where no active market exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the asset is income
generating. Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs
and technological advances.
Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption
of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the Clinical
Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical
Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or
intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet
available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment
charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.
Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss
subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but
capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment
loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.11

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only
where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.12

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether
they are operating or finance leases.
1.12.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s
net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straightline basis over the lease term.

Note 1
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1.13

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

1.14

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.
Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s cash management.

1.15

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using
HM Treasury‟s discount rate as follows:
• Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 2.420% (previously: minus 2.70%)
• Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.85% (previously: minus 1.95%)
• Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 1.56% (previously: minus 0.80%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the
plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct
expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not
associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.16

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual
contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability
remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.17

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both
are risk pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any
excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.18

Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31
March 2013. Under the scheme Clinical Commissioning Groups contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the
claims.

1.19

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning
Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the
possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical Commissioning Group. A contingent
asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in
the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
• Held to maturity investments;
• Available for sale financial assets; and,
• Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
1.20.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
1.20
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The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Assets with embedded derivatives.
1.20.2 Held to Maturity Assets
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Held to Maturity Assets.
1.20.3 Available for Sale Financial Assets
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Available for Sale Financial Assets.
1.20.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active
market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held
at „fair value through profit and loss‟ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset‟s original effective interest
rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of
receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the
extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Loans, only Receivables.
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has
expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair
value.
1.21.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
• The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities.
1.21.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Financial Liabilities with embedded derivatives.
1.21.3 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for
loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is
recognised using the effective interest method.
1.21

1.22

Value Added Tax (VAT)
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply
and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in
the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net
of VAT.

1.23

Foreign Currencies
The Clinical Commissioning Group‟s functional currency and presentational currency is sterling. Transactions denominated in a
foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March. Resulting
exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s surplus/deficit in the period in
which they arise.

1.24

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service
or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that
individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses
which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group not been bearing its own risks
(with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.25

Accounting Standards that have been Issued but have not yet been Adopted
Note 1
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The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 201718. These standards are still subject to FREM adoption and early adoption is not therefore permitted.
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts (not applicable to DH groups bodies)
• IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRS 16: Leases (application from 1 January 2019)
• IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (application from 1 January 2021)
• IFRIC 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (application from 1 January 2018)
• IFRIC 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (application from 1 January 2019)
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in
that year.

Note 1
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure: non-NHS
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total

2017-18
Total
£000

2016-17
Total
£000

(113)
(26)
(9)
(12,608)
(355)
(13,111)

(67)
(10)
0
(6,866)
(409)
(7,352)

This note discloses the income that relates directly to the operating activities of the CCG. Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly
attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services. It excludes cash received from NHS England by the CCG, which is credited directly
to the General Fund.

3. Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2017-18
Total
£000

2016-17
Total
£000

(13,111)
0
(13,111)

(7,352)
0
(7,352)

Revenue received is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

4. Employee Benefits
Please refer to the Annual Report for details of Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers.

4.1 Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pensions Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the
Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the
reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate
assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
4.1.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary‟s Department) as at the end of the
reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data
for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme
liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting
data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed
by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension
Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
4.1.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme
Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and
consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions are published by HM
Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be signed off by the scheme actuary. This
will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are
provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2%
of pay. Subject to this „employer cost cap‟ assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the
Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
2017-18
2016-17
£000
£000
1,513
1,409
Employers‟ contributions were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme
%
%
14.38
14.30
Payable to the NHS Pension Scheme of pensionable pay, at the rate of
The scheme‟s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme
valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included
in the NHS pension line of Table 25 in Annual Report.

Note 2-4
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5. Operating Expenses
2017-18

Gross Employee Benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

2016-17

Total

Total

£000

£000

15,397
349
15,746

15,200
316
15,516

Other Costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other WGA bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Chair and lay membership body and governing body members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down and consumed
Depreciation
Amortisation
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
• Internal audit services
• Other services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees (excluding statutory audit)
Legal fees
Grants to other bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
CHC risk pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total Other Costs

445
751,560
3,992
74
148,979
4,101
689
64
349
0
3,256
83
1,215
0
1,242
462
37
64

698
732,308
4,133
42
140,948
4,709
662
56
431
97
3,049
73
962
0
1,106
404
0
90

0
0
126,103
0
254
109,513
78
166
765
14
20
458
(102)
2,120
0
18
1,156,019

0
0
124,608
(1)
263
107,248
83
237
351
17
0
270
(129)
(376)
1,861
3
1,124,203

Total Operating Expenses

1,171,765

1,139,719

CHC risk pool contributions – shows the contribution the Clinical Commissioning Group is required to make to NHS England for
retrospective CHC claims relating to pre-1st April 2013 (from the previous Primary Care Trusts). The nationally required pool is managed
centrally and contributions are determined annually, based on expectations of when claims will be agreed and settled. In 2017-18 there
were no contributions taken from Clinical Commissioning Groups.
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS - shows costs related primary care services.
Inventories written down and consumed - shows the cost of stock utilised by the Pooled Budget for ICES, Note 11 refers.
Internal Audit - As Internal Audit is carried out by a different organisation to our Statutory Audit, the Department of Health guidance is to
show Internal Audit costs in 'Other professional fees'.
External Audit - The figures in the 'Audit fees' line above include VAT. The net figures are £53,500 for 2017-18 and £75,000 for 2016-17.
The Audit liability for Grant Thornton is restricted to £2,000,000.
Expenditure category changes in 2017-18
Purchase of social care - is a new reporting line for 2017-18. 2016-17 figure was £4,709k and was reported in the 'Purchase of
healthcare from non-NHS bodies' line.
Legal fees - is a new reporting line for 2017-18. 2016-17 figure was £237k and was reported in the 'Other professional fees' line.
Note 5
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
6.1 Measure of Compliance
2017-18
Number

2016-17
Number

£000

£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

28,232
27,698
98.11%

280,810
278,166
99.06%

30,114
29,513
98.00%

269,897
265,001
98.19%

NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

3,982
3,935
98.82%

757,003
757,063
100.01%

4,181
4,129
98.76%

741,757
739,856
99.74%

Where the percentage of invoices paid within target is greater than 100%, this is due to the effect of credit notes.
This note shows the Clinical Commissioning Group's performance against its administrative duty to pay all creditors within 30 calendar
days of receipt of goods or valid invoice, whichever is later, unless other payment terms have been agreed. There is a performance target
of 95% for each measure.

7. Finance Costs
2017-18
£000
(179)
(179)

Provisions - unwinding of discount
Total Finance Costs

2016-17
£000
102
102

This note identifies the Clinical Commissioning Group's interest costs, including the unwinding of discounts on provisions, and corresponds
with the amount shown on the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

8. Operating Leases
The Clinical Commissioning Group currently is lessee in respect of property leases and equipment rental. The most significant rents are
for Trust Headquarters and related buildings across the county. The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any contractual option
to buy these properties.

8.1 As Lessee
Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2017-18
Total
£000

Buildings
£000

Other
£000

2016-17
Total
£000

957
0
0
957

0
0
0
0

957
0
0
957

627
0
0
627

(2)
0
0
(2)

625
0
0
625

956
1,098
0
2,054

1
0
0
1

957
1,098
0
2,055

871
1,278
0
2,149

(2)
0
0
(2)

869
1,278
0
2,147

Payments recognised as an Expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases. The rental charge for future years has
been agreed and are reflected in the Buildings figures above. The future years payments are calculated up to the next break point in the
lease.
Other Lease costs are for the rental of combined photocopier/scanners and lease cars.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts
the Clinical Commissioning Group is liable for under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

8.2 As Lessor
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not act as a lessor.
This note identifies the amount included in operating expenses in respect of operating lease agreements. It also highlights the amounts
the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to receive under non-cancellable leases over the next five years.
All operating leases relating to items with a purchase cost above the capitalisation limit are regarded as non-cancellable.

Note 6-8
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9. Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant & Information
Machinery Technology
£000
£000
150
1,432
0
407
150
1,839

2017-18
Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2017
Additions Purchased
Cost or Valuation at 31 March 2018
Depreciation at 1 April 2017
Charged During the Year
Depreciation at 31 March 2018
Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

Furniture &
Fittings
£000
203
0
203

Total
£000
1,785
407
2,192

100
50
150
0

548
394
942
897

184
18
203
0

833
462
1,295
897

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2018

0
0

897
897

0
0

897
897

Asset financing:
Owned
Total at 31 March 2018

0
0

897
897

0
0

897
897

Property, plant and equipment is a sub-classification of the total non-current assets recorded on the Statement of Financial Position, and
are, land, buildings, plant and machinery, information technology and furniture and fittings.

9.1 Economic Lives
Minimum Life
(Years)
3
0
0

Plant & Machinery
Information Technology
Furniture and Fittings

Maximum Life
(Years)
3
0
0

This note records the range of remaining useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment employed by the Clinical Commissioning
Group.

10. Intangible non-current assets
Computer
Software:
Purchased
£'000
112
90
202

Total
£'000
112
90
202

0
37
37

0
37
37

Net Book Value at 31 March 2018

165

165

Purchased
Total at 31 March 2018

165
165

165
165

Minimum
Life (years)
3

Maximum
Life (Years)
3

2017-18
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2017
Additions purchased
Cost / Valuation At 31 March 2018
Amortisation 1 April 2017
Charged during the year
Amortisation At 31 March 2018

10.1 Economic lives

Computer software: purchased

Intangible non-current assets are defined as brand value or some other right, which although invisible is likely to derive financial benefit for
its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.

Note 9-10
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11. Inventories
Balance at 1 April 2017
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Balance at 31 March 2018

Other
£000
1,259
1,455
(1,242)
1,472

Total
£000
1,259
1,455
(1,242)
1,472

Balance at 1 April 2016
Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Balance at 31 March 2017

Other
£000
1,106
3,183
(3,030)
1,259

Total
£000
1,106
3,183
(3,030)
1,259

The Inventories held by the Clinical Commissioning Group relate to the proportion of the items held on its behalf by one Pooled Budget.
The total value of inventories corresponds with the amount shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position. Finished processed goods is the
value of stocks after completion of manufacture or processing and where the goods concerned are to be sold or consumed in a future accounting period.
This note does not include the provision of health care services under partially completed contracts; or assets in the course of construction.

12. Trade and Other Receivables
Current
31 March 2018
£000

31 March 2017
£000

4,276
2,132
2,996
469
497
146
214
4
10,734
10,734

4,246
2,321
2,520
1,619
843
56
228
0
11,833
11,833

0

0

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and other WGA accrued income
VAT
Other receivables
Total
Total Current and Non-current
Included in NHS receivables are pre-paid pension contributions

Non-current
31 March 2018
£000

31 March 2017
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them
is considered necessary. The level of trade with non-NHS organisations is immaterial and is covered by contractual terms, therefore no credit scoring of
them is considered necessary.
This note analyses the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

12.1 Receivables Past Their Due Date But Not Impaired
31 March 2018
£000
1,853
0
389
2,242

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 March 2017
£000
487
525
228
1,240

This note analyses the length of time beyond their due date the amounts owing to the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position
date have been outstanding.

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Opening balance
Net change in year
Closing balance
Made up of:
Cash with Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft - Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of cash flows
Patients' money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group, not included above

Notes 11-13

31 March 2018
£000
17
(0)
17

31 March 2017
£000
16
1
17

0
17
17
0
17

1
16
17
0
17

0

0
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14. Trade and Other Payables
Current
31 March 2018
31 March 2017
£000
£000
NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total

(4,482)
(2,657)
(2,954)
(283)
(33,644)
(193)
(156)
(6,631)
(50,999)

(2,486)
(5,206)
(5,057)
0
(33,369)
(181)
(142)
(8,385)
(54,826)

Total Current and Non-current

(50,999)

(54,826)

Non-current
31 March 2018
31 March 2017
£000
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

31 March 2018
£000

31 March 2017
£000

Included above are liabilities, due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early
retirement over 5 years.

0

0

Other payables include outstanding pension contributions. The increase in outstanding pension
contributions is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group taking on the devolved primary care cocommissioning role from NHS England.

1,202

1,048

85

125

5,344

7156

Other payables also includes accruals for invoices registered on the finance ledger, but not approved.
Other payables also includes primary care accruals, which is due to the Clinical Commissioning Group
taking on the devolved primary care co-commissioning role from NHS England.
This note analyses the amounts owed by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

15. Provisions
Current
31 March 2018
£000
(3,749)
0

Non Current
31 March 2018
£000
(235)
(345)

Current
31 March 2017
£000
(2,198)
0

Non-current
31 March 2017
£000
(355)
(393)

Total

(3,749)

(580)

(2,198)

(748)

Total Current and Non-current

(4,329)

Continuing care
Other

(2,946)

Comprising:

Balance at 1 April 2017
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Balance at 31 March 2018
Expected Timing of Cash Flows:
No Later than One Year
Later than One Year and not later than Five Years
Balance at 31 March 2018

Continuing Care
£000
(2,553)
(4,188)
455
2,069
161
71
(3,984)

Other
£000
(393)
0
0
0
18
31
(345)

Total
£000
(2,946)
(4,188)
455
2,069
179
102
(4,329)

(3,748)
(236)
(3,984)

0
(345)
(345)

(3,748)
(581)
(4,329)

Amount Included in the Provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in Respect of Clinical Negligence Liabilities:
£000
0
0

As at 31 March 2018
As at 31 March 2017

Finance costs on the Statement of Cash Flows refers to the change in discount rate, shown above.
The balance of the Continuing Care provision is reversed out of the Ledger in March and shows here as 'Reversed unused' and then the new
provision is created and this is shown as 'Arising during the year'. This approach is taken because the provision is calculated case by case during
March.

Note 14-15
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15. Provisions continued
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty:
The provisions shown under the heading 'Other' relate to dilapidation costs associated with leases for Vespasian House, and the future costs are uncertain.
A provision has been made against applications for continuing healthcare support where a panel has not yet met to determine whether the application is
approved. The provision is calculated on a named basis for the period that continuing healthcare may be eligible, at the probability rate of the application being
awarded.
Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing
Healthcare claims relating to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the legal liability remains with the Clinical
Commissioning Group.
This note analyses the amounts recorded as provisions by the Clinical Commissioning Group at the Statement of Financial Position date.

16. Contingencies
Contingent liabilities
Continuing care
Net Value of Contingent Liabilities

31 March 2018
£000

31 March 2017
£000

8,811
8,811

4,722
4,722

There are no contingent Assets
The contingent liability above relates to continuing care claims, and is directly linked with the continuing care provision included in the Provisions Note. An
estimation has been made of the value based upon the amounts claimed. The uncertainties relate to the eligibility of the claims. Whilst possible, it has been
deemed unlikely that these amounts will be reimbursed. It is not practicable to provide an estimate of the financial effect.
The purpose of this note is to disclose material contingent liabilities or assets, if there is more than a remote possibility that there will be a transfer of „economic
benefit‟ as a result of events that existed before the Statement of Financial Position date.

17. Commitments
17.1 Other financial commitments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases or PFI contracts or other service concession
arrangements), for information management and technology equipment and support. The payments to which the Clinical Commissioning Group are committed
are as follows:31 March 2018
31 March 2017
£000
£000
Not later than one year
245
46
Later than one year and not later than five year
54
32
Later than five years
0
0
Total
299
78
This note discloses undertakings that have been committed at a future date.

18. Financial Instruments
18.1 Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body
faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s internal
auditors.
Only where the Clinical Commissioning Group is exposed to material risk should the appropriate IFRS 7 disclosures be made. The headings in IFRS 7 should
be used to the extent that they are relevant.

Note 15-18.1
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18.1.1 Currency Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The Clinical
Commissioning Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
18.1.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed
by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged
at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group therefore has low
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
18.1.3 Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the Clinical
Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in
receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
18.1.4 Liquidity Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within resource allocations agreed with NHS England, which are
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover
expenditure, from NHS England, as the need arises, unrelated to its performance against resource limits. The Clinical
Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
18.2 Financial Assets

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2018

Loans and
receivables
£000
7,271
615
17
4
7,907

£000
7,271
615
17
4
7,907

Receivables - NHS
Receivables - non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Total at 31 March 2017

6,766
1,675
17
8,458

6,766
1,675
17
8,458

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Total at 31 March 2018

Other
£000
(7,139)
(43,512)
(50,650)

Total
£000
(7,139)
(43,512)
(50,650)

NHS payables
Non-NHS payables
Total at 31 March 2017

(7,692)
(46,810)
(54,502)

(7,692)
(46,810)
(54,502)

18.3 Financial Liabilities

Total

Due to the short-term nature of these transactions, the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities approximate the
carrying amounts at the balance sheet date.
Financial instruments are a broad range of assets and liabilities that arise from contracts and result in a financial asset
being created in one entity and a financial liability in another. This note discloses the interest rate risks arising from the
Clinical Commissioning Group's financial assets and liabilities, which largely comprise items due after more than one year,
such as long-term debtors and creditors, and provisions made under contract.

19. Operating Segments
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one operating segment, that of commissioning healthcare services for the
population of Dorset.
An operating segment is a component of an entity:
* that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;
* whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's chief operating decision maker to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and
* for which discrete financial information is available.
Note 18.1.1-19
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20. Pooled Budget
There are 11 schemes within the pan Dorset Better Care Fund for 2017-18 and these have been reviewed to
identify the substance of each scheme for accounting purposes. None of the schemes have been identified as
joint arrangements within the IFRS 11 definition.
Within the Better Care Fund, for 2017-18 the Community Equipment scheme is provided as a pan Dorset service,
bringing together the previous two arrangements for the Dorset County Council areas and Bournemouth Borough
Council/Borough of Poole areas respectively. Bournemouth Borough Council is lead commissioner for the pan
Dorset service and there is a risk share agreement covering the contributors to the scheme, requiring a pooled
budget arrangement.

Memorandum Account for the pooled budget is reproduced below.
2017-18
£000

2016-17
£000

Revenue
Bournemouth Borough Council
Borough of Poole
Dorset County Council
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Total contributions to revenue

661
616
1,346
1,243
3,200
350
187
177
7,780

684
637
1,375
3,031
1,600
346
185
175
8,033

Expenditure
Integrated Community Equipment Service

7,780

8,033

0

0

2017-18
£000
0
0
0

2016-17
£000
(1)
0
(1)

1,145
66
32
1,243

2,752
247
32
3,031

Under/ (over) spend

Additional information
Trade Receivables
Cash
Total receivables balance as at 31 March
Partner contribution
Allocation of over/underspend
Administration contribution
Total Clinical Commissioning Group's contribution to income for the pool

A pooled budget is the term used to describe a project financed by several mutually interested organisations. By
definition, pooled funds are flexible, intended to meet local needs and priorities. A pooled budget, such as the
Integrated Community Equipment Service, is not an entity in its own right.

Note 20
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21. Related Party Transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England (including commissioning support units);
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Business Services Authority.
• NHS Trusts;
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Dorset County Council, Bournemouth Borough Council and Borough of Poole Council Local Authorities in respect
of Better Care Fund arrangements.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has received revenue grant monies from Macmillian Cancer Support. No capital payments have been recieved from charitable
funds.
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.
Payments to
Related Party
£000

Receipts from
Related Party
£000

Amounts owed
to Related Party
£000

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000

1

Dr Forbes Watson - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee
Remuneration Committee, CCG Chair, Clinical Commissioning Committee Chair.
Principal GP, Lyme Bay Practice. Contract with VH Doctors Ltd for medical care
at Lyme Regis Medical Centre. Contract holder for Lyme Regis Primary Dental
Services. Co-opted member of Dorset County Council for Health and Wellbeing
Board purposes. Member of Jurassic Coast Healthcare GP federation. Honorary
Medical Advisor and Chairman of RNLI Lyme Regis. Spouse is a clinical
employee for Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust. Transactions
disclosed for Lyme Bay Medical Centre.

3,144.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

2

Dr Jenny Bubb - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee, Locality
Chair for Mid Dorset. Partner, Cerne Abbas GP Surgery. Co-opted member of
Dorset County Council for Health and Wellbeing Board purposes. Spouse is a
partner GP at Puddletown Surgery. Cerne Abbas Surgery is a member of the
Mid Dorset Primary Healthcare Federation. Transactions disclosed for Cerne
Abbas Surgery.

7,047.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

3

Dr Colin Davidson - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee, Locality
Chair for East Dorset. Senior Partner, The Cranborne Practice. The Cranborne
Practice is a shareholder of Castleman Healthcare. Director and majority owner
of Dorset Diagnostics Ltd. Spouse is a Director of Dorset Diagnostics Ltd.
Spouse is a GP and equity partner at Eagle House Surgery. Transactions
disclosed for The Cranborne Practice.

12,544.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

4

Dr Nick Evans - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee, Locality
Chair for Poole Bay. GP Principal at Wessex Road Surgery, Poole. Out of Hours
clinical sessions with South Western Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust,
approximately three sessions per month. Transactions disclosed for Wessex
Road Surgery.

4,537.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

5

Dr Mufeed Ni'man - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee, Locality
Chair for East Bournemouth. GP at Providence Surgery, Crescent Surgery and
Boscombe & Springbourne Health Centre Walk in Service. GP with Special
Interests: orthopaedic - Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust. GP
with Special Interests: Diabetes - Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (ceased
May-17). GP shared care. Trainer and appraiser for the Deanery. AFC
Bournemouth Club Doctor. Teaching at the Chiropractor College occasionally.
Medical Director for New Wave Integrated Centre. Both surgeries are members
of the Healthstones Federation. Memberships:- Fellow Royal College of General
Practitioners. Members of family employed by own organisation. Director of
South Coast Medical Group (used to be called Centrepoint) - dormant company.
Director of Connection4Health. Director of Ni'Man Healthcare Services Ltd.
Partner at Marine & Oakridge Surgeries and Grove Surgery. Member of the
Christchurch Federation - Coastal Health GP Services Ltd. Transactions
disclosed for Providence Surgery.

18,617.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

6

Dr George Thomson - Governing Body, Clinical Commissioning Committee,
Secondary Care Consultant Member. Executive Medical Director of the Trust
Board of Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust which provides a small number
of non contracted services to the population of Dorset on an ad-hoc basis.
(Stepped down from the role in May 2017). Transactions disclosed for Northern
Devon Healthcare NHS Trust.

106.0

0.0

3.0

0.0

7

Dr Christian Verrinder - Clinical Commissioning Committee, Clinical Delivery
Group Lead. GP Partner, Wellbridge Practice, Wool Surgery. GP with Special
Interests - MSK at Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust.
Transactions disclosed for The Wellbridge Practice.

8,228.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

8

Dr Craig Wakeham - Clinical Commissioning Committee, Chief Clinical
Information Officer. Senior Partner, Cerne Abbas Surgery (PMS dispensing
practice). Dorset LMC representative. Transactions disclosed for Cerne Abbas
Surgery.

Amounts for Cerne Abbas Surgery are disclosed at line 2 above

54,223.0

0.0

3.0

0.0

The Clinical Commissioning Group has detailed in this note all declarations of interest for Governing Body Members, however only related party transactions have
been disclosed where they meet the criteria of having (i) have significant influence over the reporting entity or (ii) are a member of the key management personnel.

Note 21
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22. Events after the end of the Reporting Period
The Clinical Commissioning Group has no Events after the end of the Reporting Period.
This note discloses the financial consequences of events (both favourable or unfavourable) that occur between the Statement of Financial Position
date and the date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board, if appropriate. Two types of events can be identified:
* those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period (adjusting events); and
* those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period (non-adjusting events).

23. Financial Performance Targets
Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group‟s performance against those duties was as follows:
Target

2017-18
Performance

£’000
1,205,668
497
1,192,060

£’000
1,172,083
497
1,158,475

Yes
Yes
Yes

National
Duty
Health
Service Act
Section

223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

Duty
Achieved?

223J(1)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(2)

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

0

0

Yes

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

16,989

16,006

Yes

The Expenditure not to exceed income target was set at £27,211k surplus for 2017-18, but in addition the Clinical Commissioning Group was
directed by NHS England to achieve a 0.5% non-recurrent system risk reserve of £5,138k, and a category M prescribing rebate of £1,236k, to be
released as additional surplus as at 31 March 2018.
The Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions and was underspent by £983k due to planned local
savings on Clinical Commissioning Group administrative costs.
2016-17
National
Duty
Duty
Target
Performance
Health
Achieved?
Service Act
Section
223H(1)
223I(2)
223I(3)

223J(2)

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

223J(3)

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

223J(1)

£‟000
1,169,179
685
1,161,142

£‟000
1,140,374
685
1,132,337

Yes
Yes
Yes

0

0

Yes

0

0

Yes

16,833

16,311

Yes

Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue and capital in the financial year; and,
income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as
received in the financial year (whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
The purpose of this note is to disclose the Financial Performance of the Clinical Commissioning Group. Where a Clinical Commissioning Group
breaches, or plans to breach, one of the statutory financial provisions, even if this is agreed with NHS England (e.g. setting a deficit budget) local
auditors are under a duty to make a report to the Secretary of State for Health under Section 28 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.

24. Other
The Clinical Commissioning Group has considered the following areas and has no details to disclose under these headings:• The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
• Income Generation Activities
• Investment Revenue
• Other Gains and Losses
• Net Gain (Loss) on Transfer by Absorption
• Impairments & Reversals
• Investment Property

• Other Financial Assets
• Other Current Assets
• Non-Current Assets Held for Sale
• Analysis of Impairments and Reversals
• Other Financial liabilities
• Other Liabilities
• Borrowings

Note 22-24

• PFI & LIFT Contracts
• NHS LIFT Investments
• Finance Lease Obligations
• Finance lease receivables
• Third Party Assets
• Impact of IFRS Treatment
• Analysis of Charitable Reserves
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS
Accruals

An accounting concept. In addition to payments and receipts of cash, adjustment is made for outstanding payments, debts
to be collected and inventory. This means that the accounts show all of the income and expenditure that related to the
financial year.

Assets

An item that has a value in the future. For example, a debtor (someone who owes money) is an asset, as they will in future
pay. A building is an asset, because it houses activity that will provide a future income stream.

Assurance

Process through which accurate and current information is provided to stakeholders about the efficiency and effectiveness
of policies and operations, and the status of compliance with statutory obligations.

Audit

The process of validation of the accuracy, completeness and adequacy of disclosure of financial records.

Capital

Land, buildings, equipment and other non-current assets owned by the Clinical Commissioning Group, the cost of which
exceeds £5,000 and has an expected life of more than one year.

Cash limit

A limit set by the NHS England which restricts the amount of cash drawings that the Clinical Commissioning Group can
make in the financial year. There is a combined cash limit for both revenue and capital.

Co-Commissioning

Refers to the process whereby the Clinical Commissioning Group can directly commission primary medical services and
performance manage practices but not individuals. This role was transferred from NHS England on the 1 April 2016.

Commissioning

Purchase of healthcare from external service providers (NHS, other public sector, private and voluntary) to meet the needs
of the population.

Current Assets

Trade receivables, inventories, cash or similar, whose value is, or can be converted into, cash within the next twelve
months.

Deep dive

A technique to rapidly immerse a group or team into a situation for problem solving or idea creation. It is often used for
brainstorming product or process development.

Governance

The framework of rules and practices by which a board of directors ensures accountability, fairness, and transparency in
relationships with its stakeholders. Corporate governance should underpin all that an organisation does. In the NHS, this
means it must encompass clinical, financial and organisational aspects.

Gross Operating Costs

This is the total revenue expenditure, including accruals and provisions, incurred in the course of performing all aspects of
the Clinical Commissioning Group‟s functions during the year.

Intangible Assets

Brand value or some other right (for example, a software licence), which although invisible is likely to derive financial
benefit for its owner in the future, and for which you might be willing to pay.

Lay Member

A person who has specialised or professional knowledge of a subject.

Locality

In general meaning a community in which people live. Specifically to the Clinical Commissioning Group this refers to the 13
different geographical areas in Dorset for which we commission services.

Locality Cluster

This refers to the 3 clusters made up of the 13 geographical localities in Dorset.

Miscellaneous Revenue

Income that relates directly to the operating activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group. This excludes cash from NHS
England, which is credited to the general fund.

NHS Constitution

The constitution brings together in one place details of what staff, patients and the public can expect from the NHS.

Non-Current Assets

Land, buildings, equipment and other long term assets that are expected to have a life of more than one year.

Procurement

The act of obtaining or buying goods and services. The process includes preparation and processing of a demand as well
as the end receipt and approval of payment.

Quality Premium

Is intended to reward Clinical Commissioning Groups for improvements in the quality of the services that they commission
and for associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities.

Remuneration

Reward for employment in the form of pay, salary, or wage, including allowances, benefits (such as company car, medical
plan, pension plan), bonuses, cash incentives, and monetary value of the noncash incentives.

Resource limit

Expenditure limits are determined for each NHS organisation by NHS England for both revenue and capital, which limit the
amount that may be expended on revenue purchases, as assessed on an accruals basis (that is, after adjusting for
receivables and payables).

Transformation

A process of profound and radical change that orients an organisation in a new direction and takes it to an entirely different
level of effectiveness.

Safeguarding

Protecting from harm or damage with an appropriate measure.

Stakeholders

A person, group or organisation that has interest or concern in an organisation.

Sustainability

An approach that creates long-term strategy aimed toward the natural environment and taking into consideration every
dimension of how a business operates in the social, cultural, and economic environment.

WGA

Whole of Government Accounting (WGA) are organisations such as Local Authorities, Scottish and Welsh NHS bodies,
NHS Property Services and the NHS Litigation Authority etc.

Glossary

Page 23 of 23

How to Contact Us
NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
Vespasian House, Barrack Road
Dorchester DT1 1TG
Telephone: 01202 541946
Email: feedback@dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Our websites: www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk and
www.dorsetsvision.nhs.uk/
Twitter: @DorsetCCG
Facebook: www.facebook.com/NHSDorsetCCG

If you would like this document in a different format or language please email
communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk or call 01202 541946
Jeżeli chciał byś ta informacje w języku Polskim proszę aby zadzwonić pod podany numer telefoniczny
01202541946. Albo wyślij e-mail na communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk

01202 541946
communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk

ই

ইই

01202 541946

communications@dorsetccg.nhs.uk
Si quiere este documento en un formato o idioma diferente por favor mande un e-mail a
communications@dorset.nhs.uk o llame al 01202 541946

Se você gostaria deste documento em um formato ou linguagem diferente por favor email
communications@dorset.nhs.uk ou chamar 01202 541946

